UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014
OR
A TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 00109148
THE BRI NK60S COMPANY
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Virginia 54-1317776
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
P.O. Box 18100,
1801 Bayberry Court
Richmond, Virginia 232268100
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Regi strantdés telephone numb (804) 2899600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which reqistered
The Brinko6s Co Btpch Pay Vai@e$hmo n New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes| No A

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
YesA No |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 otH&@@afrities Exchange Act of 1934 during
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (Bubgscbeeseuch filing requirements for
the past 90 days. .

Yes| No A

Indicate by checknark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interdétevecateed to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulati®n(85232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grionths (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files)Yes| No A

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulianr®t contained herein, and wilbt be contained, to the best

of registrantés knowl edge, in definitive proxy or 0Korfany ammeadmenptothisFormt e me n

10K. |

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filaceeleoated filer or a smaller reporting company. See

definition of Alarge accelerated fil er pel2lafche ExcheangeaActed f i |l er o and fismal
Large accelerated fildr Accelerated filetA Non-accelerated fileA Smaller reporting compan@(

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in RRleflb Exchange Act).
Yes A No |

As of February 26, 2015, there were issued and outstanding 48,628,765 shares of common stock. The aggregate maskateslofecoinmon stock held
by nonaffiliates as of June 30, 2014, was $1,365,121,928.

Documents incorporated by referené@ar t |1 11 i ncorporates information by reference from pot
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A.



Item1.

Iltem 1A.
Item1B.

Item 2.
Item 3.
Item4.

Item5.

Item 6.
Item?7.

Item7A.

Item 8.
Item 9.

Item 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
Item11.
Item12.
Item 13.
Item 14.

Item15.

THE BRI N KCOBPANY

FORM 10K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I
Page
BUSINESS. ...eeieteveiiiitittt ittt eeer e et eeeeeeerereae s et e e bbb aaaeeeeteseee e e e s e s s s s s s e s e s aaaaeeeeeaaeaeeeatat et et e et e s aaeraearaeaaaaaeaaaaaeaeaeeraanans 1
] = (03 (0] £ PO 7.
UnresolvedStaff Comments
0T LT £ 1[N OUPURPRRRSPRt

LegalProceedings.......cccvvveeeeeeiiiiiieees e
Mine SafetyDisclosures

ExecutiveOfficersof theREGISIIANT............uuiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 16
PART II

Marketfor R e g i s ComemonEduisy, RelatedStockholdeMattersandlssuer

PUrChasesf EQUILY SECUIMTIES. . ... .veiieiiiiie ettt ettt e eeme e sttt e e st e e e enst e e emmne s nbeeeeeneeeeennnees 17
SeleCtEARINANCIAIDALAL ... .eiiieeeit ettt ettt ettt bbbt sme et b ettt et b e enene e 19
Ma n a g e DisaugsiérendAnalysisof FinancialConditionandResultsof Operations.............ccceeeevvvereee 20
QuantitativeandQualitativeDisclosuresAboUt MarketRISK.............coooiiiiiiiiiiicceiie e 58
FinancialStatementsind SUPPIEMENTANDALA. ..........oiiuiiieiiiiiie ettt ree e e e e e e e s reeenes 60
Changesn andDisagreementwith Accountanton AccountingandFinancialDisclosure..............cccceeoneee.. 112
CONLrOISANUPTOCEAUIES.........utiiitiieiite e eee ettt e et sb e e e e e b e b e s e aeb e sabe e e be e e nnn e e st e e seenree s 112
OtherTNTOIMALION......ceiitieee ettt b et eeme b e e bt e st e et e e beneme et e e nanee s 112

PART Il
Directors,ExecutiveOfficersand CorporatEGOVEINANCE. ..........ueiiieeiiiiitieeeaiirrereeee e e e anebeeeeesebereeeeeaeeaaas 113
EXECULIVEC OMPENSALION. ...ceiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt e e e e e e emee e e e e sttt bttt e e e e e e s e mnee e e e nebbbb e e e e e e e e e s annrneneaan 113
SecurityOwnershipof CertainBeneficialOwnersandManagemenandRelatedStockholdeMatters.............. 113
CertainRelationshipgindRelatedTransactionsandDirectorIndependence...............eevveeeiiiicce e eeniiieeeeeen. 113
PrinCipal ACCOUNTANTFEESANUSEIVICES. .....cii i ittt rmee et e e e e e e e be e e enebee s 113
PART IV

ExhibitsandFinancialStatemenBSChedUIBS ...........ovuuiiiiie et e e e e mmnraaans 114



This pageintentionallyleft blank.



PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview
The Brinkos

agencies (including central banks), mints, jewelers and other commercial operations around the world. Our global vesvoukteeners in

Company i
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maintenance, secure international transportation of valuables, and cash management services, to financial irdttleiengprvernment
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more than 100 countries and includes ownership interdstéountries and agency relatiomsh with companies in additional coussi We
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(In millions) 2014 % total % change 2013 % total % change 2012 % total % change

Revenues by segment:

Largest 5 Markes:

u.s. $ 727.8 20 31 % 707.5 19 - $ 706.7 20 4)
France 517.4 15 - 517.6 14 1 511.4 14 Q)
Mexico 388.2 11 (8) 423.9 11 7 395.0 11 2
Brazil 364.1 10 3 354.4 9 3) 363.6 10 1
Canada 179.7 5 (6) 191.4 5 2 187.5 5 )
Largest 5 Markets 2,177.2 61 (1) 2,194.8 58 1 2,164.2 60 (1)
Latin America 592.4 17 (31) 854.2 23 15 744.4 21 17
EMEA 556.3 16 3 540.6 14 7 503.1 14 4)
Asia 139.8 4 4 134.2 4 7 125.9 4 -
Global Markets 1,288.5 36 (16) 1,529.0 40 11 1,373.4 38 7
Payment Serges 96.6 3 76 54.8 1 37 40.0 1 1)
Total Rewnues $  3,562.3 100 6)| $ 3,778.6 100 6 $ 3,577.6 100 2

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

Geographic financial information related to revenueslang-lived assets is included in tlkensolidated financial statements on page 77.
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Mission and Strategy

Our mission is to be the worl dds | eading provi derachefecansistentr e | 0c
growth in revenues, profits, cash flows and shareholder value. Outeneeafocus is on maximizing operatinffigiency to enhance

profitability and competitive position. We believe this will enhance our ability to pursue growth opportunities.

Our primary strategy is to focus our efforts and investments on our five largest countries (U.S., France Bréii@nd Canada). Our
greatest neaterm opportunity is to execute profit turnarounds in the U.S. and Mexico, which together generated revenues of $h1 billion i
2014.

Our cost and productivity initiatives are supplemented by efforts to expandetditp of our supply chain services. As we achieve success in
our large markets, we will integrate these services into smaller markets.

Growing Profits with Cost and Productivity Improvements
Achieving substantial improvements in operatiogffitiency is critical to enhancing our competitive position and pursuing future growth. Our
efforts to improve operational efficiency include:

1 consolidating organizational structure to streamline management and administrative expenses
centralizing supparfunctions to reduce costs and enable couletvgl operating management to focus on customers and operations
using fALeano principles to improve processes and reduce co0Ss
improving route logistics with Ibased productivity tools
leveraging global purchasing power to reduce costs for vehicles, equipment, maintenance, travel and other services

= =4 =4 =

Growing Revenues by Expanding Service Offerings
Collaborating with customers and providing new services will help us grow our businessane gkpand our services across our
customersd entire cash and valwuable suppl y c-than efficgenc reduceb thestotah e s s
cost of the process, improves our vahggled pricing and generates oppotunies f or customers to outsource
opportunities include:

1 integrated armored transportation and money processing services

1 full-service management of entire ATM networks

1 CompuSaf@service (Aintelligent safeso)

1 new market oppunities for Global Services

Transforming Culture: Accountability, Customer Focus and Trust
As part of our ongoing cultural transformation, we continue to promote ACT and endeavor to ensure that our employeestel énesestr
values and related behaviors. We will place leaders who consistently demonstrate ACT behaviors in our most critical roles.

2014 Reorganization and Restructuring

We announced a reorganization and restructuring of dmoungekénsin gl ok

February 2015 of an additional reduction in our global workforce. These actions accelerate the executicowftostrategy by reducing

costs and providing for a more streamlined and centralized organization. We believe these actions will save diregiprosisnately $45

to $50 million in 2015 compared to 2014, excluding severance, lease termination siod gettlement charges. Following is a summary of

key actions in connection with the reorganization and restructuring:
1T We reorganized the majority of Brinkds ¢ ou(ntludiygU&.pgreance,t i ons U

Mexico, Brazil andCanada)and Global Markets (the 36 countries besides the Largest 5 Markets). Country operations typically

provide Casin-Tr ansit (ACI To0) Services, ATM Services, Cash Managenm

these two hsiness units are supplemented by a matrixed centralized management of the Global Services operations.

We decided to maintain our centralized organization structure for the Payment Services business.

1  We centralized the reporting structure of supportfunctions, including IT, HR, finance, legal, procurement, security and project
management. Under the new structure, field employees now report to the global functional leaders instead of the egiortaf or r
leaders.

1 We eliminated regional rolesasdt r uct ures in Europe, Middle East and Africa
the regional office leased spaces in 2015.

1  We substantially completed a global workforce reduction of 1,700 positions, which accounts for $30 to $35frti@rajected
2015 savings.

=



Beginning in 2014, as a result of the restructuring, we report financial results in the folloméngperating segments:
1 Each of the five countries within Largest 5 Markets (U.S., France, Mexico, Brazil and Canada)
1 Eachof the three regions within Global Markets (Latin America, EMEA and Asia representing a total of 36 countries)
1 Payment Services

Previously, the our reportable segments were: Latin America, EMEA, North America and Asia Pacific.

Financial information related to our segments and amounts not allocated to segments is included in the consolidatetifienrecied on
pages 7478.

Other Important Events and Transactions in 2014
In addition to the 2014 Reorganization and Restructuring, the following key events and transactions occurred in 2014.

U.S. retirement plansWe contributed $87 million to our primary U.S. pension plan in 2014 and do not expect to contribute additional
amounts in the future. We also completed abutyof the pension benefits of 4,300 plan participants. After theobtythere are
approximately 15,200 beneficiaries in the plan. Thedutysignificantly reduced the plan assets and obligations anltegé a settlement
loss in the fourth quarter of 2014 of $56 million. We adopted new mortality tables to estimate the obligations of etirdth&nt plans,
which increased the obligations by approximately $90 million.

VenezuelaWe adopted a neaurrency exchange rate in March 2014 to report our Venezuela operations. The new rate is 88% less favorable
than the previous rate. Translating our Venezuelan operations at the new rate significantly reduces the portion dfdaiedoasalts
attributable to Venezuela.

Sale of Netherlands businesd#/e sold our Netherlands operations in December 2014 after a major customer notified us we would lose their
business in 2015. The business had $126 million in revenues in 2014.

Sale of ownership interest Peru businessWe sold a noncontrolling interest in a CIT business based in Peru during 2014.

Services

We design customized services to meet the cash and valuables supply chain needs of our customers. We enter intdrcontracts wi
customers to eablish the terms of the services including pricing. CIT and ATM contracts usually cover an initial term of at least ame year
in many cases one to three years, and generally remain in effect thereafter until canceled by either party. Contsadiafoagesment
Services are typically longer. Costs are incurred when preparing to serve a new customer or to transition away frong enséoiser.
Following are descriptions of our service offerings:

Core Service$52% of total revenues in 2014)

CIT and ATM Services are core services we provide to customers throughout the Werltharge customers per service performed or based
on the value of goods transported. As a result, revenues are affected by the level of economic activity in vieitsugswezll as the volume

of business for specific customerGore services generated approximately $1.9 billion of revenues in 2014.

CIT Service$ Serving customers since 1859, our success in CIT is driven by a combination of rigorous security practigealityigh
customer service, risk management and logistics expertise. CIT Services generally include the secure transportation of:

1 cash betwagbusinesses and financial institutions, such as banks and credit unions

1 cash, securities and other valuables between commercial banks, central banks and investment banking and brokerage firms
1 new currency, coins, bullion and precious metals for centrédsand other customers

ATM Service$ We manage 91,000 ATMs worldwide. We provide customers who own and operate ATMs a variety of service options.
We provide basic ATM management services using our secure transportation network, including cash replenishment aseldinst and

line maintenace. We also provide comprehensive services for ATM management through our Brink's Integrated Managed Services
(ABrinkdéds | MS0o) offering. Brink's | MS6s offerings ATMcl ude ¢
remote monitorg, service call dispatching, transaction processing, installation services, and first and second line maintenance.



High-Value Service$39% of total revenues 2014)
Our Core Services, combined with our brand and global infrastructergde a sbstantial platform from which we offer additional High
Value Services.High-Value Services generated approximately $1.4 billion of revenues in 2014.

Global Service$ Br i nkdés is a | eading gl obal pr ovi ID@aountids. Wepmovidee | ogi St
customers with secure transportation services, picking up valuables from customer locations, packing them for tramsaoéaigiagd

customs clearance as the package enters a country. We also offer secure vault storagetandnranagement of customer valuables.

We use a combination of armored vehicles and secure air and sea transportation. Valuables transported by our GlobakiBessces
include diamonds, jewelry, precious metals, securities, currencytétptdeices, electronics and pharmaceuticals. Our specialized

di amond and jewelry operations have offices in the worl dds m

Cash Management Servicte®Ve of f er customi zed Cash ManagementAcS®mermayes bas
have simple requirements or may benefit from Brinkomerdmay | y i
elect to receive logistic support from poewiftsale through transport, vaulting, bank deposit and celatdit. We believe the quality
and scope of our money processing and information systems differentiate our Cash Management Services from competjsive offerin
Cash Management Services include:

1 money processing (e.g., counting, sorting, wrapping, ¢hgaondition of bills, etc.) and other cash management services

f deploying and servicing Aintelligento safec®senaced safe cont
T integrated check and cash processing services (AVirtual \
1 check imagingservices

We also provide other cash management services to our customers including cashier balancing, counterfeit detection, account
consolidation and electronic reporting. Ret ail aprapardbbank k c u s
deposit information and replenish coins and currency in specific denominations.

Brinkbds offers a variety of advanced technol ogy appkinagiag i ons
for reattime deposit pycessing, and a variety of other wiedised tools that enable banks and other customers to reduce costs while
improving service to their customers.

Brinkoés USemigeu SaBfrei n k 6 serviGeooffeps cuStanfiess an integrated, cldseg system for preventing theft

and managing cash. We market CompuSafe services to a variety-@ritesslive customers, such as convenience stores, gas
stations, restaurants, retail chains and entertainime ve nue s . Once the specialized safe
deposit currency into the safeds cassettes, which can onl
securely transported to a vault for processing whengenits are verified and transferred for deposit. Our CompuSafe service
features curreneyecognition and counterfegtetection technology, multanguage touch screens and an electronic interface

between the poinbf-sale, bacloffice systems and extednaanks. Our electronic reporting interface with external banks enables
customerstoreceivesardeay credit on their cash balances, even if the

Virtual Vault Virtual Vault services combine CIT Services, Casnisgement Services, vaulting and electronic reporting
technologies to help banks expand into new markets while minimizing investment in vaults and branch facilities. Irncaddition
providing secure storage, we process deposits, provide check imagirgcandiliation services, perform currency inventory
management, process ATM replenishment orders and electronically transmit banking transactions.

Payment ServicdsWe provide convenient payment services, including bill payment processing, mobile phonptop and Br i n k¢
MoneyE prepaid cards.

Latin America Bill payment processing services include bill payment acceptance and processing services on béihalf of uti
companies and other billers. Consumers can pay billsjpgquepaid mobile phones and manage accounts at retail agent
locations that we operate on behalf of utility companies and banks as well as a small number of leased payment losations. Th
sewice is offered at over 25,000 locations in Brazil, Mexico, Colombia and Panama.

United StateswWe of fer Brinko6s MoneyE general purpose reloadabl e
employers. Our general purpose reloadable cards areosodaisumers through our dirdctconsumer marketing efforts while

our payroll cards are sold to employers who use them to pay their employees electroBicalyn k 6s Money E car ds
at stores, restaurants and online retailers, and provide &ccessh at ATMs worldwide. This product is targeted to the millions

of unbanked and undéanked Americans looking for alternative financial products.



Commercial Security Systeiirid/e provide commercial sedty system services in designated market&urope. Our security system
design and installation services include alarms, motion detectors,-cioseitl televisions, digital video recorders, and access control
systems, including card and biometric readers, electronic locks, and turnstilegorivigrservices may also be provided after systems
have been installed.

Other Security Servicd9% of total revenues in 2014
Guardingi We protect airports, offices, warehouses, stores, and public venues with or without electronic surveillanagracadess
fire prevention and highly trained patrolling personn€lther security services generated approximately $0.3 billion of revenues in
2014.

We offer security and guarding services in France, Luxembourg, Greece, Germany, Brazil and Irelation Afgbis business
involves longterm contracts related primarily to security services at airports and embassies. Generally, guarding contracts are for a one
year period, and the majority of contracts are extended.

Industry and Competition
Br i rcdmpetes with laye multinational, regional and smaller companies throughout the world. Our largest multinational competitors are
G4S plc (U.K.); Loomis AB (Sweden); Prosegur, Compania de Seguridad, S.A. (Spain); and Garda World Security Corporatan (Cana

We believe the primary factors in attracting and retaining customers are security expertise, service quality, and poogeGtive
advantages include:
1 brand name recognition
reputation for a high level of service and security
risk managemerdnd logistics expertise
global infrastructure and customer base
proprietary cash processing
proven operational excellence
high-quality insurance coverage and financial strength

= =4 =4 -8 -8 -4

Although we face competitive pricing pressure in many markets, we resist competing on price alone. We believe oustdfkdesiek and
security, as well as valeedded solutions differentiate us from competitors.

Insurance Coverage

The availabiliy of high-quality and reliable insurance coverage is an important factor in our ability to attract and retain customers and manage
the risks inherent in our business. We purchase insurance coverage for losses in excess of what we consider toebelproiiesi |

insurance. Our insurance policies cover losses from most causes, with the exception of war, nuclear risk and certeusahertgpical in

such policies.

Insurance for security is provided by different groups of underwriters atiatsgbrates and terms. Premiums fluctuate depending on market
conditions. The security |l oss experience of Brinkfs and, to a

Service Mark and Patents

BRINKS is a registered service mark in the U.S. and certain foreign countries. The BRINKS mark, name and related rarkeded o
significance to our business. We own patents for safes and related services, including our integrated Cosepri®afehich expire
between 2015 and 2028. These patents provide us with important advantages; however, we are not dependent on theledstpatends.

We have licensed the Brinkés name to a |curityiprodeds (padlooks, eaor hardware,0 mp a n
etc.) offered for sale to consumers through major retail chains.

Government Regulation

Our U.S. operations are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportation with respect to safety of aupraioest and
financial responsibility. Intrastate operations in the U.S. are subject to state regulation. Operations outside efitBtatésitare regulated to
varying degrees by the countries in which we operate.



Employee Relations
At December 312014 our company had approximately 64,100-firthe and contract employees, including approximately 7,800 employees in
the United States (of whom approximately 750 were classified atiraremployees) and approximately 56,300 employees outside the

United Sates. At December 32014Br i nkdés was a party to twelve collective bargai

unions covering approximately 1,700 employees. The agreements have various expiration dates from 2015 to 2019. ©udtside of N
America, approximately 59% of employees are represented by trade union organizations. We believe our employee rekdigiastang.

Discontinued Operations

Below is a summary of the significant businesses we disposed in the last threeSgeanetel 9 to the consolidated financial statements for
more information on these dispositions. The results of these operations, except for the sale of the noncontrollinairgdyest) excluded
from continuing operations and are reported as diswoed operations for the current and prior periods. We continue to operate our Global
Services business in most of these countries.

Cashin-transit operations sold or shut down:

1 Poland (sold in March 2013)
Turkey (shut down in June 2013)
Hungary (soldn September 2013)
Germany (sold in December 2013)
Australia (sold in October 2014)
Puerto Rico (shut down in November 2014)
Netherlands (sold in December 2014)

=A =4 =4 -8 -8 -9

Guarding operations sold:
1 Morocco (December 2012)
1 France (January 2013)
1 Germany (July2013)

Other operations sold:
1  We sold Threshold Financial Technologies, Inc. in Canada in November 2013. Threshold operateldipeivaiM network and
payment processing businesses. Bri nkds c o nesformAM cistomers. o wn
1  We sold ICD Limited and other affiliated subsidiaries in November 2013. ICD had operations in China and other locatians in A
ICD designed and installed security systems for commercial customers.

In addition, we sold a nonctmlling interest in a CIT business based in Peru in 2014 for $60 million and we sold a small Mexican parcel
delivery business in early 2015.

Available Information and Corporate Governance Documents
The following items are available free of charge onwebsite (www.brinks.com assoon as reasonably possible after filing or furnishing
them with the Securities and Exchange Commi ssion (the ASECO0) :
1 Annual reports on Form 1R
1 Quarterly reports on Form 1Q
1 Current reports on Form8, and amendments to those reports

The following documents are also available free of charge on our website:
1 Corporate Governance Policies
9 Code of Ethics
9§ The charters of the foll owing committees of our Boarsd of
and Corporate Governance and Nominating

Printed versions of these items will be mailed free of charge to shareholders gipest.reSuch requests can be made by contacting the
Corporate Secretary at 1801 Bayberry Court, P. O. Box 18100, Richmond, Virginia@B226
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in highly competitive industries

We compete in industries that amgbject to significant competition and pricing pressures in most markets. In addition, our business model
requires significant fixed costs associated with offering many of our services including costs to operate a fleet ofetnin@®dnd a

network d secure branches. Because we believe we have competitive advantages such as brand name recognition and a repigtation for a h
level of service and security, we resist competing on price alone. However, continued pricing pressure from compehite@smachieve

pricing based on the competitive advantages identified above could result in lost volume of business and have an atlvarsareffe

business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, given the highlijte@nmadure of our industries, it is

important to develop new solutions and product and service offerings to help retain and expand our customer basedevailope $ell and
execute new solutions and offerings in a timely and efficient manneat atad negatively affect our ability to retain our existing customer base

or pricing structure and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Decreased use of cash could have a negative impact orbasiness.

The proliferation of payment options other than cash, including credit cards, debit cardsyatioeechrds, mobile payments andlioe

purchase activity, could result in a reduced need for cash in the marketplace and a decline in tighgsiddl bank branches and retalil

stores. To mitigate this risk, we are developing new lines of business and investing in adjacentsktadtynarkets, but there is a risk that
these initiatives may not offset the risks associated with our traditcaskbased business and that our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows could be negatively impacted.

Our growth strategy may not be successful.

One element of our growth strategy is to expand our offeringsstmmers. We may not be successful in designing or marketing additional
products and services to customers. In addition we may fail to achieve our strategic objectives and anticipated agitiatiprgyements,
which would adversely affect our remubf operations and cash flows.

We have significant operations outside the United States.

We currently serve customers in more than 100 countrielsiding 41 countries where we operate subsidiafigghty percent (80%) of our
revenues ir2014came from operations outside the U.S. We expect revenues outside the U.S. to continue to represent a significant portion of
total revenues. Business operations outside the U.S. are subject to political, economic and other risks inherengimdperiatncountries,

such as:

the difficulty of enforcing agreements, collecting receivables and protecting assets through foreign legal systems;
trade protection measures and import or export licensing requirements;

difficulty in staffing and managing wideread operations;

required compliance with a variety of foreign laws and regulations;

enforcement of our global compliance program in foreign countries with a variety of laws, cultures and customs;
varying permitting and licensing requirements in difféfjenisdictions;

foreign ownership laws;

changes in the general political and economic conditions in the countries where we operate, particularly in emerging markets;
threat of nationalization and expropriation;

higher costs and risks of doing businesa imumber of foreign jurisdictions;

laws or other requirements and restrictions associated with organized labor;

limitations on the repatriation of earnings;

fluctuations in equity, revenues and profits due to changes in foreign currency exchangechatttsg measures taken by
governments to devalue official currency exchange rates;

inflation levels exceeding that of the U.S; and

1 inability to collect for services provided to government entities.

=A =4 =4 =8 -8 -8 -8 8 8 8 8 _a 9
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We are exposed to certain risks when we operateuntiges that have high levels of inflation, including the risk that:

1 the rate of price increases for services will not keep pace with the cost of inflation;

M adverse economic conditions may discourage business growth which could affect demand foramst servi

1 the devaluation of the currency may exceed the rate of inflation and reported U.S. dollar revenues and profits mapdiecline; a
1

We manage these risks by monitoring current and anticipated political and economic developments, monitoring adherelotxato our g

compliance program and adjusting operations as appropriate. Changes in the political or economic environments oetha aelictriwe
operate could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to achieve, or may be delayed in achieving, our initiatives to drive efficiency and control costs.

We have launched a number of initiatives, including the 2014 Reorganization and Restructuring described on page 2, tdfitigmoes ef
and reduce operating costs. Although we have achieved annual cost savings associated with these initiatives wvabigaotsestain the
cost savings that we have achieved. In addition, if we are unable to achieve, or have any unexpected delays in adiievalgost
savings, our results of operations and cash flow may be adversely affected. Even if wermealsoas a result of these initiatives, we may
not receive the expected financial benefits of these initiatives.

We may not be successful in pursuing strategic investments or acquisitions or realize the expected benefits of thoséanarsscausef
integration difficulties and other challenges.

While we may identify opportunities for investments to support our growth strategy, as well as acquisition and divestitiungtags, our

due diligence examinations and positions that we may taker@gfect to appropriate valuations for acquisitions and divestitures and other
transaction terms and conditions may hinder our ability to successfully complete business transactions to achieveogoaisat&yr

ability to realize the anticipated iefits from acquisitions will depend, in part, on successfully integrating each business with our company as
well as improving operating performance and profitability through our management efforts and capital investments. td lzestiskessful
integration and improvement of operating performance and profitability include, among others, failure to implement our busjness pla
unanticipated issues in integrating operations with ours, unanticipated changes in laws and regulations, labor ungefsonesuiton
operations, regulatory, environmental and permitting issues, the effect on our internal controls and compliance withttimg reguirements
under the Sarban&xley Act of 2002, and difficulties in fully identifying and evaluating poteniédilities, risks and operating issues. The
occurrence of any of these events may adversely affect our expected benefits of any acquisitions and may have a negesféd ctdve our
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We havesignificant deferred tax assets in thénited Stateghat may not be realized.

Deferred tax assets are future tax deductions that result primarily from net operating losses and the net tax effestrptiffiengences
between the carrying amount afsets and liabilities for financial statement and income tax purpbgéesiave $287 million of U.S. deferred
tax assets recorded at the en@@14 primarily related to our retirement plan obligatiofitiese future tax deductions may not be realized if
tax rules change or if projected future taxable income is insufficient. Consequently, not realizing our U.S. deferretd tagyasgnificantly
and materially affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

It is possible that wavill incur restructuring charges in the future.

It is possible that we will take restructuring actions in one or more of our markets in the future to reduce expensastiofiseseuld result

in significant restructuring charges at these subsidjarielding recognizing impairment charges to write down assets, and recording accruals
for employee severance and the termination of operating leases. These charges, if required, could significantly dnaffeateréeults of
operations and castofls.

these countries may be deemed #fAhighly inflationaryo for U.
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We have significant retirement obligationd?o0or investment performance of retirement plan holdings and / or lower interest rates used to
discount the obligations could unfavorably affect our liquidity and results of operations.

We have substantial pension and retiree medical obligations, a portion of which have been funded. The amount of tieseisbliga
significantly affected by factors that are not in our control, including interest rates used to determine the presefifuuate payment
streams, investment returns, medical inflation rates, participation rates and changes in laws and regulations. Tlaéusiodduesprimary
U.S. pension plan was approximately 88% as of Decemb&@03%, Based on actuarial assutiops at the end 014 we do not expect to
make any contributions in the future. A change in assumptions could result in funding obligations that could advetsely laftedity and
our ability to use our resources to make acquisitions and torgsieegrow our business.

We have $721 million of actuarial losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at #d4nd bése losseslate to
changes in actuarial assumptions that have increased the net liability for bemsfit phese losses have not been recognized in earnings.
These losses will be recognized in earnings in future periods to the extent they are not offset by future actuarialr gaijections of future
cash requirements and expenses for these ptad lbe adversely affected if our retirement plans have additional actuarial losses.

Our earnings and cash flow could be materially affected by increased losses of customer valuables.

We purchase insurance coverage for losses of customer valualdesoiants in excess of what we consider prudent deductibles and/or
retentions. Insurance is provided by different groups of underwriters at negotiated rates and terms. Coverage i® asitabiajor

insurance markets, although premiums chargedudnject to fluctuations depending on market conditions. Our loss experience and that of
other companies in our industry affects premium rates. We are not insured for losses below our coverage limits anéxpengeizg to

these limits for actual logs. Our insurance policies cover losses from most causes, with the exception of war, nuclear risk and various other
exclusions typical for such policies. The availability of hgkality and reliable insurance coverage is an important factor in obtainihg

retaining customers and managing the risks of our business. If our losses increase, or if we are unable to obtainsaslagoateoverage at
reasonable rates, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materidireraety affected.

The Venezuel an government recently announced a new currency exoc
expected to replace the existing SICAD Il exchange process. We currently use the SICAD Il rate to measure our Venezusaongpe

for our financial statements. We have not yet concluded whether the new rate will be used for our financial statemerggpétfethe

exchange rate under the proposed exchange will be much less favorable than current rates, which could adversebuaffegorted

results for our Venezuelan operations in future years.

The new SIMADI currency exchange is expected to exchange Venezuelan bolivars to U.S. dollars at rates significanthpldsdifandhe

current SICAD Il exchange rates. The SICADdtes have approximated 50 bolivars to the U.S. dollar since its inception in March 2014. At
December 312014 we held $12.6 million of cash and cash equivalents and $10.9 million other net monetary assets denominated in bolivars
based on the offici@xchange rate we use to remeasure our Venezuelan operations. The SIMADI rate has ranged from 170 to 174 bolivars to
the dollar between February 12 and February 26. Had we used a rate of 170, our revenues in 2014 would have declingtidry $i63

our operating profit before items not allocated to segments would have declined by $39 million. Had a rate of 170 beeatiDefember

31, 2014, we would have recognized additional currency losses to write down our net monetary assets of $16 million.

Currency restrictions in Venezuela limit our ability to use earnings and cash flows outside of Venezuela and may negdtietigragoing
operations in Venezuela.

Because most of our past requests to convert bolivars to dollars have not beeachppcoeertain past processes to obtain dollars are no
longer available, we do not expect to be able to repatriate cash from Venezuela for the foreseeabldéuefoee, we do not expect to be
able to use cash held in Venezuela for any purpose ouafsilat country, including reducing our U.S. debt, funding growth or business
acquisitions or returning cash to shareholders.

We believe that currency exchange restrictions in Venezuela may disrupt the operation of our business in Venezuela bepabsewable
to pay for goods and services that are required to be paid in dollars. This could reduce our ability to provide smivicestboners in
Venezuela, or could increase the cost of delivering the services, which would negatively affechogs and cash flows, and could result in
a loss of control, deconsolidation, shutdown or loss of the business in Venezuela.



Currency restrictions in Argentina may require us to use more expensive methods to repatriate earnings.

The Argentinean government has, from titndime, imposed limits on the exchange of local pesos into U.S. dollars. As a result, we have
elected in the past and may elect in the future to repatriate cash from Argentina using alternative legal methadaywésult in less
favorable exchange rates. At December 31, 2014, our Argentinean operations held $6.6 million in Argentinean pesos.

We have risks associated with confidential information.

In the normal course of business, we collect, process and retain sensitive and confidential information, including mérotgtiodividuals.
Despite the security measures we have in place, our facilities and systems, and thoseatftytsetvicgroviders and business partners,

could be vulnerable to security breaches (including cybersecurity breaches), acts of vandalism, computer viruses, misgtiaeed, o
programming or human errors or other similar events. Any security breach invdiginggappropriation, loss or other unauthorized

disclosure of confidential information, whether by us or by tpady service providers, could damage our reputation, expose us to the risks of
litigation and liability, disrupt our business or otherwisgeha material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Negative publicity to our name or brand could lead to a loss of revenues or profitability.

We are in the security business and our success and longevity are based to a large extent on our reputation foreguisy.alint
reputation or brand, particularly the trust placed in us by our customers, could be negatively impacted in thpereenten or actual
breaches in our ability to conduct our business ethically, securely and responsibly. Any damage to our brand coulden@ladverae
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Failures of our IT system could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are heavily dependent on our information technology (IT) infrastructure. Significant problems with our infrastruatiae tsiephone or

IT system failure, cybersecurity breasher failure to develop new technology platforms to support new initiatives and product and service
offerings, could halt or delay our ability to service our customers, hinder our ability to conduct and expand our bdsiegegeasignificant
remediaibn costs. In addition, we continue to evaluate and implement upgrades to our IT systems. We are aware of inheserciatsks as
with replacing these systems, including accurately capturing data and system disruptions, and believe we are takistg appoopto

mitigate these risks through testing, training, and staging implementation. However, there can be no assurances thetoessfuilly

launch these systems as planned or that they will occur without disruptions to our operationghAsg efents could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We operate in regulated industries.

Our U.S. operations are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportdtiozspéict to safety of operations and equipment and
financial responsibility. Intrastate operations in the U.S. are subject to regulation by state regulatory authoritexpandhicial operations

in Canada are subject to regulation by Canadian andnmial regulatory authorities. Our international operations are regulated to varying
degrees by the countries in which we operate. Many countries have permit requirements for security services andggohduibhfpanies
from providing different typs of security services.

Changes in laws or regulations could require a change in the way we operate, which could increase costs or otherofser aliemgpt In
addition, failure to comply with any applicable laws or regulations could result inastibsfines or revocation of our operating permits and
licenses. If laws and regulations were to change or we failed to comply, our business, financial condition, result®n$ @met@ash flows
could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our inability to access capital or significant increases in our cost of capital could adversely affect our business

Our ability to obtain adequate and ceffective financing depends on our credit ratings as well as the liquidity of financial markets. A
negative change in our ratings outlook or any downgrade in our current invegiaeatcredit ratings by the rating agencies could adversely
affect our cost and/or access to sources of liquidity and capital. Additionally, such a downgrade could irecrease of borrowing under
available credit lines. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect our ability to aceessnshod longerm capital.

Our access to funds under shtmtm credit facilities is dependent on thédligbof the participating banks to meet their funding commitments.
Those banks may not be able to meet their funding commitments if they experience shortages of capital and liquidityisiuptigers in the
capital and credit markets as a resultéertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced alternatives, or failures of significant financial
institutions could adversely affect our access to capital needed for our business.

We are subject to covenants for our credit facilities and for our unsecured notes.

Our credit facilities as well as our unsecured notes are subject to financial covenants, including a limit on the Ipatio efudeéngs before
interest, taxes, depriation, and amortization, limits on the ability to pledge assets, limits on the total amount of indebtedness we can incur,
limits on the use of proceeds of asset sales and minimum coverage of interest costs. Although we believe none ofdhesargone=ently
restrictive to operations, the ability to meet the financial covenants can be affected by changes in our results of opéretiarial

condition. We cannot provide assurance that we will meet these covenants. A breach of any of thests@mtéd result in a default under
existing credit facilities. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under any of our credit facilities, the lendeeusewddhounts

outstanding to be immediately payable and terminate all commitments to éxtidwed credit. The occurrence of these events would have a
significant effect on our liquidity and cash flows.

Our effective income tax rate could change.

We operate subsidiaries in 41 countries, all of which have different income tax laws andtedsnocome tax rates. Our effective income tax
rate can be significantly affected by changes in the mix of pretax earnings by country and the related income taxosatesimthes. In
addition, our effective income tax rate is significantly etiéel by the ability to realize deferred tax assets, including those associated with net
operating losses. Changes in income tax laws, income apportionment, or estimates of the ability to realize defertedaaxlidsse
significantly affect our effectie income tax rate, financial position and results of operatidfesare subject to the regular examination of our
income tax returns by various tax authorities. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting framthaserexto
determine the adequacy of our provision for taxes. There can be no assurance that the outcomes from these examioati@ve \&ill n
material adverse effect on our business.
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We have certain environmental and other exposures related to our former @petations.

We may incur future environmental and other liabilities in connection with our former coal operations, which could naxdridiyersely
affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be exposed to certaigulatory and financial risks related to climate change.

Growing concerns about climate change may result in the imposition of additional environmental regulations to whichbjestargsue

form of federal regulation may be forthcoming wi#spect to greenhouse gas emissions (including carbon dioxide) and/or "cap and trade"
legislation. The outcome of this legislation may result in new regulation, additional charges to fund energy efficiency activities or othe
regulatory actionsCompliarce with these actions could result in the creation of additional costs to us, including, among other things,
increased fuel prices or additional taxes or emission allowances. We may not be able to recover the cost of comptiewoer witbre
stringentenvironmental laws and regulations from our customers, which could adversely affect our biRin&ssmore, the potential effects
of climate change and related regulation on our customers are highly uncertain and may adversely affect our operations.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains both historical and forwlard o ki ng i nf or mati on. Words such as fdAant
fiprojects, o fApredicts, o Aintends, 0 0 plar@xmpressions may oentdyrfarwahadkingd @b el
information. Forwardooking information in this document includes, but is not limited to, statements regarding future performance of The
Brinkds Company a nidcluding anticipaten baaingndopher impacts af ous 2014 Reorganization and Restructuring and
additional; 2015 workforce reductions, revenues, organic revenue growth and operating profitim@ngia from continuing operations, ron
operating income or expense and earnings peesB@16 revenues, operating profit margin and earnings per diarepatriation of cash

from our Venezuelan and Argentinean operations, the anticipated financial effect of pending litigation, profit growtleeted exqrgins in

t he Co mp a ngségments,ghe acguisitiom of new vehicles in the United States with capital leases, the realization of deferred tax
assets, our anticipated effective tax rate2fdt5andourtax position, the reinvestment of earnings on operations outside the Utzited, &et
income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, projected currency impact on revenues, capital expendituressespitatl

depreciation and amortization, future pension obligations, the ability to meet liquidity needs, expepsgsuatsdor the U.S. retirement

plans and the neb.S. pension plans and the expected tergn rate of return and funded status of the primary U.S. pension plan, expected
liability for and future contributions to the UMWA plans, liability for black lustgigations, the projected impact of future excise tax on the
UMWA plans,our ability to obtain U.S. dollars to operate our business in Venezuela, future devaluation in Vetiezpeldormance of
counterparties to hedging agreements, the recognitianretognized tax positions, expected future payments under contractual obligations,
and future use of operating leases. Forwadadking information in this document is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and

contingencies, which are diffittuto quantify and which could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those

that are anticipated.

These risks, uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control, include, but are not limited to:

9 our ability to improve profitability in our largest five markets;

9 our ability to identify and execute further cost and operational improvements and efficiencies in our core businesses;

9 continuing market volatility and commaodity price fluctuations and their impact on the demand for our services;

9 our ability to maintain or improve volumes at favorable pricing levels and increase cost and productivity efficienciakrjyairi
the Unied States and Mexico;

9 investments in information technology and adjacent businesses and their impact on revenues and profit growth;

9 our ability to develop and implement solutions for our customers and gain market acceptance of those solutions;

9 our abilty to maintain an effective IT infrastructure and safeguard confidential information;

9 risks customarily associated with operating in foreign countries including changing labor and economic conditions, currency
restrictions and devaluations, safety andusgcissues, political instability, restrictions on repatriation of earnings and capital,
nationalization, expropriation and other forms of restrictive government actions;

9 the strength of the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies and foreign cuexcitange rates;

9 the stability of the Venezuelan economy, changes in Venezuelan policy regarding-toveigeh businesses;

9 regulatory and labor issues in many of our global operations, including negotiations with organized labor and the pos®iiity
stoppages;

9 our ability to integrate successfully recently acquired companies and improve their operating profit margins;

9 costs related to dispositions and market exits;

9 our ability to identify evaluate and pursue acquisitions and other strategidwpifies;

9 the willingness of our customers to absorb fuel surcharges and other future price increases;

9 our ability to obtain necessary information technology and other services at favorable pricing levels from third paty servic
providers;

9 variationsin costs or expenses and performance delays of any public or private sector supplier, service provider or customer;

9 our ability to obtain appropriate insurance coverage, positions taken by insurers with respect to claims made andathe financi
conditionof insurers, safety and security performance, our loss experience, and changes in insurance costs;

9 security threats worldwide and losses of customer valuables;

9 costs associated with the purchase and implementation of cash processing and securitytequipmen

9 employee and environmental liabilities in connection with our former coal operations, including black lung claims incidence;

9 the impact of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act on black lung liability and the Company's ongoing operations;

9 changes to estimated liabilities and assets in actuarial assumptions due to payments made, investment returns, interest rates a
annual actuarial revaluations, the funding requirements, accounting treatment, investment performance and costs anfl@xpenses
pension plans, the VEBA and other employee benefits, mandatory or voluntary pension plan contributions;

9 the nature of our hedging relationships;

9 changes in estimates and assumptions underlying our critical accounting policies;

9 our ability to realize deferred tax assets;

9 the outcome of pending and future claims, litigation, and administrative proceedings;

9 public perception of the Company's business and reputation;

9 access to the capital and credit markets;
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9 seasonality, pricingnd other competitive industry factors; and
9 the promulgation and adoption of new accounting standards and interpretations, new government regulations and intefrpretation
existing regulations.

The information included in this document is representativel y as of the date of this document
obligation to update any information contained in this document.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We havepropertyandequipmenin locationsthroughoutheworld. Branchfacilities generallyhaveoffice spaceo supportoperationsavault
to securelyprocessandstorevaluablesanda garageto housearmoredvehiclesandserveasa vehicleterminal. Many branche$aveadditional
spaceo repairandmaintainvehicles.

We own or leasearmoredvehicles paneltrucksandothervehiclesthatareprimarily servicevehicles. Our armoredvehiclesareof
bullet-resistantonstructiorandarespeciallydesignecandequippedo providesecurityfor the crewandcargo.

Thefollowing tabledisclosedeasedandownedfacilities andvehiclesfor B r i mmbksbsgnificantoperationsasof DecembeB1,2014.

Facilities Vehicles
Leased Owned Total Leased Owned Total

Largest 5 Markets

u.S. 128 25 153 1,919 179 2,098

France 84 34 118 870 568 1,438

Mexico 161 67 228 91 2,551 2,642

Brazil 59 4 63 441 774 1,215

Canada 37 14 51 464 11 475
Global Markets

Latin Ameica 159 55 214 - 2,255 2,255

EMEA 114 3 117 437 1,024 1,461

Asia 101 - 101 7 652 659
Payment Services 34 - 34 85 7 92
Total 877 202 1,079 4,314 8,021 12,335

As of DecembeB1, 2014,we hadapproximately20,400unitsfor our CompuSaf& serviceinstalledworldwide, of which approximately
16,100unitswerelocatedin theU.S.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Foradiscussiorof legal proceedingsseenote 23 to the consolidatedinancial statementsy Ot Ga@nmitmentandCo nt i n gieRPadli, e s, 0
Item 8 of this 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

15



Executive Officers of the Registrant

Thefollowing is alist asof February?27,2015,o0f the namesandagesof the executiveofficers of The Companyindicatingthe principal
positionsandofficesheld by each. Thereareno family relationshipsamongany of the officersnamed.

Name Age Positions and Offices Held Held Since
Thomas C. Schievelbein 61 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 2012
Joseph W. Dziedzic 46  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2009
Michael F. Beech 53 Executive Vice President, Strategy and Focus Markets 2014
McAlister C. Marshall, 11 45  Vice President and General Counsel 2008
Matthew A. P. Schumacher 56 Vice President and Controller 2001
Holly R. Tyson 43  Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer 2012
Patricia A. Watson 48  Vice President and Chief Information Officer 2013
Amit Zukerman 43  Executive Vice President, Global Operations 2014

Executiveandotherofficersof the Companyareelectedannuallyandserveat the pleasureof the Board.

Mr. Schievelbeins the Chairman PresidenandChief ExecutiveOfficer of the CompanyandhasheldthatpositionsinceJune2012,prior to
which he servedastheinterim PresidenandChief ExecutiveOfficer of the Companyfrom Decembef011to June2012andtheinterim
ExecutiveChairmanof the Companyfrom November2011to DecembeR011. He hasalsoservedasa directorof the CompanysinceMarch
2009. He wasPresidenbf NorthropGrummanNewportNews,a subsidiaryof the NorthropGrummanCorporation a globaldefensecompany,
from November2001until November2004,andwasa businessonsultanfrom November2004to November2011. Mr. Schievelbein
currentlyservesasadirectorof HuntingtoningallsIndustriesnc. andNew York Life InsuranceCompany.

Mr. DziedzicwasappointedExecutiveVice Presidenpf the Companyin DecembeR014andhasservedasChief FinancialOfficer since2009.
FromAugust2009to DecembeR014,Mr. DziedzicservedasVice Presidenbf the Company. Mr. Dziedziccurrentlyservesasa directorof
Greatbatchinc.

Mr. Marshallwasappointedvice PresidenandGeneralCounselof the Companyin Septembe2008. He alsopreviouslyheldthe office of
Secretanfrom June2012to November2013.

Mr. BeechwasappointedExecutiveVice PresidentStrategyandFocusMarketsof the Companyin Decembe2014. He servedasPresident,
Europe Middle EastandAfrica for theC o mp a opgrétisgsubsidiaryB r i nifcdrmoratedfrom 2011to DecembeR014;asPresident,
Asia Pacificfrom 2011to 2012;andasVice PresidentGlobal Securityfrom 2009to 2011.

Mr. ZukermarwasappointedastheC 0 mp a BxgciitiveVice PresidentGlobal OperationandB r i rGloldakServicesn Decembe014.
He servedasPresidentB r i rGloliakServicesandAsia Pacificfor theC o mp a opgrétisgsubsidiaryB r i nihkcdrsrated,from 2012to
DecembeR014andasPresidentB r i rGloliakServicedrom 2008to 2012.

Mr. SchumachehasservedasVice PresidenandControllerof the CompanysinceAugust2014andwasappointedControllerin July 2001.
Ms. Tysonwasappointedvice PresidenandChief HumanResource®fficer of the Companyin SeptembeR012. Beforejoining the
CompanyMs. Tysonwaswith Bristol-Myers SquibbCompanya global biopharmaceuticadiompanywhereshewasVice President).S.
PharmaceuticalslumanResourcedrom 2010to 2012,andExecutiveDirector World Wide Pharmaceutical$alent& U.S.Pharmaceutical

SalesLearningfrom 2009to 2010.

Ms. WatsonwasappointedVice Presidenaind Chief InformationOfficer of the Companyin February2013. Priorto joining the Company,
Ms. WatsonwasSeniorTechnologyExecutivewith Bankof A me r i TeeasbrgCreditandPaymentslivision from 2007to 2012.
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PART Il

I TEM 5. MARKET FOR REGI STRANT6S COMMON EQUI TY, RELA

AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under
shareholders of record of common stock.

The dividends declared and the high and low prices of our common stock for each full quarterly period within the last ave gsa
follows:

2014 Quarters 2013 Quarters
151 znd 3rd 4th 151 2nd 3rd 4th

Dividends declared per common shares ~ 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000  0.1000 $ 0.1000 0.1000 0.1000  0.1000
Stock prices:
High $ 35.73 30.56 28.80 2471 $ 30.75 28.36 28.76 34.76
Low 27.59 24.25 23.85 19.15 25.90 24.07 25.41 26.58

Seenote18 to the consolidatedinancial statement$or a descriptionof limitations of our ability to paydividendsin thefuture
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Thefollowing graphcompareshe cumulative5-yeartotal returnprovidedto shareholdersf TheB r i rClo Gng a comréosistockcompared
to the cumulativetotal returnsof the Russell2000IndexandRussell3000CommercialServicedndex, aswell asthe S&P Midcap400index
andthe S&P Midcap400 CommercialServicesf: Suppliesindex. Thegraphtracksthe performancef a$100investmenin our common
stockandin eachindexfrom DecembeB1, 2009,throughDecembeB1, 2014. Theperformancef TheB r i rC& G a mominenstock
assumeshatthe shareholdereinvestedall dividendsreceivedduringthe period.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return*
Assumes Initial Investment of $100

25000 December 2014
200.00 +
150.00 +
100.00 +
50.00 +
0.00
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
e=¢==The Brink's Company
==@==S&P Midcap 400
S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Supplies
=== Russell 2000
=== Russell 3000 Commercial Services
*$100investedon 12/31/09in stockor index,includingreinvestmenof dividends.
FiscalyearendingDecembef1.
Source: ZacksInvestmenResearchinc.
Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return®
Years Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
The Brink's Company $ 100.00 112.36 113.99 122.92 149.12 108.25
S&P Midcap 400 Index 100.00 126.64 124.45 146.70 195.84 214.97
S&P Midcap 400 Commercial Services & Supplies Index 100.00 121.98 132.85 155.47 215.15 203.74
Russell 2000 Index 100.00 126.81 121.52 141.42 196.32 205.93
Russel 3000 Commercial Services Index 100.00 112.75 105.14 115.03 158.91 169.25
(@ For the line designated as fAiThe Brinko6s Companyo the agrydph chenmpniont sttoltk @u mDleate

2009. The cumulative return for each index is measured on an annual basis for the peri@eéuoer 31, 2009, through December 31, 2014, with the value of

each index set to $100 on December 31, 2009. Total return assumes reinvestment of dividends. In 2013, we chose tlap3&P Middhe S&P Midcap 400

Commercial Services & Supplies Indysindex because we were included in these indices, which broadly measure the performanempfaoidpanies in the

United States market and for a smaller subset ofaajficompanies in the commercial services industry, respectively. In 2014, weccti@nielices we provide as
comparisons to the stock performance of Brinkds ¢ o mmoompasisors tokin 2018.cFon281d, we ar e no
we chose the Russell 2000 Index and the Russell 3000 CommereiakSdndex as appropriate comparisons because we are now consideredcagistaitk. We

believe that these indices broadly measure the performance ofcapalbmpanies in the United States market and for a smaller subset e¢gmadimpanies in the

commercial services industry, respectively.
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ITEM 6.SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Five Yearsin Review

GAAP Basis
(In_millions, except for per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Revenues $ 3,562.3 3,778.6 3,577.6 3,515.4 2,810.7
Operating profit (loss) (27.5 163.2 162.2 199.7 175.2
I ncome (loss) attributable to Brinl
Continuing operations $ (54.8 66.0 102.3 98.7 82.9
Discontinued operations (29.1 (9.2 (13.4 (24.2 (25.8
Netincome(losspt t ri but abl e to Brinkds $ (83.9 56.8 88.9 74.5 57.1
Financial Position
Property and equipment, net $ 669.5 758.7 793.8 749.2 698.9
Total assets 2,192.2 2,498.0 2,553.9 2,406.2 2,270.5
Long-term debt, less current maturities 373.3 330.5 335.6 335.3 323.7
Brinké6s shareholdersé equity 434.0 693.9 501.8 408.0 516.2
Supplemental Information
Depreciation and amortization $ 161.9 165.8 148.4 140.0 116.6
Capital expenditures 136.1 172.9 170.9 176.0 128.4
Earnings (loss) per share attribut:
Basic:
Continuing operations $ (1.12 1.36 2.12 2.06 1.72
Discontinued operations (0.59 0.19; (0.28; 0.51 (0.54,
Net income (loss) $ (1.71 1.17 1.84 1.56 1.18
Diluted:
Continuing operations $ 1.12 1.35 2.11 2.05 1.71
Discontinued operations (0.59 (0.19 (0.28 (0.50 (0.53
Net income (loss) $ (1.71 1.16 1.83 1.55 1.18
Cash dividends $ 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.40
Weighted-average Shares
Basic 49.0 48.7 48.4 47.8 48.2
Diluted 49.0 49.0 48.6 48.1 48.4
Non-GAAP Basis*
(In millions, except for per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Revenues $ 3,562.3 3,778.6 3,5677.6 3,5615.4 2,810.7
Operating profit 169.0 227.3 207.0 219.9 197.6
Amounts attributable to Brinko6s
Income from continuing operations $ 73.2 104.5 97.8 106.4 109.5
Diluted EPS/ continuing operations $ 1.49 2.13 2.01 2.21 2.26

*Reconciliations to GAAP results are found beginning on page 36.
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OPERATIONS

The Brinkés Company offers transportation and | ogi Jhesesesviceman a g e n
include:
T Cashin-Tr ansit ( i Carmobe velidertransporaton of valuables

1 ATM Servicesi replenishingpd mai ntaining customersd automated teller mac
1 Global Servicest secure international transportation of valuables
1 Cash Management Services*
o Currency and coin counting and sorting; deposit preparationeaodciliations; other cash management services
o Safe and safe control device installation and servicing (including our patented Corfime®eaifee)
o Check and cash processing services for banking customer
0 Check imaging servicesif banking customers
1 Payment Services*b i | | payment and processing services on behalf of
Br i n kpérated payment locations in Latin AmericaBw i nk 6s MoneyE gen erpaitl caplsiandpaysolk 1 e |
cards in the U.S.
1  Guarding Services protection of airports, offices, and certain other locations in Europe and Brazil with or without electronic
surveillance, access control, fire prevention and highly trained patrolling personnel

* We consider these to be Higfalue Services as described in more detail on page 4.

We have nine operating segments:
1 Each of the five countries within Largest 5 Markets (U.S., France, Mexico, Brazil and Canada)
1 Each of the three regions within Globahrkets (Latin America, EMEA and Asia)
1 Payment Services

We believe that Brinko6és has significant competitive advantages
brand name recognition

reputation for a high level of service and security

risk management and logistics expertise

valuebased solutions expertise

global infrastructure and customer base

proprietary cash processing and information systems

proven operational excellence

high-quality insurance coverage and general financial strength

=A =4 =4 -8 -8 -8 8 9

We focus our time and resources on service quality, protecting and strengthening our brand, and addressing our riskstifguandasales
efforts are enhanced by the fABrink&dso brand, usonhandling teaesgortingp pr ot
protecting and managing valuables, we strive to understand and manage risk.

In order to earn an adequate return on capital, we focus on the effective and efficient use of resources in additiarinig discipline. We
attempt to maximize the amount of business that flows through our branches, vehicles and systems in order to obtaircdsésipassible
without compromising safety, security or service.

Operating results may vary from period to period. Becavsnues are generated from charges per service performed or based on the value of
goods transported, they can be affected by both the level of economic activity and the volume of business for spedfis. cAstoontracts
generally run for one or moregrs, costs are incurred to prepare to serve, or to transition away, from a customer. We also periodically incur
costs to change the scale of our operations when volumes increase or decrease. Incremental costs incurred usuatyesdatg tur

decaeasing the number of employees and increasing or decreasing branches or administrative facilities. In addition,ste@anityaoy

depending on performance, the cost of insurance coverage, and changes in crime rates (i.e., attacks and robberies).

Brinkés revenues and related operating profit are gauarterrdué¢toy hi
generally increased economic activity associated with the holiday season.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Executive Summar

Non-GAAP Financial MeasuresWe provideananalysisof our operationsdelowon botha generallyacceptediccountingprinciples

( A G A AaRdnQn-GAAP basis. The purposeof thenon-GAAP informationis to reportour operatingprofit, incomefrom continuing
operationandearninggper sharewithout certainincomeandexpensédtemsandto reflecta constantax ratefor quarterlyresultsequalto the
full-yearnon-GAAP taxrate.We alsoprovidefi A d j WNsrtGeAdA Rndormationwhich providesfinancialinformationfor 2013andthefirst
quater of 2014hadour financial statementbeenpreparedisingan exchangeateof 50 bolivarsperdollar for our Venezuelaroperations,
which we believeprovidesfinancialinformationon a basismoreconsistentvith therateswe usedin thelastnine months of 2014to reportour
Venezuelaroperations. Thenon-GAAP financialmeasureareintendedo provideinformationto assisttomparabilityandestimate®f future
performance.The Non-GAAP adjustmentsisedto reconcileour GAAP resultsaredescribedn detail on page36.

Definition of Organic Growth Organicgrowthrepresentshe changen revenuer operatingprofit betweerthe currentandprior period,
excludingtheeffectof: acquisitionsanddispositionschangesn currencyexchangeates(asdescribedn page25) andthe accountingeffects
of reportingVenezuelainderhighly inflationaryaccounting.

Executive Summary: 2014versus2013
RevenuesRevenueslecrease#216.3million or 6%. Revenueslecreasegrimarily dueto unfavorablechangesn currencyexchangeates,
partially offsetby organicgrowthin Latin America,PaymentServicesBrazil, EMEA andtheU.S.

Earnings (GAAP basis) Operatingprofit decrease190.7million primarily dueto thenegativeéimpactof changesn currencyexchange
rates,costsassociateavith therecentlyannouncedestructuringolan ($21.8million), higherU.S. pensioncosts($20.2million) andanorganic
profit decreas@ Mexico, partially offsetby the gainon saleof our noncontrollingequityinterestin a CIT businessn Peru($44.3million) and
organicprofit improvemenin Latin AmericaandtheU.S. Incomefrom continuingoperationsttributableto B r i rsha®lderm 2014
decrease®120.8million to alossof $54.8million primarily dueto the operatingprofit decreasenentionedabove partially offsetby the
correspondindower incomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestg$55.2million) andlowertax expens€$12.6million). Earningspershare
from continuingoperationsvasnegative$1.12,downfrom $1.35in 2013.

Earnings (Non-GAAP basis) Operatingprofit decrease®58.3million in 2014 primarily dueto the negativémpactof changesn currency
exchangeatesandanorganicprofit decreasén Mexico, partially offsetby organicgrowthin Latin AmericaandtheU.S. Incomefrom
continuingoperationsttributableio B r i rsHai@lwlders 2014decrease@0% primarily dueto the operatingprofit decreasenentioned
above partially offsetby the correspondindower tax expensg$13.0million) andlower incomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestg$11.9
million). Earningspersharefrom continuingoperationsvas$1.49,downfrom $2.13in 2013.

Executive Summary: 2013versus2012
RevenuesRevenuesncreased201.0million or 6% primarily dueto organicgrowthin Latin America,EMEA andBrazil, partially offsetby
unfavorablechangesn currencyexchangeates.

Earnings (GAAP basis) Operatingprofit increased1.0million primarily dueto organicprofit improvemenin Latin AmericaandMexico,
partially offsetby the negativempactof changesn currencyexchangeates,anincreasen corporatdtems,including securitycostsand
expensegelatedto theimplementatiorof a newfinancesharedservicecenterandan organicprofit decreasén theU.S. Incomefrom
continuingoperationsttributableio B r i rsHai@lwldersn 2013decrease@5% comparedo 2012primarily dueto highertax expens€$26.3
million) mainly resultingfrom a$21.1million tax benefitrelatedto achangen retireehealthcardundingstrategyin 2012, lower interestand
othernonoperatingncome($5.5million), andhigherincomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestg$3.5million). Earningspersharefrom
continuingoperationsvas$1.35,downfrom $2.11in 2012.

Earnings (Non-GAAP basis) Operatingprofit increased20.3million in 2013primarily dueto organicgrowthin Latin Americaand

Mexico, partially offsetby anincreasean corporatdatems,including securitycostsandexpenseselatedto the sharedservicecenter,anorganic
decreaein theU.S.andthe negativeimpactof changesn currencyexchangeates.Incomefrom continuingoperationsttributabletoB r i n k 6 s
shareholders 2013increased% primarily dueto the operatingprofit increasementionedabove partially offsetby higherincome

attributableto noncontrollinginterestg$10.6million). Earningspersharefrom continuingoperationsvas$2.13,up from $2.01in 2012.
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Outlook

Outlook for 2015

Our organicrevenuegrowthratefor 2015comparedo our 2014 AdjustedNon-GAAP resultsis expectedo be approximatelys% or $200
million, andour estimateof the negativeimpactof changesn currencyexchangeateson revenuess approximately?% or $250 million. Our
operatingprofit marginonaNon-GAAP basisis expectedo bein therangeof 5.1%t0 5.6%.

Revenues

Operating profit (loss)

Nonoperating income (expense)

Provision for income taxes

Noncontrolling interests

Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Brink's
EPS from continuing operations attributable to Brink's

Key Metrics
Revenues Change
Organic
Currency
Total

Operating profit margin
Effective income tax rate

Fixed assets acquired
Capital expenditures
Capital leasé¥

Total

Depreciation and amortization

Amounts may not add due to rounding

Non-GAAP Outlook for 2016
1 $2.00 to $2.40 earnings per share
1 Revenues of $3.6 billion
1  Operating profit margin d6.7%
1 U.S. operating profit margin of 6%
1  Mexico operating profit margin of 10%

(&) See pages 36 and 37 for information about reconciliations to GAAP.
(b) Includes capital leases for newly acquired assets only.

23

2014 2015
2014 Adjusted Non-GAAP
GAAP Non-GAAP® Outlook® % Change
3,562 3,449 3,400
(28) 140 1737 19C
(22) (22) (21)
(37) (50) (64)7 (71)
31 (10) (11)
(55) 59 771 87
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(250 (7%)
(50) (1%)
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Analysis of Results: 2014versus2013

ConsolidatedResults

Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 % Change
(In millions, except for per share amounts)

GAAP

Revenues $ 35623 3,778.6 (6)
Operating profit (loss) (27.5 163.2 unfav
Income (loss) from continuing operatihs (54.8 66.0 unfav
Diluted EPS from continuing operatidfis $ 112 1.35 unfav
NonGAAPY

Revenues $ 35623 3,778.6 (6)
Operating profit 169.0 227.3 (26)
Income from continuing operatidi's 73.2 104.5 (30)
Diluted EPS from continuing operatidfis $ 1.49 2.13 (30)
(@ Amounts reported in this table are attributable tointerdss. sharehol ders of Brinko6s

(b) Non-GAAP results are reconcdeto the applicable GAAP results on pages336

Analysis of Consolidated Results: 2014 versus 2013 (GAAP basis)
Consolidated RevenueRevenueslecreased $216.3 million or 6% due to unfavorable changes in currency exchange rates ($740.3 million),
partially offset by organic growth in Latin America ($396.8 million), Payment Services ($49.4 million), Brazil ($43.2)nHIBA ($22.9
million) andthe U.S. ($20.3 million). A significant portion of the reduction in revenues from currency exchange rates relates to an 88%
devaluation of the Venezuelan bolivar in March 2014. The U.S. dollar also strengthened in the second half of 2014 ayairesidimost
currencies in Latin America including the Brazilian real and Mexican peso. Revenues increased 14% on an organic besystduegner
average selling prices (including the effects of inflation in several Latin American countries). 8eepa® f or our definiti c

Consolidated Costs aneixpensesCost of revenues decreased 4% to $2,948.2 million as higher labor costs from ibiéesEmhwage
increases were more than offset by changes in currency rates, including devalléinaeznela.Selling, general and administrative costs
increased 3% to $560.6 million due primarily to higher labor costs, partially offset by changes in currency exchangedatg,davaluation
in Venezuela.

Consolidated Operating Profit (Los€)pemting profit decreased $190.7 million due mainly to:
1 the negative impact of changes in currency exchange rates ($206.6), including a $121.6 million charge related to tlememeasur
of net monetary assets as a result of the 88% devaluation of Venaauetecy (compared to a $13.4 million charge for a 16%
devaluation in 2013) and lower translated U.S. dollar operating profit in Venezuela due to the 2014 devalulation,
1 costs associated with the recently announced restructuring plan ($21.8 million),
1 higherU.S. pension costs ($20.2 million) and
1 an organic profit decrease in Mexico ($16.6 million)
partially offsetby the gain on saleof our noncontrollingequityinterestin a CIT businessn Peru($44.3million) andorganicprofit
improvementn Latin America($28.5million) andthe U.S. ($10.0million).

Consolidatedncome (Loss)from Continuing OperationsAttributableto B r i rakdiRelatedPer Share Amounts Income
from continuingoperationsttributableto B r i rshai@lwolderin 2014decrease®120.8million to alossof $54.8million primarily dueto the
operatingprofit decreasenentionedabove partially offsetby the correspondindower incomeattibutableto noncontrollinginterest$55.2
million) andlower tax expensé$12.6million). Earningspersharefrom continuingoperationsvasnegative$1.12,downfrom $1.35in 2013.

Analysis of Consolidated Results: 2014 versus 2013 (NGAAP basis)
Consolidated RevenuesThe analysis of NoiGAAP revenues is the same as the analysis of GAAP revenues.

Consolidated Operating ProfiDperatingprofit decrease58.3million in 2014 primarily dueto the negativeimpactof changesn
currencyexchangeates($82.2million) andanorganicprofit decreasén Mexico ($16.6million), partially offsetby organicgrowthin Latin
America($28.5million) andthe U.S. ($10.0million).

Consolidatedncomefrom Continuing OperationsAttributableto B r i rakd@&elatedPer Share Amounts Incomefrom
continuingoperationsttributableto B r i rsha@mlders 2014decrease@0% primarily dueto the operatingprofit decreasenentioned
abowe, partially offsetby the correspondindower tax expensg$13.0million) andlower incomeattributableto noncontrollinginterest§$11.9
million). Earningspersharefrom continuingoperationsvas$1.49,downfrom $2.13in 2013.
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Revenuesand Operating Profit by Segment:2014versus2013

Organic Acquisitions / Currency % Change

(In millions) 2013 Change Dispositions (& (b) 2014 Total Organic

Revenues:

U.S. $ 707.5 20.3 - - 727.8 3 3
France 517.6 (0.1 - (0.1 517.4 - -
Mexico 423.9 (19.0 - (16.7 388.2 8) 4)
Brazil 354.4 43.2 - (33.5 364.1 3 12
Canada 1914 1.4 - (13.1 179.7 (6) 1
Largest 5 Markets 2,194.8 45.8 - (63.4 2,177.2 1) 2
Latin America 854.2 396.8 - (658.6 592.4 (31) 46
EMEA 540.6 22.9 - (7.2 556.3 3 4
Asia 134.2 9.1 - (3.5) 139.8 4 7
Global Markets 1,529.0 428.8 - (669.3 1,288.5 (16) 28
Payment Services 54.8 49.4 - (7.6) 96.6 76 90
Total $ 3,778.6 524.0 - (740.3 3,562.3 (6) 14

Operating profit:

U.S. $ 12.8 10.0 - - 22.8 78 78
France 445 (4.6) - (0.5 394 (11) (20)
Mexico 26.9 (16.6 - (0.7 9.6 (64) (62)
Brazil 41.1 (3.0 - 3.9 34.2 17) @
Canada 10.5 3.3 - (1.0) 12.8 22 31
Largest 5 Markets 135.8 (10.9 - (6.1) 118.8 (13) (8)
Latin America 136.2 28.5 - (74.1 90.6 (33) 21
EMEA 47.0 6.6 - (1.1 52.5 12 14
Asia 21.0 2.4 - (0.3) 23.1 10 11
Global Markets 204.2 37.5 - (75.5 166.2 (19) 18
Payment Services 1.0 (5.3) - (0.6) (4.9) unfav unfav
Corporate itenf8 (113.7 2.6 - - (111.1 ) 7))
Operating profit - non-GAAP 227.3 239 - (82.2 169.0 (26) 11
Other items not allocated to segméhts (64.1 (51.6 43.6 (124.4 (196.5 unfay 80
Operating profit (loss) - GAAP $ 163.2 (27.7 43.6 (206.6 (27.5 unfay a7

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

(@) Includes operating results and gains/losses on acquisitions, sales and exits of businesses. The 2014 divestitungiofabh eguite st i n a business in Pe
items not allocated to segmentso.

(b) The ACurrencyo amount in the GAAP table is the sum o frdetunderhighhoinflationhryacauntingency ch
rul es . The fAimonthly currency changeo is equal t o t hrgbyRoentrehasisensultipied byQhe diffeeence n g Pr
in rates used to translate the current period amounts to U.S. dollars versasslaion rates used in the y@ao month. Venezuela is translated to the U.S. dollar under
highly inflationary accounting rules. Net monetary assets in local currency are remeasured to U.S. dollars using barrgetraies with losses recogniae@arnings.
Nonmonetary assets under these rules are not remeasured to a lower basis in U.S. dollars when the currency deva)|tiesselasi®eatd retain their higher U.S. dollar
historical bases and the excess basis is recognized in earninghas@as et i s consumed. Both of these effeeldAAP are i n
table excludes any excess basis recognized in earnings as the nonmonetary assets are consumed.

(c) Corporate items are not allocated to segment resultgpo@de items include salaries and other costs to manage the global business.

(d) See page 30 for more information.
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Analysis of SegmentResults: 2014versus2013

Largest 5 Markets

U.S. Revenueincreased% ($20.3million) dueto organicrevenuegrowth asa resultof volumeincreases. Operatingprofit increased8%
($10.0million) dueto costefficiency measuresandchangedo the structureof employeebenefits.

France Revenuesvereflat bothoverallaswell ason anorganicbasis,drivenby low growthin volumesoffsetby unfavorablepricing.
Operatingprofit decreased 1% ($5.1million) dueto highercosts,ncludinginvestmentso transformthe businessandtheunfavorablepricing
mentionedabove.

Mexico Revenueslecrease8% ($35.7million) dueto a 4% organicdecreas€$19.0million) onthelossof amajorcustomeraswell as
unfavorablecurrencyimpact($16.7million). Operatingprofit decrease@4% ($17.3million) dueto thedeclinein revenuesandincreased
insurancecosts partially offsetby costreductionefforts.

Brazil Revenuesncreased% ($9.7million) primarily dueto 12% organicgrowth ($43.2million) resultingfrom priceincreasesndgrowth
in CompuSafepartially offsetby the negativeimpactof currencyexchangeates($33.5million). Operatingprofit decreased 7% ($6.9
million) drivenby unfavorablecurrency($3.9million) andlower organicprofits resultingfrom favorablenorrincometax settlementsn 2013,
partially offsetby organicgrowth.

Canada Revenueslecrease@% ($11.7million) primarily dueto the negativeimpactof currencyexchangeates($13.1million), partially
offsetby organicgrowth ($1.4million). Operatingprofit increased®2%($2.3million) drivenby lower pensioncosts partially offsetby
negativecurrency($1.0).

Global Markets

Latin America Revenueslecrease81%($261.8million) primarily dueto the negativeimpactof currencyexchangeates($658.6million)
partially offsetby organicgrowth of 46% ($396.8million) drivenby inflation-basedevenuencreasein VenezuelandArgentina. Operating
profit decrease83% ($45.6million) drivenby unfavorablecurrencyimpact($74.1million) andlower organicresultsin ColombiaandChile,
partially offsetby improvedorganicresultsin VenezuelaandArgentina.

EMEA Revenuedncreased3% ($15.7million) primarily dueto organicgrowth ($22.9million) partially offsetby unfavorablechangesn
exchangeates($7.2million). Organicgrowthwasdrivenby bettervolumeandpricingin Germanyandincreased/olumesin Russia.

Operatingprofit increased 2% ($5.5million) dueto higherrevenuesn GermanyandRussia.

Asia Revenuedncreasedi% ($5.6million) duemainlyto organicgrowthacrosgheregionpartially offsetby unfavorablecurrencyimpact
($3.5million). Operatingprofit increased.0% ($2.1million) primarily dueto therevenuegrowth.

PaymentServices

PaymentServicesRevenueincreased 6% ($41.8million) primarily dueto organicgrowthin Brazil. Operatingprofit decrease5.9
million drivenby marketingexpenditureso increasecardholdersn theU.S. Payment$usiness.
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Analysis of Results: 2013versus2012

ConsolidatedResults

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012 % Change
(In millions, except for per share amounts)

GAAP

Revenues $ 3,778.6 3,5677.6 6
Operating profit 163.2 162.2 1
Income from continuing operatiofs 66.0 102.3 (35)
Diluted EPS from continuing operatidis $ 1.35 2.11 (36)
Non-GAAP®

Revenues $ 3,778.6 3,5677.6 6
Operating profit 227.3 207.0 10
Income from continuing operatidfs 104.5 97.8 7
Diluted EPS from continuing operatidis $ 2.13 2.01 6
(@ Amounts reported in this table are attributable tointerdsis. sharehol ders of Brinkos

(b) Non-GAAP results are reconciled to the applicable GAAP results on pag83.36

Analysis of Consolidated Results: 2013 versus 2012 (GAAP basis)
Consolidated RevenuesRevenuesncreased $201.0 million or 6% primarily due to organic growth in Latin America ($210.5 million),
EMEA ($29.9 million) and Brazil ($28.6 million), partially offset by unfavorable changes in currency exchange rates ($ilibn)7 m
Revenues increased 88 an organic basis due mainly to higher average selling prices (including the effects of inflation in several Latin
American countries). See page 22 for our definition of HAorgani

Consolidated Costs and Expens€&®st of revenues increased 6% to $9,@5million driven by higher labor costs from inflatibased
wage increasesSelling, general and administrative costs increased 3% to $546.8 million due primarily to higher labor costs.

Consolidated Operating Profit (Los€)perating profit increased 1ée mainly to organic growth in Latin America ($64.0 million) and
Mexico ($8.5 million), partially offset by:
1 the negative impact of changes in currency exchange rates ($35.8), including a $13.4 million charge related to the mhedsurem
net monetaryssets as a result of the devaluation of Venezuela currency
1 an organic decrease in the U.S. ($19.2 million)
1 the $18.7 million loss related to the February 2013 robbery in Brussels, Belgium, and
1 anincrease in expenses related to the implementation of fina@we shared service center.

Consolidatedncomefrom Continuing OperationsAttributableto B r i rakd&slatedPer ShareAmounts Incomefrom
continuingoperationsttributableio B r i rsHai@lwlders 2013decrease@5% comparedo 2012primarily dueto highertax expens€$26.3
million) mainly resultingfrom a$21.1million tax benefitrelatedto achangen retireehealthcardundingstrategyin 2012, lower interestand
othernonoperatingncome($5.5million), andhigherincomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestg$3.5million). Earningspersharefrom
continuingoperationsvas$1.35,downfrom $2.11in 2012.

Analysis of Consolidated Results: 2013 versus 2012 (N@AAP basis)
Consolidated RevenuesThe analysis of NoiGAAP revenues is the same as the analysis of GAAP revenues.

Consolidated Operating Profit (Los€)perating profit increased 10% due mainly to organawth in Latin America ($64.0 million) and
Mexico ($8.5 million), partially offset by:

1 the negative impact of changes in currency exchange rates ($21.1 million),

1 an organic decrease in the U.S. ($19.2 million)

1 the $18.7 million loss related to the Febs2013 robbery in Brussels, Belgium, and

1 anincrease in expenses related to the implementation of a new finance shared service center.

Consolidatedncomefrom Continuing OperationsAttributableto B r i rakd@&elatedPer ShareAmounts Incomefrom
continuingoperationsattributableto B r i rsha@imolders 2013increased % primarily dueto the operatingprofit increasementionedabove,
partially offsetby higherincomeattributableto noncontrollinginterest$10.6million). Earning persharefrom continuingoperationsvas
$2.13,up from $2.01in 2012.
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Revenuesand Operating Profit by Segment:2013versus2012

(In millions)
Revenues:

u.s.
France
Mexico
Brazil
Canada

Acquisitions /

Largest 5 Markets
Latin America
EMEA
Asia

Global Markets
Payment Services

Total

Operating profit:
uU.S.

France
Mexico
Brazil
Canada

Largest 5 Markets
Latin America
EMEA
Asia

Global Markets
Payment Services
Corporate itenf8

Operating profit - non-GAAP

Other items not allocated to segméhts

Operating profit - GAAP

Organic Dispositions Currency % Change

2012 Change (€)] (b) 2013 Total Organic
706.7 0.8 - - 707.5 - -
511.4 (10.5; - 16.7 517.6 1 2)
395.0 155 - 13.4 423.9 7 4
363.6 28.6 - (37.8 354.4 ?3) 8
187.5 9.8 - (5.9 1914 2 5
2,164.2 44.2 - (13.6] 2,194.8 1 2
744.4 210.5 1.7 (102.4 854.2 15 28
503.1 29.9 - 7.6 540.6 7 6
125.9 13.3 - (5.0) 134.2 7 11
1,373.4 253.7 1.7 (99.8' 1,529.0 11 18
40.0 5.2 13.9 (4.3) 54.8 37 13
3,577.6 303.1 15.6 (117.7 3,778.6 6 8
32.0 (19.2 - - 12.8 (60) (60)
39.7 3.1 - 17 445 12 8
17.7 8.5 - 0.7 26.9 52 48
39.9 6.1 - 4.9 411 3 15
9.3 1.6 - 0.4) 10.5 13 17
138.6 0.1 - (2.9) 135.8 (2) -
90.0 64.0 0.3 (18.1 136.2 51 71
45.3 1.2 - 0.5 47.0 4 3
14.8 6.5 - 0.3 21.0 42 44
150.1 71.7 0.3 7.9 204.2 36 48
1.2 a4 15 0.3) 1.0 a7 unfay
(82.9 (30.8 - - (113.7 37 37
207.0 39.6 1.8 (21.1° 227.3 10 19
(44.8 4.1 8.7) 4.7 (64.1 (43) 9)
162.2 43.7 (6.9) (35.8 163.2 1 27

Amountsmay notadddueto rounding.

Seepage25 for footnotes.
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Analysis of SegmentResults: 2013versus2012

Largest 5 Markets

U.S. Revenuesvereflat dueto CIT volumeandprice pressure.Operatingprofit decrease0% ($19.2million) asaresultof lower CIT
demandandcontinuedpricing pressure.

France Revenueincreasedy 1% ($6.2million) dueto favorableeffectof currencyexchangeates($16.7million), partially offsetby an
organicdecreas€$10.5million). Revenueslecreasedn anorganicbasisby 2% dueto a customeioss. Operatingprofit increased. 2% ($4.8
million) duemainlyto thebenefitof achangdn taxlegislationin France.

Mexico Revenuesncreased% ($28.9million) dueto a4% organicincreasg$15.5million) dueto growthin volumes. Operatingprofit
increase2% ($9.2million) onvolumegrowth andproductivityinitiatives.

Brazil Revenueslecrease8% ($9.2million) primarily dueto the negativeimpactof currencyexchangeates($37.8million) partially offset
by 8% organicgrowth ($28.6million). Operatingprofit increased®% ($1.2million) drivenby favorabletax settliementsffsetby unfavorable
effectof curreny exchangeates($37.8million).

Canada Revenuesncreased®% ($3.9million) primarily dueto 5% organicgrowth ($9.8million), partially offsetby the negativeimpactof
currencyexchangeates($5.9million). Operatingprofit increased 3% ($1.2million) primarily asa resultof organicrevenuegrowth.

Global Markets

Latin America Revenuesncreased.5% ($109.8million) primarily dueto organicgrowthin VenezuelaandArgentina,partially offsetby the
negativeimpactof currencyexchangeates($102.4million). Operatingprofit increased1% ($46.2million) drivenby higherprofitsin
Venezuelaprganicgrowthin Argentina,including2012write-offs of Argentineargovernmenteceivableg$4.1million), andorganicgrowth
in Chile, partially offsetby unfavorablecurrencyimpact($18.1million).

EMEA Revenuesncreased% ($37.5million) primarily dueto organicgrowthfrom highervolumesin Ireland,SwitzerlandandRussia.
Operatingprofit increasedt% ($1.7million) drivenby organicincreagsin Russia,SwitzerlandandLuxembourgpartially offsetby organic

decreasem GermanyMoroccoandGreece.

Asia Revenueincreased% ($8.3million) duemainlyto organicgrowthacrosgheregionpartially offsetby unfavorablecurrencyimpact
($5.0million). Operatingprofit increased2% ($6.2million) drivenby organicincreasesn HongKong andSingapore.

Payment Services

PaymentServicesRevenueincrease®7% ($14.8million) primarily dueto anacquisitionin Brazil ($13.9million). Operatingprofit was
downorganicallydueto investmenin the U.S. paymentsusines®ffsetby anincreasedueto the acqusition.
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Income and ExpenseNot Allocated to Segments

Corporate Iltems

Years Ended December 31, % change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
General, administrative and other expenses $ (108.8 (116.4 (87.4 (@) 33
Reconciliation of segment policies to GAAP 2.3 2.7 4.5 unfav (40)
Corporate items $ (1111 (113.7 (82.9 (2) 37

Corporatatemsin 2014were$2.6million lower than2013,mainly dueto lower generalandadministrativecosts.

Corporatatemsin 2013were$30.8million higherthan2012,mainly dueto highersecuritycostsrelatedto the February2013robberyin
BrusselsBelgium,andhighercostsassociateavith the developmenandimplementatiorof a newfinancesharedservicecenter.

Other Items Not Allocated to Segments

Years Ended December 31, % change

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
FX devaluation in Venezuela $ (1427 (14.6, - unfav unfav
U.S. retirement plans (73.1] (52.9, (56.2, 38 (6)
2014 Reorganization and Restructuring (21.8 - - unfav -
Acquisitions and dispositions 49.4 5.8 14.6 fav (60)
Mexican settlement losses (5.9 (2.4 (3.2 unfav (25)
Sharebased compensation adj. 2.4, - - unfav -

Total $ (196.5 (64.1 (44.8 unfav 43

Seenote2 on page75to the consolidatedinancial statementfor explanation®f eachof the otheritemsnotallocatedto segments.

2014versus2013

Otheritemsnotallocatedto segmentsvasa higherexpensen 2014comparedo 2013primarily dueto higherlossedrom devaluationsn
Venezuelaaccrualdor severancexpenseselatedto the 2014Reorganizatiorand Restructuringandhigherexpenseselatedto U.S.
retirementplans partially offsetby highergainsfrom acquisitionsanddispositiongprincipally, the saleof aninvestmenin a CIT business
operatingn Peru).

2013versus2012
Otheritemsnot allocatedto segmentsvasa higherexpensen 2013comparedo 2012primaily dueto lossedrom devaluationsn Venezuela
in 2013andlower gainsfrom acquisitionsanddispositions.

20150utlook

We will likely recognizeadditionaltransactioriossegelatedto our netmonetaryassetdieldin Venezuela.Seepageb9, ITEM 7A.
Quantitativeand Qualitative DisclosuresaboutMarketi ForeignCurrencyRisks for the estimatedeffectsof potentialcurrencydevaluations
in Venezuela.Seepage47 for a5-yearprojectionof expensevasedon currentassumptiongor our significantU.S. retirementplans. We are
not ableto estimatehe amountof settlemenexpensesf our Mexicansubsidiaries.
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Other Operating Income and Expense

Otheroperatingncomeandexpenséncludesamountsncludedin segmenaswell asincomeandexpensenot allocatedto segments.

Years Ended December 31, % change

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Foreign currency items:

Transaction losses $ (130.8 (20.2] (4.0 unfav unfav

Hedge gains (losses) 14 0.4, 0.2 fav unfav
Gains on sale of property and other assets 44.9 2.4 7.6 fav (68)
Impairment losses 3.3 (2.9 (2.4 14 21
Share in earnings of equity affiliates 4.3 6.7 6.0 (36) 12
Royalty income 15 1.9 2.1 (21) (10)
Gains on business acquisitions and dispositions - 2.8 0.8 (200 fav
Other 1.0 0.3 0.9 fav (67)

Other operating income and expense $ (81.0 9.4 11.2 unfav unfav

2014 versus 2013

Other operating expense increased in 2014 primarily as a result of a remeasurement of net monetary assets in Vendheadajteoto of

t he g over nnilewrengysexcBahge précess partially offset by a $44.3 million gain on the sale of an equity interest in a CIT
business in Peru. See note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for a description of the change in currencyecessegarn rates
in Venezuela.

2013 versus 2012
Other operating income decreased to a loss in 2013 primarily as a result of unfavorable factors including:
1 $16.2 million in higher foreign currency exchange losses related primarily to the February 2013 devaluatiofiic&tlexchange
rate in Venezuela ($13.4 million) and converting Argentinean pesos to U.S. dollars ($2.0 million)
1 a$7.2 million gain on sale of real estate in Venezuela in 2012
partially offset by
1 $1.7 million in gains from favorable purchase p@cgustments primarily related to a January 2013 purchase of a Payment Services
business in Brazil
1 a$1.1 million gain related to favorable purchase price adjustment for the 2010 Mexico acquisition.

2015 Outlook

We may recognize additional transaction losses related to our net monetary assets held in Venezuela. SEeEpAFA SQuantitativeand
Qualitative DisclosuresaboutMarketi Foreign CurrencyRisks for the estimatedeffectsof potentialcurrencydevduationsin Venezuela.
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Nonoperating Income and Expense

InterestExpense
Years Ended December 31, % change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Interest expense $ 234 25.1 23.1 (7) 9

Interestexpenseavasslightly lowerin 2014comparedo 2013dueto lower weightedaveragenterestrates partially offsetby higheraverage
borrowings.

Interestexpenseavasslightly higherin 2013comparedo 2012dueto anincreasen averageborrowingsin the currentyear.

Interestand Other Income

Years Ended December 31, % change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Interest income $ 3.0 2.7 4.6 11 (41)
Gain on availabldor-sale securities 0.4 0.4 2.9 - (86)
Foreign currency hedge losses (2.0 (1.0 - - unfav
Other (0.5 0.6 (0.5) an 20
Interest and other income (expense) $ 1.9 1.5 7.0 27 (79)

Interest and other income (expense) was slightly higher in 2014 compared to 2013 primarily due to higher interest income.

Interest and other imene (expense) was lower in 2013 compared to 2012 primarily due to:
1 a$2.5 million decrease in gain on availafilesale securities as we realized gains in 2012 on security sales to fund pension
payments to former executives
T a$1.9 million decrease in im&st income primarily due to lower amounts of investments in India as iréameshg shorterm
investments were sold to fund the repurchase of noncontrolling interest shares in our Indian subsidiary
1 $1.0 million in foreign currency hedge losses in 26dlated to a cross currency swap contract.

Outlook for 2015 (GAAP and NoiGAAP)
We expect nonoperating expense of $21 million in 2015 versus $22 million in 2014.

See page 23 for a summary of our 2015 outlook and page 37 for information about reconciliation to GAAP.
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Income Taxes

Summary Rate Reconciliation GAAP

(In percentages) 2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increases (reductions) in taxes due to:
Venezuela devaluation (86.4 - -
Adjustments to valuation allowances (16.9 4.2 11
Foreign income taxes 0.7, 6.7, (1.8
Medicaresubsidy for retirement plans - (1.1 (15.6
French business tax 9.1 3.2 3.0
Taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign affiliates 3.7, (0.1 (2.4,
State income taxes, net 5.2 0.1 (0.1
Change in judgment about uncertain tax positions in Mexico - - (5.1)
Other 1.7 0.9 1.6
Income tax rate on continuing operations (74.9% 35.3% 15.7 %
SummaryRateReconciliationi Non-GAAP®
(In percentages) 2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Increases (reductions) iaxes due to:
Adjustments to valuation allowances 5.6 1.6 0.8
French business tax 3.0 2.2 2.3
Other (5.1 (4.6 -
Income tax rate on Ne@AAP continuing operations 38.5% 34.2% 38.1%

(@) See pages 387 for a reconciliation of neBAAP results to GAAP.

Overview

Our effective tax rate has varied in the past three years from the statutory U.S. federal rate due to various fadtgs, includ
1 changes in judgment about theed for valuation allowances

changes in the geographical mix of earnings
nontaxable acquisition gains and losses
changes in laws in the U.S., France and Mexico

=a =4 =4 -8 -8 -9

state income taxes

changes in the foreign
timing of benefitrecognition for uncertain tax positions

currency

rate used

to

measur e

Venezu

We establish or reverse valuation allowances for deferred tax assets depending on all available information includalg@hidtexpected
future operating performance of our subsidiariesar@es in judgment about the future realization of deferred tax assets can result in
significant adjustments to the valuation allowances. Based on our historical and future expected taxable earnings, itvis aties/likely
than not that we will reae the benefit of the deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances.

Continuing Operations
2014 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effectiveincometax rateon continuingoperationsn 2014waslower thanthe35%U.S. statutorytax rate (negative75%) primarily dueto
asignificantVenezuelaurrencyremeasurememdss,which waslargelynon-deductible. Excludingtheremeasuremeross,the effective
incometax ratewashigherthanthe 35%U.S. statutorytax ratedueto $9.9million of tax expensdrom crossborderpaymentand$4.4million
of tax expensalueto the characterizatiof a Frenchbusinessax asanincometax, mostly offsetby a $4.6million tax benefitdueto the
jurisdictionalmix of earningdncludingthefavorableVenezuelgpermaneninflation adjustment.
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2013 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effective income tax rate on continuing operations in 2013 sippated the 35% U.S. statutory tax rate due to $6.1 million of tax expense
from cross border payments and $4.4 million of tax expense due to the characterization of a French business tax aannmestiyeffset

by a $8.4 million tax benefit due the jurisdictional mix of earnings including the favorable Venezuela permanent inflation adjustment.

2012 Compared to U.S. Statutory Rate

The effective income tax rate on continuing operations in 2012 was lower than the 35% U.S. statutory tax radedai@ely21.1 million
noncash tax benefit related to a change in retiree healthcare funding strategy and a $7.5 million tax benefit relatecktn quciggngnt on
uncertain tax positions, partially offset by $5.7 million of tax expense due tortbdigtional mix of earnings and the characterization of a
French business tax as an income tax.

Outlook for 2015

On a NonGAAP basis, the effective income tax rate for 2015 is expected to be 42%. Our effective tax rate may fluctuate maneiay fr
due to changes in permanent bdak differences, changes in the expected geographical mix of earnings, changesnnor deferred taxes
due to legislative changes, changes in valuation allowances or accruals for contingencies and othe3dagtage 23 for a summary of our
20150utlook and pages 887 for information about reconciliations to GAAP.

Other

As of December 31, 2014, we have not recorded U.S. federal deferred income taxes on approximately $78 million of uhdatmibgte of
foreign subsidiaries and equity affiliates in accordance with FASB ASC Topidnétine TaxesWe expect that thesarnings will be
permanently reinvested in operations outside the U.S. It is not praoté=tkermine the income tax liability that might be incurred if all such
income was remitted to the U.S. due to the inherent complexities associated with ahgtigglatalculation, which would be dependent upon
the exact form of repatriation.

Noncontrolling Interests

Years Ended December 31, % change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests $ (30.9 24.3 20.8 unfav 17

Thenetlossattributableto noncontrollinginterestan 2014wasprimarily dueto currencylossesof our Venezuelarsubsidiary. We recognized
$121.6million of currencyexcharmgelossesasaresultof the March2014currencydevaluatiorin Venezueldrom theremeasuremeruf net
monetaryassets.We alsorecognizeds21.1million of incrementakxpenseelatedto nonmonetarassetsn 2014becausef thedevaluation.
Nonmonetanassetsverenot remeasuretb alower basiswhenthe currencydevalued.Instead underhighly inflationaryaccountingules,
theseassetsetainedtheir higherhistoricalbaseswith theexcessecognizedn earningsasthe asseis consumedThe aftertax effectof these
currencyrelatedlossesattributableto noncontrollinginterestavas$47.8million in 2014.

Theincreasen netincomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestan 2013wasprimarily dueto anincreasen netincomeof our Venezuelan
subsidiaries.

Outlook for 2015

We expectnetincomeattributableto noncontrollinginterestson anonGAAP basisin 2015to be$11million ascomparedo anetloss
attributableto noncontrollinginterestsof $31 million in 2014($18million onaNon-GAAP basisand$10million on anAdjustedNon-GAAP
basisin 2014). Our 20150utlookreflectsan expecteddecreasén earningsrom our Venezuelarsubsidiaries.Seepage23 for asummaryof
our20150utlookandpage37 for informationaboutreconciliationgo GAAP.
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Lossfrom DiscontinuedOperations

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Loss from operatior&® $ (13.3) (17.4) (9.5)
Gain (loss) orsales (18.9) 16.3 (0.3)
Adjustments to contingencies of former operatitns

Workers' compensation (4.4) .7) (0.2)

Insurance recoveries related to BAX Global indemnificétion 9.5 - -

Other (1.6) 1.0 (0.3)
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes (28.7) (1.8) (10.3)
Provision for income taxes 0.4 7.4 3.1
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (29.1) (9.2) (13.4)

(a) Discontinued operations include gains and losses related to businesses that we recently sold or shut down or thabwelbxp20Lb. No interest expense was included in

discontinued operations in 2014. Interest expense included in discontireratiaps was $0.4 million in 2013 and $0.8 million in 2012.

(b)

The loss from operations in 2014 included $15.6 million in-cash severance and impairment charges related to the Netherlandéstcaskit operations. The loss from

operations in 2013 inctled$16.2million of severance expenses paid to terminate certain employees of the Germmmntasdit operations. We contributed a portion of the

cost to fund the German severance payments to the business prior to the execution of the Decemlietr20%actaon.
(c) Primarily related to former coal businesses and BAX Global, a former freight forwarding and logistics business.

(d)

BAX Global had been defending a claim related to the apparent diversion by a third party of goods being transportedrfeara bu010, the Dutch Supreme Court denied

the final appeal of BAX Global, letting stand the lower court ruling that BAX Global was liable for this claim. We hadtcafiyr indemnified the purchaser of BAX Global
for this contingency. Through 201@¢ had recognized $11.5 million of expense related to the payment made in satisfaction of the judgment. In 2014, web@8awilfion

from insurance companies related to this matter.

Cashin-transit operations sold or shut down:

1 Poland (sold in March 2013)
Turkey (shut down in June 2013)
Hungary (sold in September 2013)
Germany (sold in December 2013)
Australia (sold in October 2014)
Puerto Rico (shut down in November 2014)
Netherlands (sold in December 2014)

=A =4 =4 -8 -8 -8

Guarding operatias sold:
1  Morocco (December 2012)
1 France (January 2013)
1 Germany (July 2013)

Other operations sold:

1 We sold Threshold Financial Technologies, Inc. in Canada in November 2013. Threshold operatelipeivaieM network and

payment processing businesses. Brinkos

1 We sdd ICD Limited and other affiliated subsidiaries in November 2013. ICD had operations in China and other locations in Asia.

ICD designed and installed security systems for commercial customers.
1 WesoldasmallMexicanparceldeliverybusinessn 2015.
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Non-GAAP ResultsReconciledto GAAP

Non-GAAP resultsdescribedn thisfiling arefinancialmeasureshatarenotrequiredby or presentedn accordancevith U.S.generally
acceptedaccountingprinciples( i G A A Phiepurposeof the Non-GAAP resultsis to reportfinancialinformationexcludng certainincome
andexpenses Amountsreportedor prior periodshavebeenupdatedn this reportto preseninformationconsistentlyfor all periodspresented.

QuarterlyNon-GAAP resultsalsoadjustthe quarterlyNon-GAAP tax ratessothatthe Non-GAAP tax ratein eachof the quarterss equalto
thefull-yearNon-GAAP taxrate. Thefull-yearNon-GAAP taxratein bothyearsexcludesertainpretaxandtaxincomeandexpense
amounts.

AdjustedNon-GAAP resultsreporthistoricalfinancialinformationassuminghatour Venezuelaroperationdhavebeenremeasuredsingarate
of 50 bolivarsto theU.S.dollar.

Theconsolidatedon-GAAP outlookamountsfor 2015and2016arenotreconciledto GAAP becausave areunableto quantifycertain
amountghatwould berequiredto beincludedin the GAAP measuresvithout unreasonableffort.

TheNon-GAAP informationprovidesinformationto assisttcomparabilityandestimateof futureperformance B r i rbélidvesthese
measurearehelpful in assessingperationsandestimatingfuture resultsandenableperiodto-periodcomparabilityof financial performance.
In addition,B r i rbédiévesthemeasuresvill helpinvestorsasesshe ongoingoperations.Non-GAAP resultsshouldnotbe consideredisan
alternativeto revenuesincomeor earningpershareamountdeterminedn accordancevith GAAP andshouldbereadin conjunctionwith
their GAAP counterparts.

AdjustedNon-GAAP and Non-GAAP ResultsReconciledto GAAP

2014 2013
Effective tax Effective tax
Pre-tax Tax rate Pre-tax Tax rate
Effective Income Tax Raté”
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 118.6 49.9 42.1% $ 135.3 56.8 42.0%
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/U$D 28.9 6.8 (3.6% 68.4 12.9 (7.8%
Non-GAAP 147.5 56.7 38.5% 203.7 69.7 34.2%
Other items not allocated to segménts (196.5 (20.0) (113.4% (64.1 (20.4) 1.1%
GAAP $ (49.0 36.7 (74.9% $ 139.6 49.3 35.3%
20129
Effective tax
Pre-tax Tax rate
Effective Income Tax Raté
Non-GAAP 188.5 71.8 38.1%
Other items not allocated to segménhts (42.4 (48.8) (22.4%
GAAP $ 146.1 23.0 15.7%

Amounts may not add due to rounding.

@
(b)

©

From continuing operations.

Effective March 24, 2 0 its4/enezBetan apérairsg reSudtsguaing currenoy e@xalizange iatesgeported under a newly established currency exchamge process i
publ i a-BARA® opfrating ptofit,inagflGAAR inconeedream h a s
continuing operations and for n@AAP EPS, we include an adjustment to reflect lower revenues and operating profit as a result of a hypothetical remeasuref@ent n k 6 s
Venezuel ads 2013 aemubsdnd opevating cesubisrusing a rat@ & 904olivaes to the U.S. dollar, which approximates the rate observed h ther&1€Fs in

Venezuela (the ASICAD 11

March 2014.

processo) .

The

rate

See fAOther Items Not Al | oc ataxesourfsoandSietailsn ©thedr Beots Milocatqr §@Segmerds for monconprallieg interests, income from

continuing operations attributable to Brink's and EPS are the effects of the same items at their respective line iteonsolfdhged statements of income (loss).

Adjusted NORGAAP reallts are not provided for 2012.

36

aver



AdjustedNon-GAAP and Non-GAAP reconciledto GAAP

Years Ended December 31

(In millions) 2014 2013 20129
Revenues:
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 3,449.2 3,387.1 N/A
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/USDH 113.1 391.5 N/A
Non-GAAP and GAAP $ 3,562.3 3,778.6 3,577.6
Operating profit (loss):
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 140.1 158.4 N/A
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/U$D 28.9 68.9 N/A
Non-GAAP 169.0 227.3 207.0
Other items not allocated to segménts (196.5 (64.1, (44.8
GAAP $ (27.5 163.2 162.2
Provision for income taxes:
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 49.9 56.8 N/A
Effectof Venezuela at 50 VEF/USD 6.8 12.9 N/A
Non-GAAP 56.7 69.7 71.8
Other items not allocated to segménts (20.0 (204 (48.8
GAAP $ 36.7 49.3 23.0
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrollinginterests:
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 10.0 10.2 N/A
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/U$D 7.6 19.3 N/A
Non-GAAP 17.6 295 18.9
Other items not allocated to segménts (48.5 (5.2 1.9
GAAP 3$ (30.9 24.3 20.8
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Brink's:
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 58.7 68.3 N/A
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/U$D 14.5 36.2 N/A
Non-GAAP 73.2 104.5 97.8
Other items nogllocated to segmerits (128.0 (38.5 4.5
GAAP $ (54.8 66.0 102.3
Diluted EPS
Adjusted NoRGAAP $ 1.20 1.40 N/A
Effect of Venezuela at 50 VEF/USD 0.30 0.74 N/A
Non-GAAP 1.49 2.13 2.01
Other items not allocated to segménts (2.61 (0.78 0.10
GAAP $ (1.12 1.35 2.11
Adjusted NoRGAAP margin 4.1% 4.7% N/A

Amountsmay notadddueto rounding.

Seepage36 for footnoteexplanations.
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Foreign Operations

We currentlyservecustomersn morethan100 countriesjncluding41 countrieswherewe operatesubsidiaries.

We aresubjectto risks customarilyassociateavith doingbusinessn foreigncountriesjncludinglaborandeconomiccondiions, political
instability, controlson repatriationof earningsandcapital,nationalizationexpropriationandotherforms of restrictiveactionby local
governments.Changesn thepolitical or economicenvironmentsn the countriesin which we operae could havea materialadversesffecton
our businessfinancial conditionandresultsof operations.Thefuture effects,if any, of theserisksareunknown.

Ourinternationalbperationsonducta majority of their businessn local currenciesBecauseur financial resultsarereportedin U.S.dollars,
theyareaffectedby changesn thevalueof variouslocal currenciesn relationto theU.S.dollar. Recentstrengtheningf theU.S.dollar has
reducedbur reporteddollar revenuesndoperatingprofit, which maycontinuein 2015. B r i nV&nézsields subjectto locallawsand
regulatoryinterpretationghatdeterminethe exchangeateat which repatriatingdividendsmaybeconvertedandB r i rAfgénsnamayin the
future be subjectto similar restrictions. SeeApplication of Critical AccountingPolicie®d ForeignCurrencyTranslationon pagess6-57 for a
descriptionof our accountingnethodsandassumptionsisedto includeour Venezuelaroperationin our consolidatedinancial statementsand
adescriptionof theaccountingor subsidiarie®peratingn highly inflationaryeconomies.

Changesn exchangeatesmayalsoaffecttransactionsvhich aredenominagdin currencieotherthanthefunctionalcurrency. Fromtime to
time, we useforeign currencyforward andswapcontractdo hedgetransactionatisks associateavith foreign currenciesasdiscussedh Item
7A onpage59. At DecembeB31,2014,thenotional valueof our shortertermoutstandingoreign currencycontractsvas$43.0million with
averagecontractmaturitiesof approximatelyl month. Theseshortertermforeigncurrencycontractgprimarily offsetexposuresn the Mexican
pesoandthe euro.Additionally, theseshortertermcontractsarenot designategshedgedor accountingourposesandaccordingly,changesn
their fair valuearerecordedmmediatelyin earnings.We recognizedjainsof $1.4million on theseforeigncurrencycontractan 2014. At
DecembeBl, 2014 thefair valueof theseoutstandindoreign currencycontractavasnot significant.

We alsohavealongertermcrosscurrencyswapcontractto hedgeexposuren Brazilianrealwhich is designatedsa cashflow hedgefor
accountingourposesAt DecembeB1, 2014 the notionalvalueof this longertermcontractwas$20.8million with aweightedaverage
maturity of 1.6 years We recognizechetgainsof $0.9million on this contract,of which gainsof $1.9million wereincludedin otheroperating
income(expensejo offsettransactiolossesof $1.9million andexpensesf $1.0million wereincludedin interestandotherincome(expense)
in 2014 At DecembeB1,2014thefair valueof thelongertermcrosscurrencyswapcontractwas$5.5million, of which $1.1million is
includedin prepaidexpensesndotherand$4.4million is includedin otherasset®n the consolidatedalancesheet.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

Over the last three years, we used cash generated from our operations, proceeds from sales of investments and borrowings to
1 investin the infrastructure of our business (new facilities, cash sorting and other equipment for our Cash Manageresnt Servic
operations, armored trucks, CompuS$aiaits, and information technology) ($480 million),
1 contribute funds to a U.S. pensiplan ($114 million),
1 acquire businesses and noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries ($81 million), and
T pay dividends to Brinkds shareholders ($58 million).

Cashflows from operatingactivitiesdecreaseth both2014and2013comparedo theprior year.We hadlower operatingprofit andhigher
pensionpaymentsn 2014comparedo 2013. Changesn working capitalandcashowedto customersinfavorablyaffectedcashflows from
operatingactivitiesin 2013comparedo 2012. Cashusedfor investingactivities declinedin both2014and2013comparedo theprior yearas
proceeddrom the saleof businessereducedhenetinvestingoutflowsin bothyears. We alsoreducecdbur capitalexpendituresignificantlyin
2014. Cashdecrease®129.9million in 2014asaresultof achangen the exchangeatewe usedto translatdocal currencycashinto U.S.
dollars,primarily dueto an88%devaluationin Venezuelan Marchaswell asa strengthenin@f theU.S.dollar latein theyear,particularly
againstturrenciesn RussiaandLatin America.

Outlook
1 We expect our capital expenditures (excluding assets acquired using capital leases) in 2015 to be between $145 mibon and $1
million as we continue to reduce maintenance capital spending through efficiency projects and reallocate more of outospending
growth and productivity initiatives.
1 Based on current assumptions, we do not expect to pay additional amounts to the primary U.S. pension plan in the future.
1  We expect to pay approximately $20 million in severance as a result of the 2014 Reorganization and Restructuring.

Operating Activities

Years Ended December 31, $ change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities
Non-GAAP basis (before pension contribution) $ 207.6 207.2 2291 | $ 0.4 (21.9;
Contributions to primary U.S. pension plan (87.2 (13.0 (13.4 (74.2 0.4
Non-GAAP basis (reduced by pension contribution) 120.4 194.2 215.7 (73.8 (21.5'
Increase (decrease) in certain customer obligdfions 154 9.7, 13.9 25.1 (23.6
Discontinued operatioffs 5.5 17.0 20.9 (1.5 (3.9
GAAP basis $ 141.3 201.5 2505 | $ (60.2 (49.0

(a) To eliminate the change in the balance of customer obligations related to cash received and processed in cestainref@ash Management Services operations. The title to
this cash transfers to us for a short period of tyandewe dondtbomsiderd astavailalle fargenegat al | 'y cr
corporate purposes the management of our liquidity and capital resources.

(b) To eliminate cash flows related to our discontinued operations.

Both measuGAAP odasiiNoinl ows from operating activitieso (iimecilor e an
measures that are not required by, or presented in accordance with GAAP. The purpose of tsaMoreasures is to report financial
information excluding the impact of cash received and processed in certain of our Cash Management Seatioas,opénout cash flows

from discontinued operations and with and without cash flows related to the primary U.S pensidi@laglieve these measures are helpful

in assessing cash flows from operations, enable pé&vipériod comparability and areseful in predicting future operating cash flows. These
Non-GAAP measures should not be considered as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities determined in acdo@AAce wit

and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated statero&oash flows.
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2014 versus 2013

GAAP

Operating cash flows decreased by $60.2 million in 2014 compared to ZB&3lecrease was primarily due to higher cash contributions to

our primary U.S. pension plan ($74.2 million) and lower operating préfiish from operating profit in 2014 was also lower partially because

of lower profits in U.S. dollars terms from our Venezuelan operations due to an 88% currency devaluation in the firef theaytear.

These decreases in operating cash flows wet&lpaoffset by increases in cash provided from changes in working capital, including the

timing of security loss payments and insurance recoveries, changes in customer obligations of certain of our securegéasinMa@vices
operations (cash heldif customers increased by $15.4 million in 2014 compared to a decrease of $9.7 million 2013) and lower amounts paid
for income taxes.

Non-GAAP (reduced by pension contributions)

Cash flows from operating activities decreased by $73.8 million in 2014gsaced to 2013. The decrease was primarily due to higher cash
contributions to our primary U.S. pension plan and lower operating profit partially due to currency effects on our ojreXéatizer.ela.

These decreases in operating cash flows were padfédet by increases in caphovided from changes in working capital, includthg

timing of security loss payments and insurance recoveries, and lower amounts paid for income taxes.

Non-GAAP (before pension contributions)

Cash flows from operating activities increased by $0.4 million in 2014 as compared to 2013. The increase was princacégiguevided
from changes in working capital, includittge timing of security loss payments and insurance recoveries, andalowants paid for income
taxes, partially offset by lower operating profit impacted by the currency effects in Venezuela.

2013 versus 2012

GAAP

Operating cash flows decreased by $49.0 million in 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. The deq@easgilyakie to a $23.6
million decrease in customer obligations in certain of our secure Cash Management Services operations (cash held fodeostaset by
$9.7 million in 2013 compared to an increase of $13.9 million in 2012), $19.3 milliowdegds from the sale of vatadded tax receivables
in Venezuela in 2012, an increase in cash used to fund working capital needs, and lower income from continuing opsdialipo$fspa by
$11.6 million in pension benefits paid to our former CEQQGA42. The payment of pension benefits was funded by the sale of assets in an
existing grantor trust, the proceeds of which are reported in investing activities.

Non-GAAP (before and after pension contribution)

Cash flows from operating activities degsed from 2012 by $21.9 million ($21.5 million including pension contributions). This decrease was
primarily due to $19.3 million in proceeds from the sale of valdded tax receivables in Venezuela in 2012, lower income from continuing
operations and @mges in working capital, partially offset by $11.6 million in cash paid to our former CEO in 2012.

Investing Activities

Years Ended December 31, $ change
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures $ (1361 (1729 (1709 $ 36.8 (2.0}
Acquisitions (4.6, (18.1; 17.2; 135 (0.9
Sales of availabkor-sale securities 0.9 9.9 15.4 (9.0 (5.5
Sales of other investments and property 62.7 5.9 12.5 56.8 (6.6)
Redemption of casburrender value of life insurance policies - - 6.2 - (6.2)
Other (3.6, (0.5 4.9 (3.1 (5.4
Discontinued operations (13.3 52.7 (18.2 (66.0 70.9
Investing activities $ (940 (123.0 (167.3 $ 29.0 44.3

Cashusedby investingactivitiesdecreasethy $29.0million in 2014versus2013. Thedecreasavasprimarily dueto proceed®f $59.6million
receivedon the saleof anequityinterestin aCIT businessn Peruandadecreasén capitalexpenditure®f $36.8 million primarily relatedto
informationtechnologyandotherequipmentpartially offsetby cashproceed$rom the saleof discontinuecperationsiuring2013,including
ThresholdFinancialTechnologiesnc. ($43.8million netproceeds)ICD Limited ($30.2million netproceeds)lessthe amountpaidto the
buyerof our GermanCIT operationg$13.2million netcashpaidto purchaser)
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Cashusedby investingactivitiesdecreasethy $44.3million in 2013versus2012primarily dueto proceeddrom the saleof operations.Cash
flows from investingactivitieswereotherwiselower than2012dueto a $6.6 million decreasén proceedd$rom the saleof propertyand
equipment$6.2million in proceedsrom theredemptiorof life insurancepoliciesin 2012anda $5.5million decreasén proceeddrom the
saleof availablefor-salesecurities.

Capitalexpendituresnddepreciatiorandamortizationwereasfollows:

Outlook Years Ended December 31, $ change
(In millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
Property and Equipment Acquired during the year
Capital expenditures:
Largest 5 Markets $ (a) 834 103.5 103.7 $ (20.1 0.2)
Global Markets (a) 35.2 38.1 515 (2.9 (13.4
Payment Services (a) 0.8 15 1.8 0.7 0.3
Corporate items (a) 16.7 29.8 13.9 (13.1 15.9
Capital expenditures $ 145-155 136.1 172.9 170.9 $ (36.8 2.0
Capital leasé¥’
Largest 5 Markets $ (a) 10.6 5.4 18.1 $ 5.2 12.7,
Global Markets (a) 0.3 - 0.1 0.3 (0.1)
Payment Services (a) 1.2 - - 1.2 -
Corporate items (a) - - - - -
Capital leases $ 15 121 5.4 18.2 $ 6.7 (12.8
Total:
Largest 5 Markets $ (@ 94.0 108.9 121.8 $ (149 (12.9;
Global Markets (@) 35.5 38.1 51.6 (2.6 (13.5
Payment Services (@) 2.0 15 1.8 0.5 0.3)
Corporate items (@) 16.7 29.8 13.9 (13.1 15.9
Total $ 160-170 148.2 178.3 189.1 $ (30.1 (10.8
Depreciation and amortization
Largest 5 Markets $ (a) 107.7 110.0 100.9 $ (2.3 9.1
Global Markets (@) 41.0 45.7 41.0 4.7, 4.7
Payment Services (a) 3.7 3.7 2.0 - 1.7
Corporate items (a) 9.5 6.4 4.5 3.1 1.9
Depreciation and amortization $ 160 161.9 165.8 148.4 $ (3.9 17.4

(@) Not provided.

(b) Represents the amount of property and equipment acquired using capital leases. Because theaags@tdanéthout using cash, the acquisitions are not reflected in the
consolidated cash flow statement. Amounts are provided here to assist in the comparison of assets acquired in tta garsest ygor years. Sale leaseback transactions
areext uded from ACapital |l easesodo in this table.

Our capital expenditures in the last three years have been focused on information technology to improve business prctogss fgboding
the same period we reduced our maintenance capital expenditurehifdesy and facilities while continuing to focus on safety and security.

We continue to focus on maximizing asset utilization and we have reduced our annual spend to a level more in line veitionle@ac
reinvestment ratio, which we define as the annual amount of property and equipment acquired during the year thieidedigl amount of
depreciation, was 0.9 in 2014, 1.1 in 2013, and 1.3 in 2012.

Capital expenditures in 2014 for our operating units were primarily for investments in information technology, machieguypaneht and
armored vehicles. Capitakpenditures in 2014 were $36.8 million lower compared to 2013. Total property and equipment acquired in 2014
was $30.1 million lower than the prior year. Total property and equipment acquired during 2015 is expected to be $1&0$nillo

million.

Capital expenditures in 2013 for our operating units were primarily for new cash processing and security equipment ediicieseahd
information technology. Capital expenditures in 2013 were relatively flat when compared to the same period im29#2 tdial property

and equipment acquired in 2013 was $10.8 million lower than the prior year.

Corporate capital expenditures in the last three years were primarily for implementing a new finance shared serviatiogetgingnn
information techology.
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Financing Activities
Summaryof Financing Activities

Years Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012

Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Borrowings and repayments:

Shortterm debt $ (7.8) 60.5 3.3
Long-term revolving credit facilities 115.0 13.8 (4.5)
Other longterm debt (73.5 (23.5 (20.00
Borrowings (repayments) 33.7 50.8 (21.2'
Dividends attributable to:
Sharehol ders of Brinkoés (19.4 (19.2] (19.0
Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries (8.6 (6.0; (13.0
Acquisition-related financing activities:

Acquisition of noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries - (18.5, (9.4)
Payment of acquisiticrelated obligation - (12.8 -
Other (2.4 22 (5.2)
Discontinued operations - (2.5 (0.2)
Cash flows from financing activities $ 3.3 (6.0 (68.0°

2014versus2013

Cashprovidedby financingactivitieswas$3.3million in 2014versuscashusedby financingactivitiesof $6.0million in 2013.Thechanges
primarily dueto cashusedfor acquisitionrelatedfinancingactivitiesin 2013($31.3million), partially offsetby $17.1million lessnet
borrowingsoverallin 2014($33.7million in 2014comparedo $50.8million in 2013). During 2014,we borrowed$115.0million underour
long-termrevolving creditfacilities to fund cashneed=f thebusinessandto repayotherlong-termdebt($73.5million) including$43.2
million of bondsissuedby the PeninsuléPortsAuthority of Virginia.

2013versus2012

Cashusedby financingactivitiesdecrease62.0million in 2013versus2012aswe increasedshorttermdebtandborrowed from our
revolvingcreditfacilities. Theincreasen netborrowingswaspartially offsetby anincreasen acquisitionrelatedfinancingactivities($21.9
million).

Dividends
We paiddividendsto B r i rshai@hwoldersf $0.10persharein eachof thelast12 quarters.Futuredividendsaredependenbn our earnings,
financialcondition,s h a r e henguitgdesals®ur cashflow andbusinessequirementsasdetermineddy theboardof directors.

Effect of ExchangeRate Changeson Cashand CashEquivalents

Changesn currencyexchangeatesreducedhe amountof cashandcashequivalentdy $129.9million during2014,comparedo areduction
of $18.7million in 2013andanincreasef $3.6 million in 2012. Approximately$93million of the2014reductionwasdueto acurrency
devaluatiorin Venezuelaghatoccurredn thefirst quarter. Seenotel to the consolidatedinancial statementfor moreinformation. Therest
of thechangerelatedto the strengtheningf the U.S. dollar againstmanyof the currenciesn the countrieswherewe operateparticularlyin
RussiaandLatin America.
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Capitalization
We usea combinationof debt,leasesandequityto capitalizeour operations.

As of DecembeB31,2014,debtasa percentagef capitalization(definedastotal debtandequity) was50% comparedo 36%at Decembef31,
2013. Theratio increasedn 2014becauseur equitydecreasedndour debtincreased.Our equityin 2014werenegativelyaffectedby a
currencydevaluatiorin Venezuelandlower discountratesandnew mortality tablesusedto estimatethe valueof our retirementobligationsat
yearend. Ourdebtincreasedrimarily becausave borrowedto fund contributionsto our primaryU.S. pensionplan.

Summaryof Debt, Equity and Other Liquidity Information
Amount available

under credit facilities Outstanding balance
December 31, December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2014 2013 $ chang®
Debt:

Revolving Facility $ 247.0 $ 233.0 120.6 $ 112.¢

Private Placemeritotes - 100.0 100.0 -

Capital leases - 64.9 76.4 (11.5

Dominion Terminal Associates borfds - - 43.2 (43.2

Multi-currency revolving facilities 20.0 5.7 6.2 (0.5

2012 Credit Facility 245 - 11.0 (11.0,

Letter of Credit Facilities 72.0 - - -

Other - 63.2 78.6 (15.4

Debt $ 363.5 $ 466.8 436.0 $ 30.€

Total equity $ 473.8 779.5 $ (305.7

(a) In addition to cash borrowings and repayments, the change in the debt balance also includes changes in currency exchange rate
(b) Redeemed in 2014.

Reconciliation of NetDebt to U.S. GAAP Measures
December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 $ change
Debt:
Shortterm debt $ 59.4 80.9 $ (215
Long-term debt 407.4 355.1 52.3
Total Debt 466.8 436.0 30.8
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents 176.2 255.5 (79.3;
Amounts held by Cash Management Services oper&tions (28.0 (31.3 3.3
Cash and cash equivalents available for general corporate purposes 148.2 224.2 (76.0,
Net Debt $ 318.6 211.8 $ 106.8

(a) Title to cash received and processed in certain of our secure Cash Management Services operations transfers to yeefardacshorte. The cash is generally credited to
customer sd ac coyandwe do roteconsider itlaoawailatlg fordy@neral corporate purposes in the management of our liquidity and capésresauour
computation of Net Debt.

Net Debt is a supplemental n@AAP financial measure that is not required by, or preskeintaccordance with GAAP. We use Net Debt as a
measure of our financial leverage. We believe that investors also may find Net Debt to be helpful in evaluating ollcusaiaga Net

Debt should not be considered as an alternative to Debt deterimiaecbrdance with GAAP and should be reviewed in conjunction with our
consolidated balance sheets. Set forth above is a reconciliation of Net DebiGAMABrfinancial measure, to Debt, which is the most

directly comparable financial measure calculated reported in accordance with GAAP, as of December 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013.
Net Debt excluding cash and debt in Venezuelan operations was $332 million at December 31, 2014, and $306 million aBDe28iher

Net Debt at the end @014increased by $107 million compared to Net Debt at the e@@18primarily due to the adoption of the less

favorable SICAD Il rate in Venezuela, which reduced the U.S. dollar value of bolivars held in Venezuela, and borrowtodans&@7
million of cash contributions to our primary U.S. pension plan in 2014.
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Liquidity Needs

Our operating liquidity needs are typically financed by cash from operationstatmontiebt and the Revolving Facility (our debt facilities are
described below). We have certain limitations and considerations related to the cash and borrowingtatpaetseported in our
consolidated financial statements. Based on our current cash on hand, amounts available under our credit faciliteed prajentions of
cash flows from operations, we believe that we will be able to meet our liquidity foeedsre than the next twelve months.

Limitations on dividends from foreign subsidiaries significant portion of our operations are outside the U.S. which may make it difficult to
repatriate additional cash for use in the U.S. See ItemRigk,Fadtors, for more information on the risks associated with having businesses
outside the U.S.

Incremental taxesOf the $176 million of cash and cash equivalenBBestember 31, 2014145 million is held by subsidiaries that we

consider to be permanentiyested and for which we do not expect to repatriate to the U.S. If we were to decide to repatriate this cash to the
U.S., we may have to accrue and pay additional income taxes. Given the number of foreign operations and the complexéiemofit is

not practical to estimate the potential tax liability, but the amount of taxes owed could be material depending on hew dredrefatriation
occurred.

VenezuelaWe have $12.6 million of cash and cash equivalents denominated in Venezuelan bolivars as remeasured into U.S. ddiéars using t
published SICAD Il rate of 50 bolivars to the U.S. dollar at December 31, 2014. The Venezuelan government has resgisiedscoh

bolivars into U.S. dollars in the past and may do so in the future. In February 2015, the Venezuelan government regilaééal lthe

exchange mechanism with a new exchange, known locally as SIMADI. Under theefiovet SICAD 1l exchange, bobws were exchanged

for dollars if the transaction was approved by the government. The SICAD Il rate approximated 50 bolivars to the dolidnengesar.

Rates observed under the new SIMADI exchange were 170 to 174 bolivars to the U.S. dollgsddpthigom February 12 to February 26,

2015. Had we used a rate of 170 bolivars to the U.S. dollar to translate our cash and cash equivalents, we wouldeldsapmepariately

$9 million less cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2014.

Argentina We have $6.6 million in cash held in Argentinean pesos at December 31, 2014. The Argentinean government hastdrom time
time, imposed limits on the exchange of local pesos into U.S. dollars. As a result, we have elected in the past ahchrite fekeice to
repatriate cash from Argentina using alternative legal methods, which may result in less favorable exchange rates.

Debt

We havea $480million unsecuredevolvingbankcreditfacility (thefi Re v o F & ¢ in hatmatudedin January2017. The Revolving

F a c i Interesyabes basedon LIBOR plusamargin,alternatebaserateplusamargin,or competitivebid. The RevolvingFacility allows
usto borrowor issuelettersof credit(or otherwisesatisfycreditneeds)on arevolvingbasisoverthetermof thefacility. As of DecembeB1,
2014,%$247million wasavailableunderthe RevolvingFacility. Amountsoutstandinginderthe RevolvingFacility asof DecembeB1, 2014,
weredenominategbrimarily in U.S. dollarsandto alesserextentin euros.

Themarginon LIBOR borrowingsunderthe RevolvingFacility, which canrangefrom 0.9%to 1.575%dependingn our creditrating, was
1.40%at DecembeB1,2014. Themarginon alternatebaserateborrowingsunderthe RevolvingFacility canrangefrom 0.0%to 0.575%. We
alsopayanannualfacility feeonthe RevolvingFacility basedon our creditrating. Thefacility feecanrangefrom 0.10%to 0.30%andwas
0.225%at Decembef31, 2014.

We have$100million in unsecureahotesthrougha privateplacementebttransactior(thefi N o t ersedldtescomprise$50million in series
A noteswith afixed interestrateof 4.57%and$50 million in seriesB noteswith afixed interestrateof 5.20%. The Notesareduein January
2021with principalpaymentsunderthe seriesA notesbeginningin Januan2015.

As of DecembeB1,2014,we hadtwo unsecurednulti-currencyrevolvingbankcreditfacilities with atotal of $40million in availablecredit,
of which approximately$20million wasavailableat Decembe1,2014. A $20million facility expiresin Decembe015anda$20million
facility expiresin February2017. Intereston thesefacilitiesis basedon LIBOR plusamargin. Themarginrangesrom 0.9%to 2.0%. We
alsohavetheability to borrow from otherbanks,attheb a n #iscrétion,undershorttermuncommittedagreementsVariousforeign
subsidiariesnaintainotherlinesof creditandoverdraftfacilities with anumberof banks.

We havea $24 million unsecureaommittedcreditfacility thatexpiresin April 2016. Intereston this facility is basedon LIBOR plusa
margin,which rangesfrom 1.20%to 1.575%. As of DecembeB1, 2014,$24 million wasavailableunderthefacility.
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We havethreeunsecuredetterof creditfacilities totaling$179million, of which approximatelys72million wasavailableat DecembeB1,
2014. An $85million facility expiresin June2015,a$40million facility expiresin Decembe2015,anda $54 million facility expiresin
DecembeR016. The Revolving Facility andthe multi-currencyrevolving creditfacilities arealsousedfor issuancef lettersof creditand
bankguarantees.

TheRevolvingFacility, the Notes,the unsecurednulti-currencyrevolving bankcreditfacilities, theunsecuredommittedcreditfacility and
theletter of creditfacilities containsubsidiaryguaranteeandvariousfinancialandothercovenants.Thefinancial covenantsamongother
things,limit ourtotalindebtednesdimit priority debt,limit assesales)imit theuseof proceedd$rom assesalesandprovidefor minimum
coverageof interestcosts. Thecreditagreementdo notprovidefor theaccelertion of paymentshouldour creditratingbereduced.If we
werenotto complywith thetermsof our variouscreditagreementghe repaymentermscouldbe accelerate@ndthe commitmentsouldbe
withdrawn. An acceleratiorof therepaymentermsunderoneagreementouldtriggerthe acceleratiorof the repaymentermsunderthe other
loanagreementsWe werein compliancewith all financialcovenantat DecembeB31,2014.

We redeeme43.2million of bondsissuedby the PeninsuldPortsAuthority of Virginia at parin thethird quarterof 2014. Theamountpaid,
includingaccruedandunpaidinterestwas$44.3million. Althoughwe werenottheprimaryobligor of thedebt,we recordedheobligationas
debtbecauseve hadguaranteedts payment. The guarante@riginatedaspartof aformerinterestin Dominion Terminal Associatesa deep
watercoalterminalrelatedto ourformercoal business.

Equity
CommorStock
At Decembeg1, 2014,we had100million sharef commonstockauthorizedand48.6million sharesssuedandoutstanding.

On February28,2012,we filed a shelfregistrationstatementinderForm S-3ASRwith the SECfor $150million of our commonstock. Under
this shelfregistrationwe wereableto issueup to $150million of newcommaonstock. Theshelfregistrationexpiredon February28,2015.

OnMarch6,2012,we issued361,446sharef our commonstockandcontributedthe sharego our primaryU.S. pensiorplan. Salesof these
sharedyy the pensionplanarecoveredunderour shelfregistrationstatement.The commonstockwasvaluedfor purpose®f the contribution
at $24.90pershareor $9 million in theaggregatewhich reflecteda 2.4%discountfrom the $25.51pershareclosingshareprice of our
commonstockon March5, 2012.

PreferredStock
At Decembef31, 2014, we hadtheauthorityto issueup to 2.0 million sharesf preferredstock,parvalue$10pershare.

Off BalanceSheetArrangements

We haveoperatingeaseghataredescribedn the notesto the consolidatedinancial statementsWe useoperatingeasego lower our costof
financings. We believethatoperatingeasesareanimportantcomponenbf our capitalstructure.
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Contractual Obligations

Thefollowing tablereflectsour contractuabbligationsasof Decembe31,2014.

Estimated Payments Due by Period

Later
(In millions) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Years Total
Contractual obligations:
Long-term debt obligations $ 12.8 8.9 240.6 7.1 7.1 66.0 342.5
Capital lease obligations 21.3 17.3 9.7 7.1 4.5 5.0 64.9
Operating lease obligations 67.4 52.2 39.9 25.8 19.2 455 250.0
Purchase obligations 5.3 2.3 2.1 0.8 0.7 - 11.2
Other longterm liabilities reflected on the
Company6s balance she
Retirement obligations:
UMWA plans - - - - - 339.1 339.1
Black lung and other plans 6.9 6.4 6.1 5.7 6.0 73.1 104.2
Workers compensation and other claims 22.5 11.2 6.7 4.5 3.9 21.3 70.1
Uncertain tax positions 0.7 - - - - - 0.7
Other 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 9.3 13.3
Total $ 137.7 99.1 305.9 51.8 42.2 559.3 1,196.0

U.S. pension plansPension benefits provided to eligible U.S. employees were frozen on December 31, 2005, and benefits are not provided to
employees hired after 2005 or to those covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We made cash contributions .@alifigrii®7the
primary U.S. pension plan in 2014. Based on current assumptions, we do not expect to make any additional contriteifistosen th

The primary U.S. pension plan made an offer tnR018 ang appraximatelyel, 83d0a i n
accepted. The pension plan settled thedutyin the fourth quarter of 2014. After the settlement, there are approximately 15,200 beneficiaries
in the plans.

UMWA plans.Retirement benefits related to former coal opers include medical benefits provided by the Pittston Coal Group Companies
Employee Benefit Plan for UMWA Represented Employees. There are approxi;h@tybeneficiaries in the UMWA plans. The company
does not expect to make additional contributittthese plans until 2032, based on actuarial assumptions.

Black LungUnder the Federal Bl ack Lung Benefits Act of 1972, nBri nko:
their dependents for claims filed and approved aftae B0, 1973. There are approximately 700 black lung beneficiaries.

Other. We have a plan that provides retirement healthcare benefits to certain eligible salaried employees. Benefits undardhistplan
indexed for inflation.

Assumptions for U.S.Retirement Obligations

We have made various assumptions to estimate the amount of payments to be made in the future. The most significans ascluigtio
1 Changing discount rates and other assumptions in effect at measurement dates (normally 3dgember

Investment returns of plan assets

Addition of new participants (historically immaterial due to freezing of pension benefits and exit from coal business)

Mortality rates

Change in laws

= =4 -4 A

The Contractual Obligations table aborgpresents payments projected to be paid with our corporate funds and does not represent payments
projected to be made to beneficiaries with retirement plan assets.
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Funded Status of U.S. Retirement Plans

Actual Projected

(In millions) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
U.S. pension plans
Beginning funded status (123.1 (117.8 (98.3 (77.9 (56.7, (32.2
Net periodic pension credtt 18.6 18.5 20.3 22.4 24.3 25.9
Payment from Brinko6s:

Primary U.S. pension plan 87.2 - - - - -

Other U.S. pension plan 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 1.3
Benefitplan experience gain (loss) (101.1 0.4 (0.5) (1.8) (0.4) -
Ending funded status (117.8 (98.3 (77.9 (56.7 (32.2 (5.0)
UMWA plans
Beginring funded status (1421 (297.2 (194.5 (192.1 (190.1 (188.5
Net peiodic postretirement credit 43 2.7 2.4 2.0 1.6 1.1
Benefit plan experience gain (loss) (58.6 - - - - -
Other (0.8 - - - - -
Ending funded status (197.2 (194.5 (192.1 (190.1 (188.5 (187.4
Black lung and other plans
Beginning funded status (44.3 (58.3 (54.1; (50.3 (46.6 (43.2)
Net peiodic postretirement cd8t 1.9 2.1 (2.0) (1.8) @7 (1.6)
Payment from Brinkés 7. 6.3 5.8 5.5 5.1 4.7
Benefit plan experience gain (loss) (19.4 - - - - -
Ending funded status (58.3 (54.1 (50.3 (46.6’ (43.2 (40.1

(@) Excludes amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Summary of Total Expenses Related to All U.S. Retirement Liabilities

This table summarizes actual and projected expense (income) related to U.S. reliabitites. These expenses are not allocated to segment

results.
Actual Projected
(In millions) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
U.S. pension plans 65.7 12.4 6.7 0.3 4.3 8.1
UMWA plans 3.4 9.6 9.2 8.9 8.6 8.5
Black lung and other plans 4.0 6.0 5.8 5.5 4.7 2.8
Total 73.1 28.0 21.7 14.7 9.0 3.2
Summary of Total Paymentsfrom U.S.Plansto Participants
This tablesummarizegctualandestimatedbaymentdrom the plansto participants.
Actual Projected
(In millions) 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Payments from U.S. Plans to participants
U.S. pension plans 193.9 47.0 47.3 48.0 48.6 49.6
UMWA plans 33.9 30.4 30.2 30.3 32.2 31.7
Black lung and ther plans 7.3 6.3 5.8 5.5 5.1 4.7
Total 235.1 83.7 83.3 83.8 85.9 86.0
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Summary of Total Paymentsfrom B r i ntklbS Plans

This tablesummarizesctualandestimatechbaymentdfrom B r i rokdU&setirementplans.

Projected Payments to Plans from Brink's

Black Lung
Primary U.S.  Other U.S. and Other
(In millions) Pension Plar Pension Plar UMWA Plans Plans Total
Projected payments

2015 $ - 0.6 - 6.3 6.9
2016 - 0.6 - 5.8 6.4
2017 - 0.6 - 55 6.1
2018 - 0.6 - 5.1 5.7
2019 - 13 - 4.7 6.0
2020 - 0.6 - 44 5.0
2021 - 0.6 - 41 47
2022 - 0.6 - 3.8 4.4
2023 - 0.6 - 35 41
2024 - 0.6 - 3.2 3.8
2025 - 0.6 - 2.9 35
2026 - 0.6 - 2.7 3.3
2027 - 0.6 - 25 3.1
2028 - 0.6 - 2.3 29
2029 - 0.5 - 2.2 2.7
2030 - 0.5 - 2.0 25
2031 - 0.5 - 1.9 24
2032 - 0.5 20.7 1.8 23.0
2033 - 0.5 20.0 1.8 223
2034 - 0.4 195 1.6 215
2035 - 0.4 18.9 15 20.8
2036 - 04 18.3 1.3 20.0
2037 - 0.4 17.6 13 19.3
2038 - 0.3 17.0 1.2 185
2039 - 0.3 16.4 1.2 17.9
2040 - 0.3 15.8 11 17.2
2041 - 0.3 15.1 1.0 16.4
2042 - 0.2 14.2 0.9 15.3
2043 - 0.2 135 0.8 145
2044 - 0.2 125 0.8 135
2045 - 0.2 11.7 0.7 12.6
2046 - 0.2 10.9 0.6 11.7
2047 - 0.2 10.2 0.6 11.0
2048 - 0.2 9.4 0.6 10.2
2049 - 0.2 8.7 0.6 9.5
2050 - 0.1 7.9 0.5 8.5
2051 - 0.1 7.2 0.5 7.8
2052 - 0.1 6.5 0.5 7.1
2053 - 0.1 5.9 0.4 6.4
2054 - 0.1 5.2 0.4 5.7
2055 - 0.1 4.7 0.4 5.2
2056 - 0.1 4.1 0.3 45
2057 - 0.1 3.6 0.3 4.0
2058 - - 3.2 0.2 34
2059 - - 2.8 0.2 3.0
2060 - - 24 0.2 2.6
2061 and thereafter - - 15.2 1.2 16.4

Total projectegpayments $ - 16.8 339.1 87.4 443.3

Theamountdn thetablesabovearebasedon a variety of estimatesincludingactuarialassumptionssof Decembe1,2014. Theestimated
amountswill changean thefutureto reflectpaymentanade investmenteturns,actuarialrevaluationsandotherchangesn estimates.Actual
amountscould differ materiallyfrom the estimatecamounts.
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Discounted Cash Flows at Plan Discount RatésReconciled to Liability Amounts Reported under U.S. GAAP

December 31, 2014

Primary U.S. Pensic Other Unfunded U.¢
(In millions) Plar{” UMWA Plang? Plans Total
Funded status of U.S. retirement planSAAP $ 107.7 197.2 68.4 373.3
Present value of projected earnings of plan d&sets (107.7 (815 - (189.2
Discounted cash flows at plan discount ratéon-GAAP $ - 115.7 68.4 184.1
Plan discount rate 4.10% 4.00%
Expected return of assets 7.50% 8.25%

(@) UnderGAAP, the funded status of a benefit plan is reduced by the fair market value of plan assets at the balance sheédtalptesantivalue of the projected earnings on
plan assets does not reduce the funded status at the balance sheet date-GFemareasure presented above additionally reduces the funded status as computed under
GAAP by the present value of projected earnings of plan assets using the expected return on asset assumptions ofelarspecti

(b) For the primary U.S. pension plan, aee required by ERISA regulations to maintain minimum funding levels. We achieved the required funded ratio in 2014lafirarc
the 2015 and 2016 contributions.

(c) There are no minimum funding requirements for the UMWA plans because they acwveiad by ERISA funding regulations. Using assumptions at the end of 2014, we
project that the plan assets plus expected earnings on those investments will cover the benefit payments for theseglanstrd 3 1. We proj ect o hat
contribute cash to the plan beginning in 2032 to pay beneficiaries

Discounted cash flows at plan discount rates are supplemental financial measures that are not required by, or presedtetawith

GAAP. The purpose of the discounted cash flows at plan discount rates is to present our retirement obligagjivimgadtzct to the benefit
of earning a return on plan assets. We believe this measure is helpful in assessing the present value of future fuewiegtsezfithe
company in order to meet plan benefit obligations. Discounted cash flows at plamndisates should not be considered as an alternative to
the funded status of the U.S. retirement plans at December 31, 2014, as determined in accordance with GAAP and should be read
conjunction with our consolidated balance sheets.

Contingent Matters

OnJunel9, 2008,alawsuitcaptionedDel Valle Gurria S.C.v. ServicioPan Americanade Proteccion,S.A.de C.V.wasfiled with the Twenty
third Civil Judgein the FederaDistrict in Mexico (thefi C o u against$ervicioPanAmericandeProteccionS.A.deC.V. (SERPAPROSA),
the Mexico subsidiarythatwe acquiredn November2010.The plaintiff claimsit is owedlegalfeesandcorrespondingalueaddedax (VAT),
interestandexpenseselatedto its legalrepresentatioof SERPAPROSAN connectionwith tax auditscoveringthe 1991,1992and1994fiscal
years. On October28,2010,the Courtissueda decisionin favor of SERPAPROSAN partandthe plaintiff in part,orderingSERPAPROSA0
paytheplaintiff lessthan$1 million for its previousrepresentatioof SERPAPROSA BetweenNovember2010andOctober2013,the
judgmentwassubjectto multiple appealdy bothpartiesto theFifth Civil Courtof Appealof the FederaDistrictin Mexico (thefi F i Qivil h
Courtof A p p e andtatheFirst Civil CollegiateTribunalof theFirst Circuitin Mexico (thefi F i Givé €ollegiateT r i b uanéwas ) ,
remandedwice to the Court for determinatiorof thefeesto bepaidto theplaintiff. On Decembes6, 2013,theFifth Civil Courtof Appeal
issueda decisionin favor of the plaintiff, modifyingthelowerc o u ruling andorderingSERPAPROSAo paythe plaintiff approximately$7
million plusVAT andinterestfor its previousrepresentationf SERPAPROSA.SERPAPROSAiled a constitutionainjunction on January
20,2014with theFirst Civil CollegiateTribunal. TheappeaWwasgrantedn favor of SERPAPROS/An Septembef 7,2014,ordering
SERPAPROSAo payapproximately$2 million plusVAT andinterest. Theplaintiff filed anappeabn October7, 2014, with the Mexico
SupremeCourt, which wasrejectedby the courton October22,2014. The plaintiff filed two subsequeractionsappealinghe Supreme

C o u rOtt@ber22, 2014decisiononebeforetheFirst AppellateCourtin Civil Mattersof the First Circuit (thefi A p p eC d uarandong
with the Mexico SupremeCourt. Theactionfiled beforethe AppellateCourtwasrejectedon Februaryl6, 2015;theactionfiled with the
Mexico SupremeCourtis pending The Companyhasaccruedb2 million, reflectingtheC o mp a Ibegtéstimateof exposurealthough
additionalreasonablyossibldossescouldbeup to $10million, basedn currencyexchangeatesat Decembe1, 2014. Theultimate
resolutionof this matteris unknownandthe estimatediability maychangen the future. The Companydeniesheallegationsassertedby the
plaintiff andis vigorouslydefendingtself in this matter.

In addition,we areinvolvedin variousotherlawsuitsandclaimsin the ordinarycourseof businessWe arenot ableto estimatethelossor
rangeof lossedor someof thesematters We haverecordedaccrualdor losseghatareconsideregrobableandreasonablystimable. Except
asotherwisenoted,we do not believethatthe ultimatedispositionof anyof the lawsuitscurrentlypendingagainsthe Companyshouldhavea
materialadverseeffecton our liquidity, financial positionor resultsof operatiors.
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APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Theapplicationof accountingprinciplesrequiresthe useof assumptionsestimatesandjudgments.We makeassumptionsgstimatesand
judgmentshasedon, amongotherthings,knowledgeof operationsmarkets historicaltrendsandlikely futurechangessimilarly situated
businesseand,whenappropriatethe opinionsof advisorswith relevantknowledgeandexperience.Reportedresultscouldhavebeen
materiallydifferenthadwe useda differentsetof assumpions, estimateandjudgments.

Deferred Tax AssetValuation Allowance

Deferredtax assetsesultprimarily from netoperatingossesandthe nettax effectsof temporarydifferenceshetweerthe carryingamountof
assetandliabilities for financial statemenandincometax purposesasdeterminedunderenactedax lawsandrates.

Accounting Policy

We establishvaluationallowancesin accordancevith FASB ASC Topic 740,IncomeTaxeswhenwe estimatet is not morelikely thannot
thata deferredtax assewill berealized. We decideto recordvaluationallowancesprimarily basedon anassessmerf historicalearningsand
futuretaxableincomethatincorporateprudent feasibletax-planningstrategies.We assessleferredtax asset®n anindividual jurisdiction
basis. Changesdn tax statutesthetiming of dedudibility of expensesr expectationdor future performanceouldresultin material
adjustmentso our valuationallowancesyhich would increaseor decreaséax expense.Our valuationallowancesareasfollows.

Valuation Allowances

December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013

u.s. $ 20.0 16.7

Non-U.S. 20.1 15.7
Total $ 40.1 32.4

Application of Accounting Policy

U.S. Deferred Tax Assets
We have $349 million of net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2014, of which $287 million related to U.S. jurisdietienger& no
significant changes to our U.S. valuation allowances in 2013 or 2014.

We used various estimates and assumptiopsgdtuate the need for the valuation allowance in the Utse included
1 projected revenues and operating income for our U.S. entities,
1 projected royalties and management fees paid to U.S. entities from subsidiaries outside the U.S.,
1 estimated required contributions to our U.S. retirement plans, and
1 interest rates on projected U.S. borrowings.

Our projectionsassumedaontinuedgrowth of ourrevenuesndoperatingprofit bothin theU.S.andoutsidethe U.S. Had we used different
assimptions, we might have made different conclusions about the need for valuation allowgroesample, using different assumptions we
might have concluded that we require a valuation allowance offsetting our U.S. deferred tax assets.

NonU.S. Deferredrax Assets

We changed our judgment about the need for valuation allowances for deferred tax assets in cast&njmasdictions as a result of
changes in operating results and the outlook about the future operating performance in those jurisictigasult, we set up $1.9 million
of valuation allowances in 2014 and reversed $0.2 million of valuation allowances in 2013 through continuing operations.
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Goodwill, Other Intangible Assetsand Property and Equipment Valuations

Accounting Policy

At DecembeB1, 2014,we hadpropertyandequipmenbf $669.5million, goodwill of $215.7million andotherintangibleassetof $39.8
million, netof accumulatediepreciatiorandamortization. We reviewtheseassetdor possiblempairmentusingthe guidancein FASB ASC
Topic 350, Intangibles- Goodwilland Other, for goodwill andotherintangibleasseteandFASB ASC Topic 360, Property,Plantand
Equipmentfor propertyandequipment.Our reviewfor impairmentrequiresthe useof significantjudgmentsaboutthe future performancef
our operatingsubsidiariesDueto the manyvariablesnherentin the estimate®f thefair valueof theseassetsdifferencedn assumptionsould
havea materialeffecton theimpairmentanalyses.

Application of Accounting Policy

Goodwill

We reviewgoodwill for impairmentannuallyandwhenevereventsor circumstancemakeit morelikely thannotthatimpairmentmayhave
occurred. We reorganizedur managemerstructurein thefourth quarterof 2014. As aresult,we havenewoperatingsegnentsandreporting
units. In additionto theannualtestperformedasof Octoberl, we performedanimpairmenttestusingthe newreportingunitsin thefourth
quarterof 2014.

Applicationof thegoodwill impairmenttestrequiregudgment,includingthe identificationof reportingunits, assignmenof assetand
liabilities to reportingunits, assignmenof goodwill to reportingunits,anddeterminatiorof the fair valueof eachreportingunit. UnderU.S.
GAAP, theannualimpairmenttestmaybe eithera quantitativetestor a qualitativeassessmentThe qualitativeassessmemanbe performedn
orderto determinenvhetherfactsandcircumstancesupporta determinatiorthatreportingunit fair valuesaregreaterthantheir carryingvalues.

Forbothimpairmenttestsperformedn thefourth quarterof 2014,we electedio bypasghe optionalqualitativeassessmerandwe performeda
quantitativegoodwill impairmenttestinstead. We estimatedhefair valueof eachreportingunit undereachteg usingprojectionsof cash
flows andcomparedo its carryingvalue.

We completedhe annualgoodwill impairmenttestandconcludedhatthefair valueof eachreportingunit substantiallyexceededts carrying
value. With oneexceptionour goodwill impairmentestbasedon the newreportingunitsresultingfrom the fourth-quartemestructuringalso
indicatedthatthefair valueof eachnewreportingunit substantiallyexceededts carryingvalue. Forthe Latin AmericanPaymentServices
reportingunit, which has$1.4million of goodwill at DecembeB1, 2014, fair valueexceededarryingvalueby approximatelylL0%.

Finite-lived Intangible Assetsaand Propertyand Equipment

We reviewfinite-lived intangibleasset@indpropertyandequipmenfor impairmentwhenevereventsor changesn circumstancefdicatethat
therelatedcarryingamountsmay not berecoverableFor purpose®f assessingmpairment,assetaregroupedat the lowestlevelsfor which
thereareidentifiablecashflows thatarelargelyindependenof the cashflows of othergroupsof assets.To determinevhetherimpairmenthas
occurredwe compareestimate®f the future undiscounteahet cashflows of groupsof assetgo their carryingvalue.

Estimatesf Future CashFlows

We madesignificantassumptionsvhenpreparingfinancial projectionsof free cashflow usedin ourimpairmentanalysesincluding
assumptionsf futureresultsof operationscapitalrequirementsincometaxes Jong-termgrowth ratesfor determiningterminalvalue,and
discountrates. Our projectionsassumedontinuedgrowth of our revenuesandoperatingprofit bothin theU.S. andoutsidetheU.S. Our
conclusiongegardingasseimpairmentmay havebeendifferentif we haduseddifferentassumptions.
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Retirement and PostemploymentBenefit Obligations

We providebenefitsthroughdefinedbenefitpensionplansandretireemedicalbenefitplansandunderstatutoryrequirements.
Accounting Policy

We accountfor pensionandotherretirementenefitobligationsunderFASB ASC Topic 715,Compensatioii RetiremenBenefits. We
accountor postemploymenienefitobligations,ncludingw o r k eompersatiombligations,underFASB ASC Topic 712, Compensatiofi
NonretiremenPostemploymerenefits

To accountfor thesebenefits we makeassumptionsf expectedeturnon asses, discountrates,inflation, demographidactorsandchangesn
thelawsandregulationscoveringthe benefitobligations. Becausef theinherentvolatility of theseitemsandbecausehe obligationsare
significant,changesn theassumptionsould have a materialeffecton our liabilities andexpenseselatedto thesebenefits.

Our mostsignificantretirementplansincludeour primaryU.S. pensionplanandthe retireemedicalplansof our former coalbusinesghatwere
collectivelybargainedwvith the United Mine Workersof America(theii U MWA d hecritical accountingestimateshatdeterminethe
carryingvaluesof liabilities andtheresultingannualexpensearediscussedelow.

Application of Accounting Policy

DiscountRate Assumptions

ForplansaccountedinderFASB ASC Topic 715, we discountestimateduture paymentsisingdiscountratesbasedn marketconditionsat
theendof theyear. In generalour liability changesn aninverserelationshipto interestrates. Thatis, thelower thediscountrate,thehigher
the associategblan obligation.

U.S.Plans

Forourlargestretirementplans,includingthe primaryU.S. pensiorandUMWA plansandblacklung obligations we derivethe discountrates
usedto measurahe presentwalueof benefitobligationsusingthe cashflow matchingmethod. Underthis methodwe comparehep | an 6 s
projectedpaymentobligationshy yearwith the correspondingieldson a Merceryield curve. Eachy e aprofestedcashflows arethen
discountedackto their presenwalueat the measuremerdateandan overalldiscountrateis detemined. Theoveralldiscountrateis then
roundedto the nearestenthof a percentag@oint.

WeusedMe r ¢ &bovésleanCurveto determinghe discountratesfor theyearendbenefitobligation.

To derivethe Above-MeanCurve,Mercerusesonly thosebondswith ayield higherthanthe meanyield of the sameportfolio of high quality
bonds. The Above-MeanCurvereflectsthe way anactiveinvestmeninmanagemwould selecthigh-quality bondsto matchthe cashflows of the
plan.

NonU.S.Plans

We usethe samecashflow matchingmethodto derivethediscountratesof our majornon-U.S.retirementplans. Wherethe cashflow

matchingmethodis not possibleratesof local high-quality long-termcorporaé bondsareusedto estimatethe discountrate.

Thediscountratesfor the primaryU.S. pensionplan, UMWA retireemedicalplansandblacklung obligationswere:

Primary U.S. Plan UMWA Plans Black Lung
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate:
Retirement cost 5.0% 4.2 % 4.6 % 4.7% 3.9% 4.4 % 4.4% 3.5% 4.2 %
Benefit obigation at year end 4.1% 5.0 % 4.2 % 4.0% 4.7 % 3.9 % 3.7% 4.4 % 3.5 %
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SensitivityAnalysis

Thediscountratewe selectat yearendmateriallyaffectsthe valuationsof planobligationsat yearendandcalculationsf netperiodic
expensesor thefollowing year. Thetablesbelowcomparehypotheticaplanobligationvaluationsfor our largestplansasof Decembef1,
2014,adual expensefor 2014andprojectedexpense$or 2015assumingve haduseddiscountratesthatwereonepercentag@oint lower or
higher.

Plan Obligationsat Decembe1,2014

Hypothetical Hypothetical
(In millions) 1% lower Actual 1% higher
Primary U.S. pension plan $ 1,020.1 894.0 792.0
UMWA plans 517.4 461.8 416.0

Actual2014andProjected2015Expensgincome)

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis
for discount rate assumption

Hypothetical sensitivity analys

(In millions, except for percentages) for discount rate assumption

Actual 1% lower 1% higher Projected 1% lower 1% higher
Years Ending December 31, 2014 2014 2014 2015 2015 2015
Primary U.S. pension plan
Discount rate assumption 50% 4.0 % 6.0 % 41% 3.1% 51%
Retirement cost $ 9.2 18.7 1.2 $ 11.7 19.2 5.2
UMWA plans
Discount rate assumption 4.7 % 3.7% 57% 40% 3.0% 5.0%
Retirement cost $ 3.4 4.5 2.6 $ 9.€ 10.€ 8.6

ExpectedReturn-on-AssetsAssumption

Our expecteereturnon-assetassumptionwhich materiallyaffectsour netperiodicbenefitcost,reflectsthe long-termaverageateof return
we expecttheplanassetdo earn. We selectthe expecteereturnonassetassumptiorusingadvicefrom our investmentadvisorandactuary
consideringeachp | aasgesllocationtargetsandexpectedverallinvestmenmanageperformancendareviewof the mostrecentong-
termhistoricalaveragecompoundedatesof return,asapplicable. We selected’.50%asthe expecteereturnon-assetassumptiorfor our
primaryU.S. planand8.25%for our UMWA retireemedicalplansasof DecembeB1,2014. We selectedB.00%asthe expectedreturnon-
assetassumptiorior our primary U.S. planand8.25%for our UMWA retireemedicalplansasof Decembef1, 2013

Overthelasttwentyandtwenty-five years theannualreturnsof our primaryU.S. pensionplanhaveaveragedpn a compoundedbasis,8.7%,
while the 30-yearcompoundednnualreturnaverage®.9%.

SensitivityAnalysis

Effectof usingdifferentexpecteerate-of-return assumptions Our 2014andprojected2015expensevould havebeendifferentif we hadused
differentexpecteerate of-returnassumptionsFor everyhypotheticalchangeof onepercentag@ointin theassumedong-termrateof return
on planassetgandholdingotherassumptionsonstant)pur 2014and2015expensavould be asfollows:

Hypothetical sensitivity analys
for expectedreturnon asset

Hypothetical sensitivity analys
for expectedreturnon asset

(In_millions, except for percentages) assumption assumption

Actual 1% lower 1% higher Projected 1% lower 1% higher
Years Ending December 31, 2014 2014 2014 2015 2015 2015
Expectedreturnon-asset assumption
Primary U.S. pension plan 8.00 % 7.00 % 9.00 % 7.50 % 6.50 % 8.50 ¥
UMWA plans 8.25 Y% 7.25% 9.25% 8.25% 7.25% 9.25%
Primary U.S. pension plan $ 9.2 17.2 1.2 $ 11.7 19.C 4.4
UMWA plans 3.4 6.2 0.8 9.€ 12.2 7.2

53



Effectof improvingor deterioratingactualfuture marketreturns. Our fundedstatusat Decembe1,2015,andour 2016expensewill be
differentfrom currentlyprojectedamountsf our projectel 2015returnsarebetteror worsethanthe returnswe haveassumedor eachplan.

Hypothetical sensitivity analysis of 2015 asset ref

(In millions, except for percentages) better or worse than expected
Better Worse
YearsEnding December 31, Projected return return

Return on investments in 2015

Primary U.S. pension plan 7.50 % 15.00 ¥ - %
UMWA plans 8.25% 16.50 ¥ - %
Projected Funded Status at December 31, 2015

Primary U.S. pension plan $ (88) (31) (146,
UMWA plans (195 174 (215
2016 Expend8

Primary U.S. pension plan $ 6 4 8
UMWA plans 9 6 13

(&) Actual future returns on investmentdl not affect our earnings until 2016 since the earnings in 2015 will be based on the "expected return on assets’hassumptio

Effect of using fair market value of assets to determine expdfmeour defineebenefit pension plans, we calculate expected investment
returns by applying the expected letegm rate of return to the marketlated value of plan assets. In addition, our plan asset actuarial gains
and losses that are subject to anzatibn are based on the markelated value.

The marketelated value of the plan assets is different from the actual or fair market value of the assets. The actual or fatueaskeit a
point in time, the value of the assets that is availableake payments to pensioners and to cover any transaction costs. Theretadaet
value recognizes changes in fair value from the expected value on a diraidiasis over five years. This recognition method spreads the
effects of yeaoveryearvolatility in the financial markets over several years.

Our expenses related to our primary U.S. pension plan would have been different if our accounting policy were to usarket featue of
plan assets instead of the markelated value to recogge investment gains and losses.

(In millions) Based on markeklated value of asse Hypotheticaf’

Actual Projected Projected
Years Ending December 31, 2014 2015 2016 2014 201¢ 2016
Primary U.S. pension plan expense (income) $ 9.2 11.7 6.2 $ 3.1 6.1 2.6

(@) Assumeghatouraccountingpolicy wasto usethe fair marketvalueof assetsnsteadof the marketrelatedvalueof assetso determineour expenseelatedto our primaryU.S.
pensiorplan.

Forour UMWA plans,we calculateexpectednvestmenteturnsby applyingthe expectedong-termrateof returnto the fair marketvalueof
theassetatthebeginningof the year. This methodis likely to causeheexpectedeturnon assetswhichis recordedn earningsto fluctuate
morethanhadwe usedthe accountingnethodologyof our definedbenefitpensionplans.
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Medical Inflation Assumption
We estimatethetrendin healthcaresostinflation to predictfuture cashflows relatedto our retireemedicalplans.Our assumptions basedn
recentplanexperiencandindustrytrends.

Forthe UMWA plans,ourlargestretireemedicalplans,we haveassumeda medicalinflation rateof 7% for 2015,andwe projectthisrateto
declineto 5%in 2021andhold at 5% thereafter.Our medicalinflation rateassumptior{including the assumptiorthat medicalinflation rates
will graduallydeclineoverthe nextsevenyearsandhold at5%) is basedon macroeconomiassumptionsf grossdomestiogrowthrates the
exces®f nationalhealthexpenditure®verothergoodsandservicesandpopulationgrowth. Theaverageannualmedicalinflation rateof the
companyoverthelastnineyearswas5.2%.

If we hadassumedhatmedicalinflation rateswereonepercentagg@oint higherin eachfutureyear,the planobligationfor theseplansat
DecembeB1, 2014,would havebeenapproximately$56.5million higherandthe expensdor 2014would havebeen$1.9million higher. If
we hadassumedhatthe medicalinflation rateswereonepercentag@oint lower, the planobligationat Decembe1, 2014,would havebeen
approximately$47.5million lower andtherelated2014expensesvould havebeen$1.6million lower.

If we hadprojectedmedicalinflation ratesto declinefrom 7%to 4.5%by 2028,insteadof our projecteddeclineto 5% by 2021,theplan
obligationfor the UMWA retireemedicalbenefitplanwould havebeen$10.2million higherfor 2014andour expens would be $1.2million
higherfor 2015.

ExciseTax on Administratorsby Patient Protectionand Affordable Care Act

A 40%excisetax will beimposedon high-costhealthplans( A C a coil |altageaningin 2018. Thetaxwill applyto plancoststhatexceed
acertainthresholdevel for individualsandfor families,which will beindexedto inflation. Eventhoughthetaxis notassessedirectlyto an
employerbut ratherto thebenefitsplanadministratorthe costis expectedo be passedhroughto plansponsorsashigherpremiumsor higher
claimsadministratiorfees,increasingheplans p o n shiigatirss. We projectthatwe will haveto paythe benefitsplanadministratotthis
excisetax beginningin 2018,andour planobligationsat DecembeB1, 2014, include$24.8million relatedto this tax. We arecurrentlyunable
to reducethe benefitlevelsof our UMWA medicalplansto avoidthis excisetax becausehesebenefitlevelsarerequiredby the Coal Industry
RetireeHealthBenefitAct of 1992.

Wo r k €onmgpénsation

Besideghe effectsof changesn medicalcostsw o r k e@mperssatiorcostsareaffectedby the severityandtypesof injuries,changesn state
andfederalregulationsandtheir applicationandthe quality of programsawhich assisane mp | o retaret@work. Our liability for future
paymentdor w o r k empemsatiorlaimsis evaluatedannuallywith theassistancef anactuary.

Numbersof Participants

Mortality tables. The Societyof Actuariesissuednewmortality basetables( i R 1 dndlglongevityimprovemenscale( fi MPPO 1 o )
Octoberof 2014,supersedinghetablesdevelopedn 2000. Thenewtablesreflectthatpeoplein theU.S. areliving significantlylongerthan
estimatedn the2000tables.

We adoptedthe Mercermodified RP-2014basetableandMercermodified MP-2014projectionscale with Blue Collar adjustmentgor the
majority of our U.S. retirementplans,andwith White Collar adjustmentgor our nonqualifiedU.S. pensionplanasof DecembeB1,2014. The
adoptionof thesetablessignificantlyincreasedhe estimated).S.p | aretisehenbligations.Theincreaseso our majorU.S. planswere$45
million for the primaryU.S. pensiorplan,$39 million for the UMWA retireemedicalplansand$3 million for theblacklung obligations.
Theseincreasesvererecognizedasbenefitplan experiencdossesarisingduringtheyearin accumulatesthercomprehensivincome(loss).

As of DecembeB1,2013,we usedthetablesdevelopedy the Societyof Actuariesin 2000i the RP-2000basetableandthe AA improvement
scale with similar Blue andWhite Collar adjustments.

Lumpsumofferto participantsin 2014. In August2014,we offeredapproximately9,000terminatedparticipantghathadnotyetretiredthe
optionof receivingthe valueof their pensiorbenefitin alump-sumpaymentor asareducedannuitythatwould beginearlier. Thelump-sum
electionswereacceptedy approximatelyt,300terminatedparticipantsesultingin paymentsy the planof $149million. This actionwill
furtherreducethe premiumspaidto the PensiorBenefitGuarantyCorporation( i P B G&agqrtionof thepremiumss basedon thenumber
of participantsn the plan. We recognized settlementossin the fourth quarterof 2014relatedto the lump-sumpaymentof $56 million.
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Number of participants The number of participants by maior plan in the past five vears is as follows:

Number of participants

Plan 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

UMWA plans 3,900 4,100 4,300 4,400 4,600
Black Lung 700 710 780 800 800
U.S. pension 15,200 19,800 20,100 20,400 21,000

Becauseve areno longeroperatingn the coalindustry,we anticipatethatthe numberof participantdn the UMWA retirementmedicalplan
will declineovertime dueto mortality. Becausahe U.S. pensionplanhasbeenfrozen,thenumberof its participantswill alsodeclineover
time.

OtherChangesn 2014for the Primary U.S.PensionPlan. As partof apensionde-risking strategyandin aneffort to reducethe
administrativecostsassociatedvith the primaryU.S. pensionplan,we contributed$87.2million to theplanin 2014,including$28.9million in
paymentghatwerenot dueuntil 2015and$31.6million in paymentghatwerenotdueuntil 2016. Acceleratinghe2015and2016
contributionswill reducefuture PBGCpremiums anadministrativecostof the plan

Foreign Currency Translation

The majority of our subsidiaries outside th&lUconduct business in their local currenci®sir financial results are reported in U.S. dollars,
which include the results of these subsidiaries.

Accounting Policy

Our accounting policy for foreign currency translation is different depending ohevitbe economy in which our foreign subsidiary operates
has been designated as highly inflationaEgonomies with a thregear cumulative inflation rate of more than 100% are considered highly
inflationary. Subsequent reductions in cumulative inflatrates below 100% do not change the method of translation unless the reduction is
deemed to be other than temporary.

Non-Highly Inflationary Economies

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries in #oghly inflationary economies are translated ibt&. dollars using rates of exchange at the
balance sheet datdranslation adjustments are recorded in other comprehensive income Resghues and expenses are translated at rates
of exchange in effect during the yedrransaction gains and lossa® recorded in net income (loss).

Highly Inflationary Economies

Foreign subsidiaries that operate in highly inflationary countries must use the reporting currency (the U.S. dollamctied

currency. Localcurrency monetary assets and lial@ktare remeasured into dollars each balance sheet date, with remeasurement adjustments
and other transaction gains and losses recognized in eariNngsnonetary assets and liabilities do not fluctuate with changes in local

currency exchange rates teettollar.

Application of Accounting Policy

Venezuela

Brinkodés Venezugllmi lalcicomundred6 % oaf t ot al Brinkds revenues and was
before items not allocated to segmenis$.December 31, 2014, we had investments in our Venezuelan operations of $59.6 million on an
equitymethod basis. At December 31, 2014, we had bolivar denominated net monetary assets of $23.5 million, including $18f6 million

cash and cash equivalemisnominated in bolivars.

The economy in Venezuela has had significant inflation in the last several years. We consolidate our Venezuelan gesuitaagsinnting
policy for subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies.

During the perd from 2003 through February 2015, the Venezuelan government controlled the exchange of local currency into other
currencies, including the U.S. dollaburing this period, the Venezuelan government required that currency exchanges be made at official
rates established by the government instead of allowing open markets to determine currency rates. Different officiatedtfes different
industries and purposes. The government did not approve all requests to convert bolivars to other currencies.

The government devalued the official rate for essential services in February 2013 from 5.3 to 6.3 bolivars to the dollar.

Late in 2013, the government added another official exchange process, known as SICAD, for travel and certain othempuigasedable
at government discretion. The published rate for this process in 2014 ranged from 10 to 12 bolivars to tharJ.Sirdel the end of the first
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quarter of 2013, we have only been able to obtain dollars once using the SICAD process. We do not know whether wie willdoe eds
the SICAD process again in the future.

In March 2014, the government initiated amatexchange mechanism known as SICAD II. Conversions under this mechanism were also
subject to specific eligibility requirements. Transactions were reported to be in a range of 49 to 52 bolivars to.tHndmligh December
31, 2014, we received amyal to obtain $1.2 million (weighted average exchange rate of 51) through the SICAD Il mechanism.

In February 2015, the government replaced the SICAD Il process with a new process, known locally as SIMADI. The ratsbipubl
February 2015 rarggl from 170 to 174 bolivars to the U.S. dollar.

As a result of the restrictions on currency exchange, we have in the past been unable to obtain sufficient U.S. dolterscteqrtain

imported supplies and fixed assets to fully operate our busm&enezuela. Consequently, we have occasionally purchased more expensive,
bolivar-denominated supplies and fixed assets. Furthermore, there is a risk that the SIMADI process will be discontinuedssilblet acce
when needed in the future, which mayvyanet us from repatriating dividends or obtaining dollars to operate our Venezuelan operations.

Remeasurement rate during 201&/e used an official rate of 5.3 bolivars to the dollar to remeasurbolivardenominated monetary assets
and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and expenses.

Remeasurement rates during 20Ihrough January 31, 2013, we used an official rate of 5.3 bolivars to the dollar to remeasuligasur bo
denominated monetary assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and expenses. Afteritveiddvaltwaary
2013, we began to use the 6.3 official exchange rate to remeasure bolivar denominated monetary asiiitiearahtidto translate our
revenues and expenses. We recognized a $13.4 million net remeasurement loss in 2013 when we changed from the SaBige 6z8eexch
The aftertax effect of these losses attributable to noncontrolling interests was ${on mi2013.

Remeasurement rates during 20Ifhrough March 23, 2014, we used the official rate of 6.3 bolivars to the dollar to remeasure our bolivar
denominated monetary assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and. eEffective March 24, 2014, we began

to use the exchange rate published for the SICAD Il process to remeasure bolivar denominated monetary assets anddiabilideslate

our revenues and expenses. We recognized a $121.6 million net remeaslossin 2014 when we changed from the official rate of 6.3 to

the SICAD Il exchange rate, which averaged approximately 50 since opening on March 24, 2014 until implementation ofrenge exc
process in February 2015 (SIMADI). Transaction gains asskls since March 31, 2014 have not been significant. At December 31, 2014, the
rate was approximately 50. The aftak effect of these losses attributable to noncontrolling interests was $39.7 million in 2014.

Remeasuring our Venezuelan results usiirggSICAD |l rate has had the following effects on our reported results:

T Brinkds Venezuedlsagmasi cand me oamplomesnt of Brinkds consolidat

T Brinkdés Venezuelabs profit maUg. dallar moemonectny assets eeradneteceinéasueedtoa s t
lower U.S. dollar basis but instead retained a historical higher basis which was used for depreciation and other éupgmse attr
Our nonmonetary assets were $59.9 million at December 31, 20d $55.0 million at December 31, 2014.

1 Our investment in our Venezuelan operations on an equétirod basis has declined. Our investment was $125.3 million at
December 31, 2013, and $59.6 million at December 31, 2014.

1 Our bolivardenominated net monetaassets included in our consolidated balance sheets have declined. Ourderivainated
net monetary assets were $120.4 million (including $93.8 million of cash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 2018, and $23.
million (including $12.6 million oftash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 2014.

Remeasurement rates expected during 2048 have not concluded how the elimination of the SICAD Il exchange process will affect our

remeasurement of our Venezuelan results in 2015. If we concludewh8IMADI process is appropriate, our results will experience similar
types of effects as we experienced when we adopted the SICAD Il rate, as described above, however the magnitude dshexjozoted t

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

InMay 2014t he Financial Accounting Standards Board (fiFASBO) issued
entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods oo serstiossrs. The

new standard will replace most of the existing revenue recognition standards in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effectivey an 2ahriar

Early adoption is not permitted. The new standard can be applied retrospectively to each prior reportipggserited or retrospectively

with the cumulative effect of the change recognized at the date of the initial application in retained earnings. Wsiagethegastential

impact of the new standard on financial reporting and have not yet selectesitatranethod.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURESABOUT MARKET RISK

We currentlyservecustomersn morethan100 countriesjncluding41 countrieswvherewe operatesubsidiaries. Theseoperationexposeausto
avarietyof marketrisks,includingthe effectsof changesn interestrates,commoditypricesandforeign currencyexchangeates. These
financialandcommodityexposuresremonitoredandmanagedy usasanintegralpartof our overallrisk managemenprogram.

We periodicallyusevariousderivativeandnonderivativefinancialinstrumentsasdiscussedbelow, to hedgeour interestrate,commodity
pricesandforeign currencyexposuresvhenappropriate.Therisk thatcounterpartieso theseinstrumentsnaybeunableto performis
minimizedby limiting the counterpartiesisedto majorfinancialinstitutionswith investmengradecreditratings. We do not expectto incur a
lossfrom thefailure of anycounterpartyto performunderthe agreementsWe do not usederivativefinancid instrumentdor purpose®ther
thanhedgingunderlyingfinancialor commerciakexposures.

Thesensitivityanalysegliscussedbelowfor the marketrisk exposuresverebasedon thefactsandcircumstancem effectat DecembeB31,
2014. Actualresultswill bedeterminedy a numberof factorsthatarenotunderma n a g e coatrolardsould vary materiallyfrom those
disclosed.

Interest Rate Risk

We usebothfixed andfloating ratedebtandleasego financeour operationsFloatingrateobligations,includingour RevolvingFacility,
exposeusto fluctuationsin cashflows dueto changesn the generalevel of interestrates. Fixedrateobligations,includingour unsecured
notes,aresubjectto fluctuationsin fair valuesasaresultof changesn interestrates.

Basedon the contractuainterestrateson thefloating ratedebtat DecembeB31, 2014,a hypotheticatl0%increasen rateswould increasecash
outflows by approximately$0.9million overatwelve-monthperiod. In otherwords,our weightedaveragenterestrateon our floating rate
instrumentsvas2.7%perannumat DecembeB1, 2014. If thataverageaatewereto increaseby 0.3 percenagepointsto 3.0%,the cash
outflows associatedvith theseinstrumentsvould increaseby $0.9million annually. The effecton thefair valueson our unsecureahotesfor a
hypotheticall0%decreasén theyield curvefrom yearend2014levelswould resultin a$1.7million increasdor our unsecurechotesin the
fair valuesof the debt.
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Foreign Currency Risk

We haveexposurdo the effectsof foreign currencyexchangeatefluctuationson theresultsof all of ourforeignoperations.Our foreign
operationgenerallyuselocal currenciego conductbusinesdut their resultsarereportedn U.S.dollars.

We arealsoexposederiodicallyto theforeign currencyratefluctuationsthataffecttransactionsiot denominatedn the functionalcurrencyof
domesticandforeign operations.To mitigatetheseexposuresye, from time to time, enterinto foreign currencyforward andswapcontracts.
At Decembef31, 2014,the notionalvalueof our shortertermoutstandingoreign currencycontractsvas$43.0million with averagecontract
maturitiesof approximatelyonemonth. Theseshortertermforeign currencycontractgrimarily offsetexposureén the Mexicanpesoandthe
euro. Additionally, theseshortertermcontractsarenot designate@shedgedor accainting purposesandaccordingly changesn their fair
valuearerecordedmmediatelyin earningsWe alsohavea longertermcrosscurrencyswapcontractto hedgeexposuren the Brazilianreal
which is designatedsa cashflow hedgefor accountingourposes At Decembe1, 2014, thenotionalvalueof thatlongertermcontractwas
$20.8million with aweightedaveragematurityof 1.6 years We do notusederivativefinancialinstrumentgo hedgeinvestmentsn foreign
subsidiariesincesuchinvestmentsarelong-termin nature.

Theeffectsof a hypotheticakimultaneoud 0% appreciationin theU.S. dollar from the 2014levelsagainstall othercurrencieof countriesin

which we havecontinuingoperationsareasfollows:
Hypothetical Effects
Increase/ (decrease)
(In millions) Venezuela Other countries Total

Effect on Earnings:

Translation of 2014 earnings into U.S. dollars $ (1.9 (12.0; (13.9

Transaction gains (losses) (2.3) - (2.3)
Effect on Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Translation of net assets of foreign subsidiaries - (63.4 (63.4

Thehypotheticalforeign currencyeffectsabovedetailthe consolidatedffectattributableto B r i rofia 6imultaneougshangen thevalueof a
largenumberof foreigncurrencieselativeto theU. S.dollar. Theforeigncurrencyexposureeffectrelatedto a changan anindividual
currencycould be significantly different.

Venezuela
B r i né&nézselaccoutedfor $212million or6%of totalB r i mekehigesandwasa significantcomponenbf 2014total operatingprofit
beforeitemsnot allocatedo segments Venezuelaperatesn ahighly inflationaryeconomy.

In February2015,the governmenteplacedhe SICAD Il processwith anewprocessknownlocally asSIMADI. The SIMADI ratehasranged
from 170to 174 bolivarsto thedollar betweernFebruaryl 2 andFebruary?26. Hadwe usedarateof 170,ourrevenuesn 2014would have
declinedby $183million andouroperatingprofit beforeitemsnot allocatedto segmentsvould havedeclinedby $39 million. Hadarateof
170beenin effectat DecembeB1, 2014,we would haverecognizedadditionalcurrencylosseso write down our netmonetaryassetof $16
million.

Theinvestmenin our Venezuelarsubsidiariesandcashandothernetmonetaryassetdield by thesesubsidiarieareasfollows:
December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013
Equity-methodinvestment in Venezuelan subsidiafies $ 59.6 125.3
Net monetary assets held by our Venezuelan subsidiaries
Cash and shoterm investments denominated in U.S. dollars $ 11 0.5
Net monetary assets denominatedativars:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12.6 93.8
Accounts receivable, accounts payable and other, net 10.9 26.6
Total $ 23.5 120.4

(@) The amount represents retained earnings net of currency translation adjustmengisinges.
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ITEM 8.FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

THE B R N KCOBPANY

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2014
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MA NA GE ME NANBIBAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Managemenbf the Companyis responsibldor establishingagndmaintainingadequaténternalcontroloverfinancialreportingasdefinedin
Rule13a15(f) underthe SecuritiesExchangeAct of 1934. Ourinternalcontroloverfinancial reportingis designedo providereasonable
assurancéo our managemenandboardof directorsregardingthe preparatiorandfair presentatiomf publishedfinancial statements.

Becausef its inherentlimitations,internalcontrol overfinancial reportingmay not preventor detectmisstatementsTherefore eventhose
systemsdeterminedo be effectivecanprovideonly reasonabl@assurancaith respecto financial statemenpreparatiorandpresentation.

Managemenassessethe effectivenes®f our internalcontrol overfinancialreportingasof DecembeB1, 2014. In makingthis assessment,
managemeniisedthe criteriasetforth by the Committeeof Sponsoringdrganization®f the TreadwayCommissionCOSQ infil nt er n a l
Controli IntegratedFramework( 1 992 ) . 0

Basedon this assessmenbur managementelievesthat,asof DecembeB1, 2014,our internalcontroloverfinancial reportingis effective
basedonthe COSOcriteria.

KPMG LLP, theindependentegisterecpublic accountingirm which auditsour consolidatedinancial statementshasissuedan attestation
reportof ourinternalcontroloverfinancialreporting. K P M G ditsstatiorreportappear®n page6?2.

In May 2013,COSOissuedanupdatedrameworkwhich supersedethe 1992frameworkin Decembe2014. We intendto integratethe

changegprescribedy the2013COSOFrameworkintoma n a g e evalnatiodosthe effectivenes®f internalcontrol overfinancial
reportingduring2015.
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Report of IndependentRegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

TheBoardof DirectorsandStockholders
TheB r i rChnipany:

We haveauditedTheB r i rClodng a (thg @ompany)internalcontroloverfinancialreportingasof DecembeB1,2014,basedon criteria
establishedh Internal Controli IntegratedFramework(1992)issuedby the Committeeof Sponsoringdrganization®f the Treadway
CommissionCOS0). TheC o mp a mand@gsmernis responsibldor maintainingeffectiveinternalcontroloverfinancial reportingandfor its
assessmertf the effectivenes®f internalcontroloverfinancialreporting,includedin theaccompanyigMa n a g e rAennatRéporton
Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibilityis to expressaanopinionontheC o mp a intgridakcontroloverfinancial
reportingbasedon our audit.

We conductedbur auditin accordancevith the standard®f the Public CompanyAccountingOversightBoard(United States) Thosestandards
requirethatwe planandperformthe auditto obtainreasonablassurancaboutwhethereffectiveinternalcontroloverfinancial reportingwas
maintainedn all materialrespets. Our auditincludedobtaininganunderstandingf internalcontroloverfinancialreporting,assessinthe

risk thata materialweaknesgxists,andtestingandevaluatingthe designandoperatingeffectivenessf internalcontrolbasedn theassesst
risk. Ourauditalsoincludedperformingsuchotherproceduresswe consideredecessarin the circumstancediVe believethatour audit
providesa reasonabl®asisfor our opinion.

A c o mp aimern@lsontroloverfinancialreportingis a processlesgnedto providereasonablassuranceegardinghereliability of
financialreportingandthe preparatiorof financial statementor externalpurposesn accordancevith generallyacceptediccounting
principles. A ¢ o mp aimtern@lsontroloverfinancial reportingincludesthosepoliciesandprocedureshat(1) pertainto themaintenancef
recordsthat,in reasonabléetail,accuratelyandfairly reflectthetransactiongnddispositionsof theasset®f the company;(2) provide
reasonablassurancehat transactiongrerecordedasnecessaryo permitpreparatiorof financial statementi accordancevith generally
acceptedaccountingprinciples,andthatreceiptsandexpenditure®f the companyarebeingmadeonly in accordancevith authorization®f
managemerd&nddirectorsof thecompany;and(3) providereasonablassuranceegardingpreventionor timely detectionof unauthorized
acquisition,use,or dispositionof thec o mp aassetéhatcould havea materialeffecton thefinancial statements.

Becausef its inherentlimitations, internalcontroloverfinancial reportingmay not preventor detectmisstatementsAlso, projectionsof any
evaluationof effectivenesso future periodsaresubjectto therisk thatcontrolsmaybecomenadequatdecaseof changesn conditions,or
thatthe degreeof compliancewith thepoliciesor proceduresnay deteriorate.

In ouropinion,TheB r i rCln@panymaintainedjn all materialrespectseffectiveinternalcontroloverfinancialreportingasof DecembeB1,
2014,basedon criteriaestablishedn Internal Controli IntegratedFramework(1992)issuedby the Committeeof SponsoringOrganizations
of the TreadwayCommission(COSO).

We alsohaveaudited,in accordancevith the standard®f the PublicCompanyAccounting OversightBoard (United States)the consolidated
balancesheetof TheB r i rChndpanyandsubsidiariesasof DecembeB1,2014and2013,andtherelatedconsolidatedtatementsf income
(loss),comprehensivencome(loss),equity,andcashflows for eachof theyearsin thethreeyearperiodendedDecembeB1,2014,andour
reportdatedMarch5, 2015,expresse@n unqualifiedopinionon thoseconsolidatedinancial statements.

/s/KPMG LLP

Richmond,Virginia
March5, 2015
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Report of IndependentRegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

TheBoardof DirectorsandStockholders
TheB r i rChnipany:

We haveauditedtheaccompanyingonsolidatedalancesheetof TheB r i rChnipanyandsubsidiarieasof DecembeB1,2014and2013,
andtherelatedconsolidatedtatementsf income(loss),comprehensivincome(loss),equity, andcashflows for eachof the yearsin thethree
yearperiodendedDecembef31,2014. Theseconsolidatedinancial statementarethe responsibilityof the Conp a n sn@hagemenOur
responsibilityis to expressanopinion on theseconsolidatedinancial statementdasedon our audits.

We conductedur auditsin accordancevith the standard®f the PublicCompanyAccountingOversightBoard (United States). Those
standardsequirethatwe planandperformthe auditto obtainreasonabl@assurancaboutwhetherthefinancial statementarefree of material
misstatementAn auditincludesexamining,on atestbasis,evidencesupportinghe amountsanddisclosuresn thefinancial statementsAn
auditalsoincludesassessinthe accountingprinciplesusedandsignificantestimatesnadeby managemengiswell asevaluatingthe overall
financial statemenpresentation We believethatour auditsprovideareasonabléasisfor our opinion.

In our opinion,the consolidatedinancial statementseferredto abovepresenfairly, in all materialrespectsthefinancial positionof The
B r i rCan@panyandsubsidiariemsof DecembeBl,2014and2013,andtheresultsof their operationsandtheir cashflows for eachof the
yearsin thethreeyearperiodendedDecembeB1,2014,in conformitywith U.S. generallyacceptedccountingprinciples.

We alsohaveaudited,in accordancavith the standardef the Public CompanyAccourting OversightBoard(United States);TheBr i n k 6 s
C o mp a intgrilakcontroloverfinancialreportingasof DecembeB1,2014,basedon criteriaestablishedn Internal Controli Integrated
Framework(1992)issuedby the Committeeof SponsoringOrganizatims of the TreadwayCommission(COSO),andour reportdatedMarch

5, 2015expresse@nunqualifiedopinionon the effectivenes®ftheC o mp a intgridakcontroloverfinancialreporting.

/sIKPMG LLP

Richmond,Virginia
March5, 2015
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THE BRI

N KCOBPANY

and subsidiaries

ConsolidatedBalanceSheets

December 31,

(In_millions, except for per share amounts) 2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 176.2 255.5
Accountsreceivable (net of allowance: 201810.0; 2013 $8.2) 530.5 622.2
Prepaid expenses and other 129.0 153.0
Deferred income taxes 71.9 72.0
Total current assets 907.6 1,102.7
Property and equipment, net 669.5 758.7
Goodwill 215.7 240.2
Other intangibles 39.8 46.3
Deferred income taxes 289.5 251.7
Other 70.1 98.4
Total assets $ 2,192.2 2,498.0
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Shortterm borrowings $ 59.4 80.9
Current maturities of longerm debt 34.1 24.6
Accounts payable 168.6 185.6
Accrued liabilities 466.3 507.5
Total current liabilities 728.4 798.6
Long-term debt 3733 330.5
Accrued pension costs 219.0 214.8
Retirement benefits other than pensions 257.1 186.0
Deferred income taxes 10.8 18.0
Other 129.8 170.6
Totalliabilities 1,718.4 1,718.5
Commitments and contingent liabilities (notes 3, 4, 14, 16, 19 and 23)
Equity:
The Brinkds Company (fABrink6so) sharehol ders:
Common stock, par value $1 per share:
Shares authorized: 100.0
Shares issued and outstanding: 2048.6; 2013 48.4 48.6 48.4
Capital in excess of par value 584.5 566.4
Retained earnings 592.9 696.4
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Benefit plan adjustments (571.7 (478.0
Foreign currency translation (222.1 (241.5
Unrealized gains on availakler-sale securities 1.4 1.6
Gains on cash flow hedges 04 0.6
Accumulated othecomprehensive loss (792.0 (617.3
Brinkd6s sharehol ders 434.0 693.9
Noncontrolling interests 39.8 85.6
Total equity 473.8 779.5
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,192.2 2,498.0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE BRI

ConsolidatedStatementsof Income (Loss)

N KCOBEPANY
and subsidiaries

Years Ended December 31,

(In_millions, except for per share amounts) 2014 2013 2012
Revenues 3,562.3 3,778.6 3,577.6
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues 2,948.2 3,059.2 2,894.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses 560.6 546.8 532.4
Total costs anéxpenses 3,508.8 3,606.0 3,426.6
Other operating income (expense) (81.0 (9.4 11.2
Operating profit (loss) (27.5 163.2 162.2
Interest expense (23.4 (25.1] (23.1]
Interest and other income (expense) 1.9 15 7.0
Income (loss) from continuing operations before tax (49.0 139.6 146.1
Provision for income taxes 36.7 49.3 23.0
Income (loss) from continuing operations (85.7 90.3 123.1
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (29.1 9.2 (13.4
Net income (loss) (114.8 81l.1 109.7
Less net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (30.9 24.3 20.8
Net income (loss) attributable to Brinko (83.9 56.8 88.9
Amounts attributable to Brinkds:
Continuing operations (54.8 66.0 102.3
Discontinued operations (29.1 (9.2) (13.4
Net income (loss) attributable to Brinko (83.9 56.8 88.9
Earnings (loss) per share attri®utable t
Basic:
Continuing operations (1.12 1.36 2.12
Discontinued operations (0.59 (0.19; (0.28
Net income (loss) (1.71 1.17 1.84
Diluted:
Continuing operations 1.12 1.35 211
Discontinued operations (0.59 (0.19 (0.28
Netincome (loss) (1.71 1.16 1.83
Weighted-average shares
Basic 49.0 48.7 48.4
Diluted 49.0 49.0 48.6

(@) Amounts may not add due to rounding.

See accompanying not@sconsolidated financial statements.
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THE B R N KCOBPANY
and subsidiaries

ConsolidatedStatementsof Comprehensivelncome (Loss)

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss) $ (114.8 81.1 109.7
Benefit plan adjustments:
Benefit plan experience gains (losses) (134.3 265.0 27.3
Benefit plan prior service (costs) credits (2.9 63.0 (5.8
Deferred profit sharing 0.3 (0.3 0.5
Total benefit plan adjustments (136.9 327.7 22.0
Foreign currency translation adjustments (87.0 (32.8 34
Unrealized net gains (losses) on availdblesale securities 0.4, 0.1 (2.1
Gains (loss) on cadtow hedges (0.2 0.6 -
Other comprehensive income (loss) before tax (224.5 295.6 23.3
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (43.0 141.0 9.3
Other comprehensive income (loss) (181.5 154.6 14.0
Comprehensive income (loss) (296.3 235.7 123.7
Less comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (37.7 22.5 20.3
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable t$ (258.6 213.2 103.4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE BRI

N KCOBPANY

and subsidiaries

ConsolidatedStatementsof Equity

Years Ended December31,2014,2013and 2012

Canital Accumulated Attributable
in Excess Other to
Commot of Par  Retainec Comprehensiv Noncontrollina
(In millions) Shares  Stock Value Earninas Loss Interests Total
Balance as of December 31, 2011 46.9 46.9 559.5 589.5 (787.9 74.4 482.4
Net income - - - 88.9 - 20.8 109.7
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - 145 (0.5 14.0
Shares contributed to pension plan (see note 18) 0.4 0.4 8.6 - - - 9.0
Dividends to:
Brinkds common sharehol de - - - (29.0 - - (29.0
Noncontrolling interests - - - - - (13.0 (13.0
Sharebased compensation:
Stock options and awards:
Compensation expense - - 8.0 - - - 8.0
Consideration from exercise of stock options - - 14 - - - 14
Reduction in excess tax benefit of stock compensation - - (2.7 - - - (2.7,
Other shardased benefit programs 0.5 0.5 3.7 (0.3 - - (3.5
Acquisitions of noncontrolling interests - - (2.8) - - (7.3 (10.1
Capital contributions from noncontrolling interest - - - - - 0.6 0.6
Balance as of December 31, 2012 47.8 47.8 568.3 659.1 (773.4 75.0 576.8
Net income - - - 56.8 - 24.3 81.1
Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - - 156.4 1.8 154.6
Dividends to:
Brinkds common sharehol de - - - (19.2] - - (19.2]
Noncontrolling interests - - - - - (6.0; (6.0
Sharebased compensation:
Stock options and awards:
Compensation expense - - 9.9 - - - 9.9
Consideration from exercise of stooftions 0.3 0.3 6.4 - - - 6.7
Reduction in excess tax benefit of stock compensation - - (2.8 - - - (2.8
Other shardased benefit programs 0.3 0.3 (3.6 (0.3 - - (3.6,
Acquisitions of noncontrolling interests - - (11.8 - 0.3 (6.4, (18.5
Capital contributions from noncontrollingterest - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Balance as of December 31, 2013 48.4 48.4 566.4 696.4 (617.3 85.6 779.5
Net loss - - - (83.9 - (30.9 (114.8
Other comprehensive loss - - - - @ava.7 (6.8 (181.5
Dividends to:
Brinkds common sharehol de - - - (19.4 - - (19.4
Noncontrolling interests - - - - - (8.6, (8.6,
Sharebased compensation:
Stock options and awards:
Compensation expense - - 17.3 - - - 17.3
Consideration from exercise of stock options - - 0.4 - - - 0.4
Reduction in excess tax benefit of stock compensation - - (0.6) - - - (0.6)
Other sharédased benefit programs 0.2 0.2 1.0 (0.2) - - 1.0
Capital contributions from noncontrolling interest - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Balance as of December 31, 2014 48.6 § 48.6 584.5 592.9 (792.0 39.8 473.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE B R N KCORPANY
and subsidiaries

ConsolidatedStatementsof CashFlows

Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (1148 81.1 109.7
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 29.1 9.2 13.4
Depreciation and amortization 161.9 165.8 148.4
Sharebased compensation expense 17.3 9.9 8.0
Deferred income taxes (28.4 (34.6 (43.5
Gains and losses:
Available-for-sale securities 0.4, (0.4, (2.9,
Property and other assets (44.9 2.4 (7.6
Business acquisitions and dispositions - (2.8 (0.8
Impairment losses 3.3 2.9 24
Retirement benefit funding (more) less than expense:
Pension (23.6, 11.3 (1.9
Other than pension 15 15.0 22.3
Remeasurement losses due to Venezuela currency devaluations 121.6 13.4 -
Other operating 7.6 2.3 11.7
Changes in operating assets and liabilitiespheffects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable and income taxes receivable (90.7 (69.7 (70.6
Accounts payable, income taxes payable and accrued liabilities 105.5 23.6 15.7
Customer obligations 15.4 9.7, 13.9
Prepaid and other current assets 9.9, (19.4, 3.9
Other 14.7 (11.0, 7.5
Discontinued operations 5.5 17.0 20.9
Net cash provided by operating activities 141.3 201.5 250.5
Cash flows frominvesting activities:
Capital expenditures (136.1 172.9 (170.9
Acquisitions (4.6 (18.1 (17.2]
Sales of availabkor-sale securities 0.9 9.9 15.4
Sales of other investments and property 62.7 5.9 12.5
Redemption of casburrender value of life insurance policies - - 6.2
Other (3.6, (0.5 4.9
Discontinued operations (13.3 52.7 (18.2
Net cash used by investing activities (94.0 (123.0 (167.3
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings (repayments) of debt:
Shortterm debt (7.8 60.5 3.3
Long-term revolving credit facilities 115.0 13.8 (4.5
Other longterm debt:
Borrowings 7.5 3.8 9.7
Repayments (81.0 (27.3 (29.7,
Acquisition of a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary - (18.5 9.4
Payment of acquisitierelated obligation - (12.8 -
Dividends to:
Sharehol ders of Brinkods (19.4 (19.2] (19.0;
Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries (8.6 (6.0 (13.0
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 0.4 6.7 14
Minimum tax withholdings associated with shéx@sedcompensation 1.2 (3.5 (5.6
Other 1.6 (1.0 (1.0
Discontinued operations - (2.5) (0.2)
Net cash used by financing activities 3.3 (6.0) (68.0°
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (129.9 (18.7 3.6
Cash and cash equivalents:
Increase (decrease) (79.3 53.8 18.8
Balance at beginning of period 255.5 201.7 182.9
Balance at end of period $ 176.2 255.5 201.7

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE B R N KCOBPANY
and subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Noteli Summaryof Significant AccountingPolicies

Basisof Presentation

TheB r i rChnipany(alongwith its subsidiariesfi w efi, cdbuff B roi wrkhéfs @ o mp abasedn)Richmond,Virginia, is aleading
providerof securgransportationcashmanagementervicesandothersecurityrelatedserviceso banksandfinancialinstitutions,retailers,
govenmentagenciesmints,jewelersandothercommercialbperationsaroundtheworld. B r i nskhédaddestandlargestsecurgransportation
andcashmanagemergervicescompanyin theU.S.,anda marketleaderin manyothercountries.

Principlesof Consolidation

Theconsolidatedinancial statementincludetheaccountof B r i rakdthessubsidiariest controls. Controlis determinedasedon
ownershiprightsor, whenapplicable basedon whetherwe areconsideredo bethe primarybeneficiaryof a variableinterestentity. Our
interestin 20%to 50% ownedcompanieshatarenot controlledareaccountedor usingtheequitymethod( i e qaufiftiyl unkessaedod ) ,
not sufficiently influencethe managementf theinvestee.Otherinvestment@reaccountedor ascostmethodinvestmentor asavailablefor-
sale. All significantintercompanyaccountsandtransactionsiavebeeneliminatedin consolidation.

RevenueRecognition

Revenuss recognizedvhenservicegelatedto armoredvehicletransportationATM servicescashmanagemergervicespaymentservices,
guardingandthe securdnternationakransportatiorof valuablesare performed Customercontractshavepricesthatarefixed anddeterminable
andwe assesshec u s t oahikty tdnseetthe contractuaterms,includingpaymenterms,beforeenteringinto contracts. Customercontracts
generallyareautomaticallyextendedaftertheinitial contractperioduntil eitherpartyterminateshe agreement.Taxescollectedfrom
customersnd remittedto governmentahuthoritiesarenotincludedin revenuesn the consolidatedtatementsf income(loss).

Cashand CashEquivalents

Cashandcashequivalentsncludecashon hand,demandiepositsaandinvestmentsith original maturitiesof threemonthsor less. Cashand
cashequivalentsncludesamountsheldby certainof our securecashmanagemengervicesoperationdor customergor which, underlocal
regulationsthetitle transferdo usfor ashortperiodof time. Thecashis generdly creditedtoc u s t oavmuntsthifollowing dayandwe
do notconsiderit asavailablefor generakorporatepurposesn themanagementf our liquidity andcapitalresources We recorda liability for
theamountwedto customergseenote12).

Trade AccountsReceivable

Tradeaccountseceivablearerecordedat theinvoicedamountanddo not bearinterest. The allowancefor doubtfulaccountss our best
estimateof theamountof probablecreditlosseson our existingaccountgeceivable.We deerminethe allowancebasedn historicalwrite-off
experience.We reviewour allowancefor doubtfulaccountsgjuarterly. Accountbalancesrechargedff againsthe allowanceafterall means
of collectionhavebeenexhaustedndthe potentialfor recovey is consideredemote.

Propertyand Equipment
Propertyandequipmentarerecordedat cost. Depreciatioris calculatedprincipally on the straightline methodbasedon the estimateduseful
lives of individual asset®r classe®f assets.

Leasedpropertyandequipmenimeetingcapitalleasecriteriaarecapitalizedat the lower of the presenwalueof therelatedleasepaymentsor
thefair valueof theleasedassetittheinceptionof thelease. Amortizationis calculatedon the straightline mettod basedn theleaseterm.

Leaseholdmprovementsarerecordedat cost. Amortizationis calculatedprincipally on the straightline methodoverthelesserof the

estimatediusefullife of theleaseholdmprovemenbr leaseterm. Renewabperiodsareincludedin theleasetermwhentherenewalis
determinedo bereasonablyssured.
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Partof the costsrelatedto the developmenbr purchasef internatusesoftwareis capitalizedandamortizedoverthe estimatedisefullife of
thesoftware. Coststhatarecapitalizedincludeexternaldirect costsof materialsandserviceso developor obtainthe software andinternal
costs,includingcompensatiomndemployeebenefitsfor employeeslirectly associateavith a softwaredevelopmenproject.

Estimated Useful Lives Years
Buildings 16 to 25
Building leasehold improvements 3to 10
Vehicles 3to 10
Capitalized software 3to5
Other machinery and equipment 3to 10

Expenditures for routine maintenance and repairs on property and equipment are charged to expense. Major renewats,dr&ttermen
modifications are capitalized and depreciated over the lesser of the remaining life of the asset or, if applicabéeteha.leas

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangiBésradtausinesses
acquired. Intangible assets arising from business acquisiticilisie customer lists, customer relationships, covenants not to compete,
trademarks and other identifiable intangibles. At December 31, 2014;lifeitkintangible assets have remaining useful lives ranging from 1
to 13 years and are amortized basedhe pattern in which the economic benefits are used or on a stia@ghasis.

Impairment of LongLived Assets

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested at least annually for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is at theyesemient level or
one level below an operating segment. Goodwill is assigned to one or more reporting units at the datétioha&yios to the restructuring
of our global organization in the fourth quarter of 2014, our reporting units were Latin America, EMEA, North AmericaaaRdcKi. We
performed our annual goodwill impairment test on these reporting units as of Ott@d 4.

After the 2014 restructuring, we now have ten reporting units which are comprised of:
1 each of the five countries within Largest 5 Markets (U.S., France, Mexico, Brazil and Canada),
1 each of the three regions within Global Markets (Latin Amei?dEA and Asia),
1 the Latin American Payment Services businesses, and
1 the U.S. Payment Services business
We performed a goodwill impairment test on the new reporting units that had goodwill as of December 31, 2014.

For both goodwill impairment tests performed in the fourth quarter of 2014, we performed quantitative analyses to détetingineeporting
unit fair values exceeded their carrying amounts. We based our estimates of fair value on projected futavescasth dlompleted these
impairment tests, as well as the annual tests in the previous two years, with no impairment charges required.

Indefinite-lived intangibles are also tested for impairment at least annually by comparing their carrying valuegstirtisged fair values. We
have had no significant impairments of indefiditeed intangibles in the last three years.

Longlived assets other than goodwill and other indefiiited intangibles are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.

For longlived assets other than goodwill that are to be held and used in operations, an impairment is indicated when the &stimated to

undiscounted cash flow associated wiite asset or group of assets is less than carrying value. If impairment exists, an adjustment is made to
write the asset down to its fair value, and a loss is recorded as the difference between the carrying value and fair value.

70



Retirement Benefit Rins

We account for retirement benefit obligations under FASB ASC TopicTdfmpensatiofi Retirement BenefitsFor U.S. and certain nen

U.S. retirement plans, we derive the discount rates used to measure the present value of benefit obligationsagsifigthmatching
methodUnder this method, we compare the plands projected pdayment
cuve.Each year6s projected cash fl ows ar e urdmentdatd and anmveraltdsabunbratecik t c
determined.The overall discount rate is then rounded to the nearest tenth of a percentaglpwmiU.S. locations where the cash flow

matching method is not possible, rates of local tgjghlity longtemm corporate bonds are used to select the discount rate.

We used Me r-MeanrCairse toAdbtermires the discount rates for-gearbenefit obligations.

We select the expected lotgrm rate of return assumption for our U.S. pension planetitde medical plans using advice from an investment
advisor and an actuary. The selected rate considers plan asset allocation targets, expected overall investment nrareysy aeditong
term historical average compounded rates of return.

Benefitplan experience gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Accumulated net benefit plamaixserienc
and |l osses that exceed 10% of the greater of a plortizeddrdo etrrengse f i t
from other comprehensive income (loss) on a strdightbasis. The amortization period for pension plans is the average remaining service
period of employees expected to receive benefits under the plans. The amortization petloef fetirement plans is primarily the average
remaining life expectancy of inactive participants.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded to recognize the expected future tax benefits or costs of eventetmtdravidl be

reported in different years for financial statement purposes than tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesreee dased on the
difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted teffeettésrithe year in which these

items are expected to reverse. We recognize tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions if we believe it is rtitar hioglthe benefit

will be realized. We review our deferred tax assets to determine ihibriglikely-thannot that they will be realized. If we determine it is not
morelikely-thannot that a deferred tax asset will be realized, we record a valuation allowance to reverse the previously recognizfid tax bene

Foreign Currency Translation
Our consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. Our foreign subsidiaries maintain their recorgsrptimaanirrency of
the country in which they operate.

The method of translating local currency financial information into doB8ars depends on whether the economy in which our foreign
subsidiary operates has been designated as highly inflationary dEemtomies with a thregear cumulative inflation rate of more than 100%
are considered highly inflationary.

Assets andidbilities of foreign subsidiaries in nérghly inflationary economies are translated into U.S. dollars using rates of exchange at the
balance sheet datfranslation adjustments are recorded in other comprehensive income Resghues and expenses franslated at rates
of exchange in effect during the yedrransaction gains and losses are recorded in net income (loss).

Foreign subsidiaries that operate in highly inflationary countries use the U.S. dollar as their functional cugeslayurrency monetary
assets and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollars using rates of exchange as of each balance sheet date, witlené mejastmeents
and other transaction gains and losses recognized in eartNngsnonetary assets and liabilgielo not fluctuate with changes in local
currency exchange rates to the dollar.
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Venezuela

Brinkds Venez uwllailicmerc o&%t efd f ot al aBignificakddrapormerbi/2614 totl ®pemtmgl profit
before items not allocated to segmeni$.December 31, 2014, we had investments in our Venezuelan operations of $59.6 million on an
equity-method basis. At December 31, 2014, we had bolivar denominated net monetanyf &2 million, including $12.6 million of
cash and cash equivalents denominated in bolivars.

The economy in Venezuela has had significant inflation in the last several years. We consolidate our Venezuelan gesultaacsinnting
policy for subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies.

During the period from 2003 through Febru2015,the Venezuelan government controlled the exchange of local currency into other
currencies, including the U.S. dollaburing this period, the Venezuelan government required that currency exchanges be made at official
rates established by the goverent instead of allowing open markets to determine currency rates. Different official rates existed for different
industries and purposes. The government did not approve all requests to convert bolivars to other currencies.

The government devalued th#ficial rate for essential services in February 2013 from 5.3 to 6.3 bolivars to the dollar.

Late in 2013, the government added another official exchange process, known as SICAD, for travel and certain othempuigppasedable

at government disetion. The published rate for this process in 2014 ranged from 10 to 12 bolivars to the U.S. dollar. Since the #rstl of the
quarter of 2013, we have only been able to obtain dollars once using the SICAD process. We do not know whether wie wlldoe egs

the SICAD process again in the future.

In March 2014, the government initiated another exchange mechanism known as SICAD Il. Conversions under this mechafiem were
subject to specific eligibility requirements. Transactions were raptotbe in a range of 49 to 52 bolivars to the dollar. Through December
31, 2014, we received approval to obtain $1.2 million (weighted average exchange rate of 51) through the SICAD Il mechanism.

In February 2015, the government replaced the SICAiPdtess with a new process, known locally as SIMADI. The rates published in mid
February 2015 ranged from 170 to 174 bolivars to the U.S. dollar.

As a result of the restrictions on currency exchange, we have in the past been unable to obtainJuficetars to purchase certain
imported supplies and fixed assets to fully operate our business in Venezuela. Consequently, we have occasionallynouecbgsedsive,
bolivar-denominated supplies and fixed assets. Furthermore, there is a riglethatv SIMADI process will be discontinued or not accessible
when needed in the future, which may prevent us fiegmatriating dividends aybtaining dollars to operate our Venezuelan operations.

Remeasurement rate during 201®/e used an official rate of 5.3 bolivars to the dollar to remeasure our bddimaminated monetary assets
and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and expenses.

Remeasurement rates during 20Ihrough January 31, 2013, weed an official rate of 5.3 bolivars to the dollar to remeasure our bolivar
denominated monetary assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and expenses. Afteritveiddveltwaary

2013, we began to use the 6.3 offi@athange rate to remeasure bolivar denominated monetary assets and liabilities and to translate our
revenues and expenses. We recognized a $13.4 million net remeasurement loss in 2013 when we changed from the SaBige 6z8eexch
The aftertax effet of these losses attributable to noncontrolling interests was $4.7 million in 2013.

Remeasurement rates during 20Ifhrough March 23, 2014, we used the official rate of 6.3 bolivars to the dollar to renmashodivar
denominated monetary assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and to translate our revenues and expenses. Effectiv@0drche2degan
to use the exchange rate published for the SICAD Il process to remeasure bolivar denominated assp&tagd liabilities and to translate
our revenues and expenses. We recognized a $121.6 million net remeasurement loss in 2014 when we changed fromateeobBiGdbr
the SICAD Il exchange ratehich averaged approximately 50 since openindylanch 24, 2014 until implementation of a new exchange
process in February 2015 (SIMADI). Transaction gains and losses since March 31, 2014 have not been siynidieaainber 31, 2014, the
rate was approximately 50. The aftax effect of these legs attributable to noncontrolling interests was $39.7 million in 2014.
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Remeasuring our Venezuelan results using the SICAD Il rate has had the following effects on our reported results:

T Brinkds Venezu e signifida@t somfoeeatofBeikss d erssol i dated revenues and

T Brinkds Venezuel ads profit margin percentage declinad as
lower U.S. dollar basis but instead retained a historical higher basis whiclsedifor depreciation and other expense attribution.
Our nonmonetary assets were $59.9 million at December 31, 2013, and $55.0 million at December 31, 2014.

1 Ourinvestment in our Venezuelan operations on an equetirod basis has declined. Our investnveat $125.3 million at
December 31, 2013, ai$$9.6 millionat December 31, 2014.

1  Our bolivardenominated net monetary assets included in our consolidated balance sheets have declined. @ienbofiveated
net monetary assets were $120.4 million (idolg $93.8 million of cash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 201 &6d
million (including$12.6 millionof cash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 2014.

~ O
—~ T

Concentration of Credit Risks

We routinely assess the financial strength of significastomers and this assessment, combined with the large number and geographic
diversity of our customers, limits our concentration of risk with respect to accounts receivable. Financial instrunmepistevitially subject

us to concentrations of credisks are principally cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are held by
major financial institutions.

Use of Estimates

I n accordance with U.S. generally accepted accountingrematingtaci pl €
the reporting of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities to prepare thidagedditsancial statements.

Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The most significant estimates are related to goodwillegtardyother long

lived assets, pension and other retirement benefit assets and obligatiorri¢éiggencies, deferred tax assets, purchase price allocations and
foreign currency translation.

Fair-value estimatesWe have various financial instruments included in our financial statements. Financial instruments are carried in our
financial statements at either cost or fair value. We estimate fair value of assets using the following hierarchy using the¢liglossilée:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical asseatgeand liabil
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available.

New Accounting Standard

In May 2014,théi nanci al Accounting Standards Board (AFASBO) issued a
entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods oo sersicesetsThe

new standard will replace most of the existing revenue recognition standards in U.S. GAAP when it becomes effectivey dn 2ahniar

Early adoption is not permitted. The new standard can be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting pemted pragtrospectively

with the cumulative effect of the change recognized at the date of the initial application in retained earnings. Wsiagethegastential

impact of the new standard on financial reporting and have not yet selected a transitiod.
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Note 2i Segment Information

We identify our operating segments based onhowcolri ef operating decision maker (ACODMO) 38
and makes decision®©ur CODM is our President and Chief Executive OfficBur CODM evaluates performance and allocates resources to
each operating segment based on opayarofit or loss, excluding income and expenses not allocated to segments.

Ef fective December 2014, we reorganized the majorit ys(uociudngr i nkos
U.S.,FranceMexico, Brazil andCanad), and Global Markets (for the 36 countries besides the Largest 5 Markets). Country operations

typically provide Castin-Tr ansit (ACI To) Services, ATM Ser vi c e Reporti@glines withima n a g e m
these two business unise supplemented by a matrixed, centralized management of the Global Services operations. The Payment Services
business has a centralized organizational structure.

As a result of this reorganization, beginning in 2014, we report financial resultsfalltheng nine operating segments:
1 Each of the five countries within Largest 5 Markets (U.S., France, Mexico, Brazil and Canada)
1 Each of the three regions within Global Markets (Latin America, EMEA and Asia)
1 Payment Services

We currently serve customersiinore than 100 countrieimicluding 41 countries where we operate subsidiaries.

The primary services of threportablesegments include:

1 CIT Serviced armored vehicle transportation of valuables

T ATMServicesir epl eni shi ng and aotanmated telér machirgs; praviding metvweork mféastructure services

1 Global Service$ secure international transportation of valuables

1 Cash Management Services
o Currency and coin counting and sorting; deposit preparation and reconciliations; otheanaglement services
o Safe and safe control device installation and servicing (including our patented CorfimeBeifee)
o Check and cash processing services for banking customers
0 Check imaging services for banking customers

1 PaymenServices bi | I payment and processing services on behalf of 1
Brinkbés operated pay menBr il nokcéast gébenmspuypéie rdloadaklerprepiich eards andipayaoh d
cardsin the U.S.

1 Guarding Services protection of airports, offices, and certain other locations in Europe with or without electronic surveillance,
access control, fire prevention and highly trained patrolling personnel
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Revenues Operating Profit (Loss)
Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Reportable Segments:
u.s. $ 727.8 707.5 706.7 $ 22.8 12.8 32.0
France 517.4 517.6 511.4 394 44.5 39.7
Mexico 388.2 423.9 395.0 9.6 26.9 17.7
Brazil 364.1 354.4 363.6 34.2 41.1 39.9
Canada 179.7 1914 187.5 12.8 105 9.3
Largest 5 Markets 2,177.2 2,194.8 2,164.2 118.8 135.8 138.6
Latin America 592.4 854.2 744.4 90.6 136.2 90.0
EMEA 556.3 540.6 503.1 52.5 47.0 453
Asia 139.8 134.2 125.9 23.1 21.0 14.8
Global Markets 1,288.5 1,529.0 1,373.4 166.2 204.2 150.1
Payment Services 96.6 54.8 40.0 4.9 1.0 1.2
Total reportable segments 3,562.3 3,778.6 3,577.6 280.1 341.0 289.9
Reconciling ltems:
Corporate items:
General, administrative and other expenses - - - (108.8 (116.4 (87.4
Reconciliation of segment policies to GAAP - - - 2.3 2.7 4.5
Other items not allocated to segments:
FX devaluation in Venezuela - - - (142.7 (14.6; -
U.S. retirement plans (see note 3) - - - (73.1] (52.9 (56.2
2014 Reorganization and Restructuring - - - (21.8 - -
Acquisitions and dispositions - - - 494 5.8 14.6
Mexican settlement losses (see note 3) - - - (5.9 2.4 3.2
Sharebased compensation adj. (see note 17) - - - 2.4 - -
Total $ 3,562.3 3,778.6 35776 $ (27.5 163.2 162.2

FX devaluation in VenezuelaThe rate we use to remeasure operations in Venezuela declined 16% in February 2013 (from 5.3 to 6.3 bolivars

to the U.S. dollar) rd 88% in March 2014 (from 6.3 to 50 bolivars to the U.S. dollBRpenses related to remeasured net monetary assets
were $121.6 million in 2014 and $13.4 million in 2018.addition, nonmonetary assets were not remeasured to a lower basis when the

currency devaluedlInstead, under highly inflationary accounting rules, these assets retained their higher historical bases, which excess is

recognized in earnings as the asset is consumed resulting in incremental expense until the excess bases atdiglegebegenses related

to nonmonetary assets were $21.1 million in 2014 and $1.2 million in ZB4®nses related to these Venezuelan devaluations have not been

allocated to segment results.

2014 Reorganization and RestructuringB r i

nkoés

roles and structures in its former Latin America and EMEA regions and is substantially complete with implementing agiae tbe cost
structure of various country operatidmgeliminating approximately 1,700 positions across its global workfdeeerance costs of $21.8
million associated with these actions were recognized in 2014. These amounts have not been allocated to segment results.

rared oestyicuned irs business in December 2014, eliminating the management

Acquisitions and dispositions Gains and losses related to acquisitions and dispositions that have not been allocated to segment results are

described below:

T Brinkdéds sold an

equity

$6.1 million in 2013 and $5.8 million in 2012).
1  Adjustments to the 2010 business acquisition gain for Mexico ($0.7 midlimrable adjustment in 2014, $1.1 million in
unfavorable adjustments in 2013 and a $2.1 million favorable adjustment in 2012).

1  Adjustments to the purchase price of the January 2013 acquisition of Rede Trel in Brazil ($1.7 million of favorable asljustmen

2013).

invest ment
2014 were $0.6 million. Equity earnings related to our former investment in Peru recognized in prior periods ($3.8 20lidn in

in

a

Cl T Gtherdivestiéuse gains in

1 The $0.9 million impairment in 2013 of an intangible asset acquired in the 2009 India acquisition.

=

A 2012 gain on the sale of real estate in Venezuela ($7.2 million).

1 Unfavorable adjustments of $0.5 million recognized in 2012 related to vaboussitions and dispositions.
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Years Ended December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Capital Expenditures by Business Segment
u.s. $ 31.1 42.4 39.0
France 17.9 13.8 15.8
Mexico 13.3 245 27.4
Brazil 14.7 13.2 12.4
Canada 6.4 9.6 9.1
Largest 5 Markets 83.4 103.5 103.7
Latin America 22.4 26.8 37.3
EMEA 9.2 8.9 9.8
Asia 3.6 2.4 4.4
Global Markets 35.2 38.1 515
Payment Services 0.8 15 1.8
Segments 119.4 143.1 157.0
Corporate items 16.7 29.8 13.9
Total $ 136.1 172.9 170.9
Depreciation and Amortization by Business Segment
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment:
uU.S. $ 49.8 49.1 45.6
France 19.3 22.1 20.6
Mexico 19.6 19.2 14.3
Brazil 8.8 9.0 8.7
Canada 8.5 8.3 9.0
Largest 5 Markets 106.0 107.7 98.2
Latin America 21.9 22.5 21.1
EMEA 13.6 16.9 125
Asia 3.2 3.7 3.6
Global Markets 38.7 43.1 37.2
Payment Services 2.2 2.2 1.3
Segments 146.9 153.0 136.7
Corporate items 9.5 6.4 4.5
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 156.4 159.4 141.2
Amortization of intangible assets:
uU.S. - 0.2 0.3
France 0.3 04 0.3
Brazil 1.4 1.7 2.1
Largest 5 Markets 1.7 2.3 2.7
Latin America 0.3 04 0.4
EMEA 1.1 1.2 2.3
Asia 0.9 1.0 1.1
Global Markets 2.3 2.6 3.8
Payment Services 15 15 0.7
Amortization of intangible assets 55 6.4 7.2
Total $ 161.9 165.8 148.4
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December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Assets held by Segment
u.s. $ 327.4 330.0 345.2
France 244.7 246.6 244.1
Mexico 258.9 285.1 269.3
Brazil 165.0 165.8 165.7
Canada 92.3 96.5 120.4
Largest 5 Markets 1,088.3 1,124.0 1,144.7
Latin America 296.0 5211 418.0
EMEA 308.0 382.8 433.9
Asia 109.2 115.1 148.3
Global Markets 713.2 1,019.0 1,000.2
PaymentServices 63.7 72.0 27.9
Segments 1,865.2 2,215.0 2,172.8
Corpoate items 327.0 283.0 381.1
Total $ 2,192.2 2,498.0 2,553.9
Long-Lived Assets by Geographic Are&
Non-U.S.:
France $ 75.7 88.5 94.3
Mexico 114.4 136.8 133.7
Brazil 47.9 47.6 47.9
Canada 47.9 50.7 68.4
Other 175.5 216.3 240.0
Subtotal 461.4 539.9 584.3
U.S. 208.1 218.8 209.5
Total $ 669.5 758.7 793.8

(a) Longlived assets include only property agguipment.

Years Ended December 31,

(In_millions) 2014 2013 2012

Revenues by Geographic Ared

Outside the U.S.:
France $ 517.4 542.5 535.5
Mexico 388.5 424.1 395.0
Brazil 442.3 392.0 388.3
Canada 179.7 191.4 187.5
Other 1,305.8 1,521.1 1,364.6
Subtotal 2,833.7 3,071.1 2,870.9

U.S. 728.6 707.5 706.7

Total $ 35623 3,778.6 3,577.6

(@) Revenuesrerecordedn the countrywhereserviceis initiated or performedNo singlecustomerepresentsnorethan10% of total revenue.Geographidisclosureof
countryrevenuesncludethe PaymentsServicessegmenin Mexico, Brazil, Colombiaandthe U.S.
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December 31,

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Net assets outside the U.S.
France $ 96.3 110.8 79.2
Other EMEA countries 146.1 180.6 192.9
Mexico 88.4 101.2 131.5
Brazil 111.1 105.2 103.1
Other Latin America countries 182.4 273.0 203.6
Asian countries 69.2 72.7 89.1
Canada 53.4 69.3 43.2
Total $ 746.9 912.8 842.6
(In millions) 2014 2013 2012
Information about Unconsolidated Equity Affiliates held by Global Marketsi Asia Segment:

Carrying value of investments at December 31 $ 2.7 2.3 1.8

Undistributed earnings at December 31 11 0.8 0.4

Share of earnings included in Brinksnsolidated earnings during the year 0.5 0.7 0.2
Brinkds sold an equity investment in a CIT busi nesimgvalume I

was $13.5 million at December 31, 2013, &18.8 million at December 31, 2012. The equity earnings from this investment were
million in 2014, $6.1 million in 2013 and $5.8 million in 2012.
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Note31 RetirementBenefits

Defined-benefit PensionPlans

Summary

We havevariousdefinedbenefitpensionplanscoveringeligible currentandformeremployees.Benefitsundermostplansarebasecdbon salary
andyearsof service. Pensiorbenefitsprovidedto eligible U.S.employeesverefrozenon DecembeB1, 2005. There arelimits to theamount
of benefitswhich canbepaidto participantd§rom a U.S. qualified pensionplan. We maintaina nonqualifiedU.S. planto paybenefitsfor those
eligible currentandformeremployeesn the U.S. whosebenefitsexceedheregulabry limits.

Componentof Net PeriodicPensionCost

(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ - - - 8 125 15.0 111 $ 125 15.0 111
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 453 42.2 43.8 18.4 19.1 19.1 63.7 61.3 62.9
Return on asseisexpected (63.9 (56.9  (60.0 144 (129 (12.2 (78.3  (69.8 (72.2
Amortization of losses 28.2 45.1 39.5 2.3 6.1 4.0 30.5 51.2 435
Amortization of prior service cost - - - 1.0 0.8 2.0 1.0 0.8 2.0
Settlement los&’ 56.1 0.1 5.0 6.3 2.6 3.3 62.4 27 8.3
Net periodic pension cost $ 65.7 30.5 283 % 26.1 30.7 273 % 91.8 61.2 55.6
Included in:

Continuing operations $ 65.7 30.5 283 $ 24.4 28.7 252 % 90.1 59.2 53.5

Discontinued operations - - - 1.7 2.0 2.1 1.7 2.0 2.1
Net periodic pension cost $ 65.7 30.5 283 $ 26.1 30.7 273 % 91.8 61.2 55.6

(a)  Settlement losses recognized in the U.S. in 2014 relate to adumfbuyo ut of 4, 300 par t i-swnBugonutsa b eSlecew.f 2 09 et tLiuempe n't
U.S. relate primarily to terminated employees that participate in a Mexican severance indemnity program that is accasiatel@fioed benefit plan.

Obligationsand Funded Status
Changesn theprojectedbenefitobligation( i P Babap)anassetgor our pensionplansareasfollows:

(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 934.9 1,031.3 390.4 392.3 1,325.3 1,423.6
Service cost - - 12.5 15.0 12.5 15.0
Interest cost 453 42.2 18.4 191 63.7 61.3
Participant contributions - - 4.2 3.8 4.2 3.8
Plan amendments - - (0.1, 4.9 (0.1 (4.9
Curtailments - - (0.1 0.2, (0.1 (0.2
Settlement@ (149.0 (0.5 - 2.0, (149.0 (2.5
Benefits paid (44.9 (43.6, (24.2 (18.8 (69.1] (62.4,
Sae of Brinko6s Netherl an - - (132.7 - (132.7 -
Actuarial (gains) losses 117.8 (94.5 59.7 (8.0, 1775 (102.5
Foreign currency exchange effects - - (45.0 (5.9 (45.0 (5.9
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 904.1 934.9 283.1 390.4 1,187.2 1,325.3
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 811.8 756.3 322.0 283.0 1,133.8 1,039.3
Return on assetsactual 80.6 85.5 23.8 16.6 104.4 102.1
Participant contributions - - 4.2 3.8 4.2 3.8
Employer contributions 87.8 141 31.0 40.1 118.8 54.2
Settlement@ (149.0 (0.5 - 2.0, (149.0 (2.5
Benefits paid (44.9 (43.6 (24.2 (18.8 (69.1 (62.4,
Sae of Brinkés Netherl an - - (157.2 - (157.2 -
Foreign currency exchange effects - - (20.3 0.7 (20.3 (0.7)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 786.3 811.8 179.3 322.0 965.6 1,133.8
Funded status $ (1178 (123.1 (103.8 (68.4 (221.6 (191.5
Included in:

Noncurrent asset $ - - - (28.6 - (28.6;

Current liability, included in accrued liabilities 0.6 0.8 2.0 4.5 2.6 5.3

Noncurrentiability 117.2 122.3 101.8 92.5 219.0 214.8
Net pension liability $ 117.8 123.1 103.8 68.4 221.6 191.5

(@) The2014U.S.settlementeflectsthe lump-sumelectionsacceptedy approximatelyt,300terminatedparticipantsSeefi 2 0 Luhp-sumBuy-o0 u befow.
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Other Changesn Plan Assetsand Benefit Recognizedn Other Comprehensivéncome (L0SS)

(In millions) U.S. Plans NontU.S. Plans Total
Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Benefit plan net experience losses recognized in
accunulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Beginning of year $ (323.6 (491.9 (39.2 (59.7, (362.8 (551.6
Net experience gains (losses) arising during the year (101.1 123.1 (50.3 11.7 (151.4 134.8
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of
prior experience losses included in net income (@ss) 84.3 45.2 3.8 8.8 88.1 54.0
End of year $ (340.4 (323.6 (85.7 (39.2 (426.1 (362.8
Benefit plan prior service cost recognized in
accunulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Beginning of year $ - - (10.2; (15.8; (10.2 (15.8
Prior service credit (cost) from plan amendments
during the year - - 0.1 4.9 0.1 4.9
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of
prior service cost included in net income (I6%s) - - 0.8 0.7 0.8 0.7
End of year $ - - (9.3) (10.2° (9.3 (10.2'

(@) Includes $5.0 million of reclassification adjustments in net income (loss) in 2014 related to the sale of CIT operhddestiretlands. These amounts are included in

loss from discontinued operat®in the income statement and as such are not included in amortization of losses in net periodic postretirement cost.

Approximately $36.5 million of experience loss and $0.1 million of prior service cost are expected to be amortized framat@ccather

comprehensive income (loss) into net periodic pension cost during 2015.

Thenetexperiencdossesn 2014(the majority attributedto the U.S. plans)wereprimarily dueto the lower discountratesat the endof theyear
comparedo the prior yearandthe adoptionof newmortality tablesfor U.S. plans,partially offsetby a gainfrom alump-sumbuy-out (see

i 2 0Lurp-sumBuy-0 u betow)andtheactualreturnon assetbeinghigherthanexpected.Thenetexperienceyainsin 2013(the majority
attributedto the U.S. plans)wereprimarily dueto the higherdiscountratesat the endof the yearcomparedo the prior yearandtheactual

returnon assetdeinghigherthanexpected.

Information Comparing Plan Assets to Plan Obligations

Information comparing plan assets to plan obligations as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are aggregated below. The dengfiulated

obligation (AABOO0) differs from the PBO

assumptions about future compensation levels for plans that have not been frozen. The total ABO for our U.S. pensasrisfladhd w
million in 2014 and $934.9 million in 2013. The total ABO for our Néi$. pension plans was $242.9 million inl20and $345.3 million in

n

t hat

t h eludésB O

2013.
(In millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total
December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Information for pension plans with an ABO in excess of plan assets:
Fairvalue of plan assets $ 786.3 811.8 45.6 38.1 831.9 849.9
Accumulated benefit obligation 904.1 934.9 111.9 103.6 1,016.0 11,0385
Projected benefit obligation 904.1 934.9 137.0 135.1  1,041.1 1,070.0

2014Lump-sum Buy-out

S

TheprimaryU.S. pensiorplanmadean offer to buyoutcertainplanp a r t i @éngicaberiefitsin 2014andapproximately4,300accepted.

Thepensionplansettledthe buy-outin thefourth quarterof 2014. After the settlementthereareapproximatelyl5,200beneficiariesn the

plans. We recognizeca $56.1million settlementossasaresultof thebuy-out. We alsorecognizeda $40million benefitplanexperienceain
arisingduringtheyearin accumulatedthercomprehensivencome(loss)asthe obligationreleasedvasmorethanthe cashbenefitpayments

from theplanassets.
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Assumptions
Discountrates
Theweightedaverageassumptionsisedin determiningthe netpensioncostandbenefitobligationsfor our pensionplanswereasfollows:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Discount rate:

Pension cost 5.0 % 4.2 % 4.6 % 6.3 % 53 % 5.4 %

Benefit obligation at year end 41% 5.0% 42 % 5.1 % 6.3 % 53%
Expected return on assétpension cost 8.00 % 8.00 % 8.25% 5.83 % 464 % 492y
Average rate of increase in salarfés

Pension cost N/A N/A N/A 39% 3.8% 3.2%

Beneft obligation at year end N/A N/A N/A 3.9 % 3.9% 3.8%

(a) Salary scale assumptions are determined through historical experience and vary by age and industry. The U.S. plaa rerefitsRension benefits will not increase
due to future salary increases.

Adoptionof NewMortality Tablesfor our U.S.RetirrmentBenefits

The Societyof Actuariesissuednewmortality basetables( fi R 1 4ndlglongevityimprovemenscale( fi M2P0 1 éh ©¢toberof 2014,
supersedinghe onesdevelopedn 2000. The newtablesreflectthatpeoplein theU.S. areliving significantly longerthanpredictedin the 2000
tables.

We adoptedthe Mercermodified RP-2014basetableandMercermodified MP-2014projectionscale with Blue Collar adjustmentgor the
majority of our U.S. retirementplans,andwith White Collar adjustmerg for our nonqualifiedU.S. pensionplanasof DecembeB1,2014. The
adoptionof thesetablessignificantlyincreasedhe estimated).S.p | arstisethentbligations.The increases to our major U.S. plans were $45
million for the primary U.S. pensiongmh, $39 million for the UMWA retiree medical plans and $3 million for the black lung obligations
Theseincreasesvererecognizedasbenefitplan experiencdossesarisingduringtheyearin accumulatesthercomprehensivincome(loss).

As of DecembeB31,2013,we usedthetablesdevelopedy the Societyof Actuariesin 2000i the RP-2000basetableandthe AA improvement
scalewith similar Blue andWhite Collar adjustments.

EstimatedFuture CashFlows

Estimated~uture Contributionsfrom the Companyinto Plan Assets

Our policy is to fund at leastthe minimumactuariallydeterminecamountsequiredby applicableregulations.We do not expectto make
contributionsgto our primaryU.S. pensionplanin 2015. We expectto contribute$13.5million to ournonU.S. pensionplansand$0.6million
to our nonqualifiedU.S. pensiormplanin 2015.

Estimated~uture BenefitPaymentdrom Plan Assetdo Beneficiaries
Projectedbenefitpaymentof the plansin the next 10 yearsusingassumptionin effectat Decembei1,2014,areasfollows:

(In_millions) U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Total

2015 $ 47.0 12.1 59.1
2016 47.3 11.7 59.0
2017 48.0 12.6 60.6
2018 48.6 14.7 63.3
2019 49.6 15.9 65.5
2020 through 2024 $ 250.4 114.3 364.7
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Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions

Summary

We provideretirementhealthcarédenefitsfor eligible currentandformerU.S.,CanadianandBrazilianemployees.Retiremenbenefitsrelated
to our formerU.S. coal operationincludemedicalbenefitsprovidedby the PittstonCoal GroupCompanie€mployee BenefitPlanfor UMWA

RepresenteEmployeeqthei U MWA | a maswelljascostsrelatedto blacklung obligations.

Componentf Net PeriodicPostretiremeniCost

Thecomponent®f netperiodicpostretirementostrelatedto retirementenefitsotherthanpensionsvereasfollows:

(In millions) UMWA Plans Black Lung and Other Plaf Total

Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ - - -8 0.1 0.3 0€ $ 0.1 0.3 0.6
Interest cost on APBO 17.9 19.7 22.3 2.3 1.9 2.8 20.2 216 251
Returnon asset$ expected (22.2 (20.8 (21.3 - - - (22.22  (20.8 (21.3
Amortization of losses 12.3 19.6 21.0 0.6 0.7 1kt 12.9 20.3 22.5
Amortization of prior service cost (credit) (4.6 - - 1.7 1.7 2.C (2.9 1.7 2.0
Net periodic postretirement cost $ 3.4 18.5 220 ¢ 4.7 4.6 6 $ 8.1 23.1 28.9

(a) Includesnetperiodicpostretirementostrelatedto nonU.S. plansof $0.7 million in 2014,$0.7 million in 2013,and$1.0million in 2012.

Obligations and Funded Status

Changes in the accumul ated postretirement benefit otbdrdagfallowso n
(In millions) UMWA Plans Black Lung and Other Total
YearsEnded December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 201« 2012
APBO at beginning of year $ 426.5 525.3 48.9 53.0 475.4 578.3
Service cost - - 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.3
Interest cost 17.9 19.7 2.3 1.9 20.2 21.6
Plan amendments - (55.7 - - - (55.7,
Benefits paid (34.5 (34.2 (7.4, (7.1, (41.9 (41.3
Medicare subsidy received 0.6 3.1 - - 0.6 3.1
Actuarial (gains) losses, net 51.3 31L.7 232 0.8 74.5 (30.9;
Foreign currency exchange effects - - (0.9 - (0.9 -
APBO at end of year $ 461.8 426.5 66.2 48.9 528.0 475.4
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 284.4 268.7 - - 284.4 268.7
Employer contributions (0.8 1.0 7.4 7.1 6.6 8.1
Return on assetsactual 14.9 45.8 - - 14.9 45.8
Benefits paid (34.5 (34.2 (7.4, (7.1 (41.9 (413
Medicare subsidy received 0.6 3.1 - - 0.6 3.1
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 264.6 284.4 - - 264.6 284.4
Funded status $ (197.2 (142.1 (66.2 (48.9 (263.4 (191.0
Included in:

Current, included in accrued liabilities $ - - 6.3 5.0 6.3 5.0
Noncurrent 197.2 142.1 59.9 43.9 257.1 186.0
Retirement benefits other than pension liability $ 197.2 142.1 66.2 48.9 263.4 191.0
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Other Changesin Plan Assetsand Benefit Recognizedn Other Comprehensivéncome (L0SS)
Changesn accumulateathercomprehensivencome(loss)of our retirementbenefitplansotherthanpensionsareasfollows:

Black Lung and Oth:
(In millions) UMWA Plans Plans Total
Years Ended December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Benefit plan net experience gain (loss) recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Beginning of year $ (2194 (295.7 (6.3 (6.2 (225.7 (301.9
Net experience gains (losses) arising during the year (58.6 56.7 (23.2 (0.8 (81.8 55.9
Reclassification adjustment for amortization of

prior experience losses included in net income (loss) 12.4 19.6 0.5 0.7 12.9 20.3
End of year $ (265.6 (219.4 (29.0 (6.3 (294.6 (225.7

Benefit plan prior service (cost) credit recognized in
accunulated other comprehensive income (loss):

Beginning of year $ 55.7 - 7.7, 9.4 48.0 9.4
Prior service credit from plan amendments during the year - 55.7 - - - 55.7
Reclassification adjustment for amortization or curtailment

of prior service cost included in net income (loss) (4.6 - 17 17 (2.9 1.7
End of year $ 51.1 55.7 (6.0 (7.7 45.1 48.0

We estimatethat$19.8million of experiencdossand$2.9million of prior servicecreditwill beamortizedrom accumulateather
comprehensivencome(loss)into netperiodicpostretirementostduring2014.

Werecognizechetexperiencdossesn 2014associateavith the UMWA obligationsprimarily relatedto the adoptionof newmortality tables,
alower discountrate,andreturnon assetdeinglower thanexpected.We recognizechetexperiencdossedn 2014associatedvith the black
lung andotherplansprimarily relatedto anincreasen the estimatecadministrativecoststo beincurredby the plansin thefuture,alower
discountrateandthe adoptionof newmortality tables.

We recognizeda prior servicecreditin 2013associateavith UMWA obligationsdueto a planamendmenthatchangedheplanfrom a self
insuredwelfarebenefitplanto anemployergroupwaiverplan( i E G WWhich reduceduture expectechetpercapitaclaimscosts. We
recognizechetexperiencayainsin 2013associatedvith the UMWA obligationsprimarily relatedto the higherdiscountrate,areturnon assets
beinghigherthanexpectecanda decreasén the expectedbligationrelatedto the excisetax on high-costhealthplans. Thegainrelatedto the
excisetax on high-costhealthplansrefleds the benefitof lower per capitaclaimscostsfrom thechangeo EGWP.

Assumptions
SeeAdoptionof NewMortality Tablesfor our U.S.RetiremenBenefitson page81 for adescriptionof the mortality assumptions.

Discountrates
The APBO for eachof the planswasdeterminediusingthe unit creditmethodandanassumedliscountrateasfollows:

2014 2013 2012
Weightedaverage discount rate:
Postretirement cost:
UMWA plans 4.7 % 3.9% 44 %
Black lung 4.4 % 35% 4.2%
Weightedaverage 4.7 % 3.9% 4.4 %
Benefit obligation at year end:
UMWA plans 4.0 % 4.7 % 3.9%
Black lung 3.7% 4.4% 3.5%
Weightedaverage 41% 4.7 % 3.9%
Expected return on assets 8.25% 8.25% 8.50 %

HealthcareCostTrendRates

For UMWA plans,theassumedhealthcareosttrendrateusedto computethe 2014APBO is 7.0%for 2015,decliningto 5.0%in 2021and
thereaftel(in 2013:7.0%for 2014decliningto 5.0%in 2020andthereafter).For the blacklung obligation,theassumedhealthcareosttrend
rateusedto computethe2014APBO was5.0%. Otherplansin theU.S. providefor fixed-dollar valuecoveragéor eligible participantsand,
accordingly,arenot adjustedor inflation.
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Forthe Canadiarplan,theassumedhealthcareosttrendrateusedto computethe 2014APBO is 7.0%for 2015,decliningto 5.0%in 2021.
FortheBrazilianplan,theassumedhealthcareosttrendrateusedto computethe 2014APBO is 3.0%.

Thetablebelow showsthe estimateceffectsof a onepercentaggoint changan theassumedhealthcareosttrendratesfor eachfutureyear.

Effect of Change in Assumed Healthcare Trend Rate
(In millions) Increase 1% Decrease 1%

Higher (lower):
Service and interest cost in 2014 $ 2.1 (1.8
APBO at December 31, 2014 59.3 (49.6

TheMedicarePrescriptionDrug, Improvemenaind ModernizationAct of 2003(thefi Me d i Accat poayidesfor a prescriptiondrugbenefit
underMedicareaswell asafederalsubsidyto sponsor®f retireehealthcardenefitplansthatprovidea benefitthatis atleastactuarially
equivalento Medicareprescriptiondrugbenefits Becausef thebroadnessf coverageprovidedunderour UMWA plans,we believethatthe
planshenefitsareat leastactuariallyequivalentto the Medicarebenefits.

FortheyearendedDecembeB1,2013,we changedheway we providehealthcardenefitsto our UMWA retireeswho areeligible for the
MedicareAct subsidyreimbursementWe changedrom a selfinsuredwelfarebenefitplanto anemployergroupwaiverplan( i EGWP 0 ) .
Underthis newarrangementa governmengapprovechealthinsuranceproviderwill receivethe MedicareAct subsidyreimbursemenon our
behalfandpasshesesavingsto us. Additionally, by movingto anEGWP,we will beableto benefitfrom the mandatory50%discountthat
pharmaceuticatompaniesnustprovidefor MedicareAct-eligible prescriptiondrugs. The combinedsavingsof the subsidyandthe 50%
discountwererecognizedn othercomprehensivencome(loss)in 2013asprior servicecredit,reducingthe UMWA APBO.

ExciseTaxon Administratorsby PatientProtectionand AffordableCare Act of 2010

A 40%excisetax on third-party benefitplan administratordy the PatientProtectionand AffordableCare Act will beimposedon high-cost
healthplans( i C a dil lalhaginningin 2018. We arecurrentlyunableto reducethe benefitlevelsof our UMWA medicalplansto avoid
this excisetax because¢hesebenefitlevelsarerequiredby the CoalIndustryRetireeHealthBenefitAct of 1992. We haveassumedhatthe
costof the excisetax paid by administratorsvill be passedhroughto usin theform of higherpremiumsor higherclaimsadministratiorfees,
increasingour obligations. We projectthatwe will haveto paythe benefitsplanadministratotthis excisetax beginningin 2018,andour plan
obligationsat DecembeB1, 2014,include$24.8million relatedto this tax ($22.9million atDecembeB31, 2013).

CashFlows

EstimatedContributionsfrom the Companyto Plan Assets

Basedon thefundedstatusandassumptionsit Decembef31, 2014,we expectthe Companyto contribute$6.3million in cashto theplansto
pay2015beneficiarypaymentdor blacklung andotherplans. We do not expectto contributecashto our UMWA plansin 2015sincewe
believetheseplanshavesufficientamountsheldin trustto payfor beneficiarypaymentauntil 2032basedon actuarialassumptionsOur
UMWA plansarenot coveredby ERISA or otherfundinglawsor regulationghatrequiretheseplansto meetfundingratios.

Estimatedruture BenefitPaymentgrom Plan Assetgo Beneficiaries
Projectedbenefitpaymentof the plansin the next 10 yearsusingassumptionin effectat DecembeB1,2014 areasfollows:

(In millions) UMWA Plans Black Lung and Other Plan: Total

2015 $ 30.4 6.3 36.7
2016 30.2 5.9 36.1
2017 30.3 5.6 35.9
2018 32.2 52 37.4
2019 31.7 4.9 36.6
2020 through 2024 143.6 20.0 163.6
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Retirement Plan Assets
U.S.Plans

December 31, 2014

December 31, 2013

Fair % % % %
Value Total Fair Actual Target Total Fair Actual Target

(In millions, except for percentages) Level Value Allocation Allocation Value Allocation Allocation
U.S. Pension Plans
Cash, cash equivalents and receivables $ 4.1 1 - 3.8 - -
Equity securities:

U.S. largecag® 1 93.1 12 12 132.1 16 16

U.S. small/midcag?® 1 40.2 5 5 58.6 7 7

Internationd® 1 72.6 9 10 114.4 14 14

Emerging markef 1 13.8 2 2 31.7 4 4

Dynamic asset allocatith 1 337 4 4 50.2 6 6
Fixed-income se;f;)urities:

Long duratio 1 277.6 190.8

Long duratiof” 2 95.7 47 48 65.0 32 32

High yield® 1 15.3 2 2 245 3 3

Emerging market$ 1 14.5 2 2 23.2 3 3
Other types of investments:

Hedge fund of fund® 2 37.9 5 5 37.3 5 5

Core propert§)’ 2 45.0 6 5 40.2 5 5

Structured credit 3 42.8 5 5 40.0 5 5
Total $ 786.3 100 100 811.8 100 100
UMWA Plans
Equity securities:

U.S. largecag® 1 3 58.5 21 21 107.0 38 37

U.S. small/midcag® 1 255 10 9 27.9 10 9

Internationaf 1 49.3 19 18 41.8 15 14

Emerging markef8 1 10.7 4 4 - - -

Dynamic asset allocatiéh 1 20.0 8 7 - - -
Fixedincome securities:

High yield® 1 10.9 4 4 24.1 8 8

Emerging market§ 1 10.4 4 4 10.9 4 4

Multi asset real retufh 1 21.6 8 8 29.3 10 13
Other types of investments:

Hedge fund of fund® 2 14.6 6 3 29.2 10 10

Core propert§)) 2 28.8 11 10 14.2 5 5

Structured credit 3 14.3 5 5 - - -

U.S. Private Equity - - 7 - - -
Total $ 264.6 100 100 284.4 100 100

(@) These categories include passively managed U.S-tagenutual funds and actively managed U.S. smalfaland international mutual funds that trackouss indices
such as the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 2500 Index and the MSCI All Country WelddSEkndex.
(b) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests primaglyitinsecurities of emerging market issuers. Emerging meokeitries are those countries

that are characterized as developing or emerging by any of the World Bank, the United Nations, the International FimeaterCorthe European Bank for Reconstruction

and Development or included in an emerging marketsx by a recognized index provider.
(c) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that seeks to generate total return over time by selectirtg fnoestmeng a broad range of asset classes. The
funddés all ocat i on sheadjostal gversisor metiodscahdecans/aysfronmraultiple to a single asset class.
(d) This category represents actively managed mutual funds that seeks to duplicate the risk and return characteristitsrof fidedncome securities portfolio with an
approximate duration of 10 years and longer by using a long duration bond portfolio, including-isteErestap agreements and Treasury futures contracts, arcbzgmn
securities created by the U.S. Treasury, for the purpose of managing the ovetadhdofrthis fund.
(e) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests primarily iiméi@ew securities rated below investment grade, including corporate bonds and
debentures, convertible and preferred securities anecpeqmon obly at i ons .
® This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests primarily-dollaBdenominated debt securities of government, governnedated andorporate
issuers in emerging market countries, as well as entities organized to restructure the outstanding debt of such issuers.
(9) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests in ditsigetund investments. The fund holdspoximately 40 separate hedfymd investments.
Strategies included (1) lorghort equity, (2) everdriven and distressedebt, (3) global macro, (4) credit hedging, (5) msttategy, and (6) fixethcome arbitrage. Its
investment objective is to deé achieve an attractive risidjusted return with moderate volatility and moderate directional market exposure over a full market cycle.

(h) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that seeks both current incometenul keqgjtal appreation through investing in underlying funds that acquire,

The

fundos

aver age

wei ghted

maturity

manage, and dispose of commercial real estate properties. These propertiesgualttighow-leveraged, incomegenerating office, industrial, retail, and m«faimily
properties, generally flyl-leased to creditworthy companies and governmental entities.

(i) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests primarily in a diversified portfolio compriseyl gfriznaiteralized loan obligations and other
structured credit inestments backed primarily by bank loans.
0) This category represents an actively managed mutual fund that invests primarily in fixed income and equity securitiesaity dimked instruments. The category seeks

total returns that exceed the rate of inélatover a full market cycle regardless of market conditions
(k) This category will offer exposure to a diversified pool of global private assets fund investments. Further, the categelytewishorten the duration of the typical private

assets fund ofuinds through a dedicated focus on secondaries strategies (i.e. funds whose investment strategy is to purchase mengstaie otarket investments/funds
i nv ensdsodr sc ol nitqruai cdti etpyodepimgiineesanentstrate diesnecgonimle, real
estate, and to a lesser extent, real assets), and underlying funds whose stated life is five to seven years, as epposedyoichl 1§ear life of private assetsrds.
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